NEW ISSUE RATINGS: Moody’s ..ovvvvvnnnnnnnn. Aaa

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY Standard & Poor’s...... AAA
Fitch.................o00 AAA
(See “RATINGS” herein)

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing compliance with certain tax
covenants described herein, interest on the Bonds (i) is excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103
of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and (ii) is not treated as a preference item in calculating the alternative
minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations under the Code; such interest, however, is included in the adjusted current eamings of
certain corporations for purposes of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations. (See “TAX EXEMPTION”
herein for a description of certain other provisions of law which may affect the federal tax treatment of interest on the Bonds.) In addition. in
the opinion of Bond Counsel, under the existing laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, such interest is not includable in computing the
Virginia income tax.

$107,545,000
HENRICO COUNTY, VIRGINIA
GENERAL OBLIGATION PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT AND
GENERAL OBLIGATION PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2003

Dated: January 15, 2003 Due: As Shown On the Inside Cover Hereof

Henrico County, Virginia’s (the “County") General Obligation Public Improvement and General Obligation Public Improvement
Refunding Bonds, Series 2003 (the “Bonds™) in the aggregate principal amount of $107,545,000 will be issued as fully registered bonds,
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC"), which will act as
securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be available to purchasers in the denomination of $5,000, or any integral multiple
thereof, under the book-entry-only system maintained by DTC through brokers and dealers who are, or act through, DTC participants.
PURCHASERS WILL NOT RECEIVE DELIVERY OF THE BONDS. FOR SO LONG AS ANY PURCHASER IS THE BENEFICIAL
OWNER OF A BOND, SUCH PURCHASER MUST MAINTAIN AN ACCOUNT WITH A BROKER OR DEALER WHO IS, OR ACTS
THROUGH, A DTC PARTICIPANT TO RECEIVE PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON SUCH BOND. The book-
entry-only system of registration of the Bonds is described in “Appendix D -Book-Entry-Only System” herein. The Bonds mature on
January 15 and July 15 in each of the years 2004 through 2013, both inclusive, and January 15 in each of the years 2014 through 2023, both
inclusive, in such amounts and having such assigned CUSIP numbers as set forth on the inside cover hereof. Interest on the Bonds is payable
semi-annually at the rates as shown on the inside cover hereof commencing on July 15, 2003 and on each January 15 and July 15, thereafter.
Interest on the Bonds will be calculated on the basis of a 30 day month and a 360 day year. The Director of Finance of the County is the
Registrar and Paying Agent for the Bonds.

The Bonds are subject to optional redemption prior to their stated maturities as described herein.

The Bonds will be general obligations of the County and the full faith and credit of the County will be irrevocably pledged to the
punctual payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds as the same become due. The Board of Supervisors of
the County is authorized and required to levy and collect annually, at the same time and in the same manner as other taxes of the County are
assessed, levied and collected, a tax upon all taxable property within the County. over and above all other taxes. authorized or limited by law
and without limitation as to rate or amount, sufficient to pay when due the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds as the
same become due and payable to the extent other funds of the County are not lawfully available and appropriated for such purpose.

Electronic bids for the Bonds were received by the County on January 14, 2003. The Bonds are offered for delivery when, as
and if issued, subject to the approving opinion of Hawkins, Delafield & Wood, New York, New York, Bond Counsel. It is
expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery through the facilities of DTC
in New York, New York on or about February 6, 2003.

Dated: January 14, 2003



MATURITIES, PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES, PRICES AND CUSIPS

Principal Interest CUSIP
Date Amount Rate Price Numbers

January 15, 2004 $8,245,000  3.000% 101.748% 426056 RG4

July 15, 2004 1,075,000  2.000 100.895 426056 RH2
January 15, 2005 8,335,000  3.000 102.898 426056 RJ§
July 15, 2005 1,875,000  2.000 101.555 426056 RK5
January 15, 2006 9,250,000  4.500 107910 426056 RL3
July 15, 2006 1,835,000 2.500 102.561 426056 RM1
January 15, 2007 7,985,000 2.625 101.899 426056 RN9
July 15, 2007 1,795,000  2.500 101.602 426056 RP4
January 15, 2008 7,765,000  5.000 111.158 426056 RQ2
July 15, 2008 1,755,000  2.500 99.595 426056 RRO
January 15, 2009 7,675,000  5.000 110.981 426056 RS8
July 15, 2009 1,720,000  3.000 100.173 426056 RT6
January 15, 2010 5,790,000  5.000 110.795 426056 RU3
July 15,2010 1,690,000  3.250 100.000 426056 RV1
January 15, 2011 5,730,000  5.000 110.465 426056 RW9
July 15,2011 1,660,000  3.500 100.143 426056 RX7
January 15, 2012 2,510,000  5.000 110.218 426056 RY5
July 15,2012 1,635,000  3.500 98.809 426056 RZ2
January 15, 2013 2,510,000  5.000 109.943 426056 SA6
July 15, 2013 1,610,000  3.750 99.655 426056 SB4
January 15, 2014 2,510,000  4.000 100.569* 426056 SC2
January 15, 2015 2,510,000  4.000 99.528 426056 SDO
January 15, 2016 2,510,000  4.000 98.310 426056 SE8
January 15, 2017 2,510,000  4.250 99.789 426056 SF5
January 15, 2018 2,510,000 4.250 98.799 426056 SG3
January 15, 2019 2,510,000 4.375 99.147 426056 SH1
January 15, 2020 2,510,000  4.500 99.645 426056 SJ7
January 15, 2021 2,510,000 4.500 98.664 426056 SK4
January 15, 2022 2,510,000 4.700 100.075* 426056 SL2
January 15, 2023 2,510,000  4.750 100.000 426056 SMO

(Accrued interest from January 15, 2003 to be added) .

*Priced to par call on January 15, 2013.
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The Bonds will be exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as obligations of a
political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia. The Bonds will also be exempt from registration under the
securities laws of Virginia.

No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized to give any information or to
make any representations, other than those contained in this Official Statement, and if given or made, such other
information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the County or the successful
bidder for the Bonds. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy,
nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person, in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to
make such offer, solicitation or sale.

The information set forth in this Official Statement has been obtained from the County and other
sources that are deemed reliable, but it is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be
construed as a representation of, the successful bidder for the Bonds. The information in this Official Statement
speaks as of its date except where specifically noted otherwise and is subject to change without notice. The delivery
of this Official Statement, any sale made under it or any filing or other use of it will not, under any circumstances,
create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the County since the date of this Official
Statement or imply that any information in this Official Statement is accurate or complete as of any later date. This
Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between either the County and the purchasers or
owners of any of the Bonds.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
of
HENRICO COUNTY, VIRGINIA
relating to its
$107,545,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT AND
GENERAL OBLIGATION PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2003

INTRODUCTION

This Official Statement, which includes the cover page and appendices, is to provide information
in connection with the issuance by Henrico County, Virginia (the “County™), a political subdivision of the
Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Commonwealth™), of its General Obligation Public Improvement and General
Obligation Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2003, in the aggregate principal amount of $107,545,000.
The Bonds will be general obligations of the County to the payment of which the full faith and credit of the County
are irrevocably pledged. This Official Statement has been approved and authorized by the County for use in
connection with the issuance and sale of the Bonds. Financial and other information contained in this Official
Statement have been prepared by the County from its records, except where other sources are noted. The
information is not intended to indicate future or continuing trends in the financial or economic status of the County.
This Official Statement should be read in its entirety.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS

Authorization

The Bonds are to be issued to finance capital improvements in the County and to refund certain
outstanding bonds of the County. The Bonds to be issued to finance capital improvements in the County were
approved by the voters of the County at an election held in the County on November 7, 2000, and were authorized to
be issued by a resolution duly adopted by the Board of Supervisors of the County on November 26, 2002, and
pursuant to the Public Finance Act of 1991, being Chapter 26, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the
“Act”). The Bonds to be issued to refund certain outstanding Bonds of the County were authorized to be issued by a
resolution duly adopted by said Board on November 12, 2002, and the aforementioned resolution duly adopted by
said Board on November 26, 2002 (collectively, the “Resolution™) and pursuant to the Act.

General

The full faith and credit of the County are irrevocably pledged to the payment of the Bonds. The
Bonds are dated January 15, 2003, payable in semi-annual installments on January 15 and July 15 in each of the
years 2004 through 2013, both inclusive, and in annual instaliments on January 15 in each of the years 2014 through
2023, both inclusive and in such amounts all as set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement and bear
interest at the rates set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement, payable semi-annually January 15
and July 15, commencing July 15, 2003. The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their stated maturities at the
option of the County. See “Redemption of the Bonds.”

The principal of and redemption premium, if any, on the Bonds shall be payable at the office of
the Director of Finance of the County, the Registrar and Paying Agent (the “Paying Agent”), upon the presentation
and surrender of the Bonds as the same shall become due and payable.

So long as the Bonds are held by DTC, the principal of, interest and premium, if any, on the Bonds
will be payable by wire transfer to DTC which, in turn, is required to remit such principal, interest and premium, if
any, to the DTC Participants for subsequent disbursement to the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds, as more fully
described in Appendix D to this Official Statement.

The Bonds will be issued as registered bonds, in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples
thereof, initially in book-entry form only in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee fqr DTC. Individual purchases of



beneficial ownership in the Bonds will be made in principal amounts of $5,000 and multiples thereof. Individual
purchasers of beneficial ownership interest in the Bonds (the “Beneficial Owners”) will not receive physical delivery
of bond certificates. If the book-entry system is discontinued, bond certificates will be delivered as described in the
Resolution and Beneficial Owners will become registered owners of the Bonds. Registered owners of the Bonds,
whether Cede & Co. or, if the book-entry system is discontinued, the Beneficial Owners, will be defined in this
Official Statement as the “Bondholders”. SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. IS THE SOLE BONDHOLDER, AS
NOMINEE FOR DTC, REFERENCE IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO BONDHOLDERS MEANS
CEDE & CO. AND DOES NOT MEAN THE BENEFICIAL. OWNERS.

Book-Entry-Only System

The book-entry-only system of registration of the Bonds is more fully described in Appendix D to
this Official Statement.

Redemption of the Bonds

The Bonds maturing on or before July 15, 2013 will not be subject to optional redemption before
their respective maturity dates.

The Bonds maturing on or after January 15, 2014 may be redeemed prior to their respective
maturity dates, on or after January 15, 2013, at the option of the County, as a whole or in part at any time at the price
of par together with the interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption.

Notice of any redemption specifying the designation, date and maturity of the Bonds to be
redeemed, the date and place fixed for redemption and the premium, if any, payable upon such redemption shall be
given by first class mail, postage prepaid, not less than 30 days prior to the redemption date, to the registered holder
of the Bonds at such holder’s address as shown on the books of registration kept by the registrar therefor; provided,
however, that any defect in such notice shall not affect the sufficiency of the proceedings for the redemption of such
Bonds. If such notice is given and payment of the Bond is duly made or provided for, interest thereon shall cease
from and after the date so specified for the redemption thereof. Notice of such redemption shall also state that if less
than the entire principal amount of a Bond called for redemption is to be redeemed, such Bond must be surrendered
in exchange for payment of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed and the issuance of a new Bond or Bonds
equaling in principal amount that portion of the principal amount of the surrendered bond not to be redeemed.
During any period that a securities depository, including DTC, is the registered owner of the Bonds, the
County will not be responsible for mailing notices of redemption to Beneficial Owners. See “Appendix D -
Book-Entry Only System.”

CAPITAL PROGRAM AND PURPOSES OF ISSUE

The voters of the County, at an election held in the County on November 7, 2000, approved the
issuance of general obligation bonds of the County, as follows: $170,500,000 for school capital improvement
purposes, acquisition of future schoot sites and such other school construction and improvements as may be required
by the actual educational needs in the County, $28,400,000 for library facilities, $13,600,000 for fire stations,
$16,000,000 for recreation and parks facilities improvements, acquisition of future park sites and such other
recreation and parks construction and improvements as may be required by the actual recreational needs of the
County, and $8,500,000 for various road projects. The County issued $37,110,000 principal amount of Public
Improvement Bonds, Series 2001 on June 14, 2001 for capital school improvement projects in the County and
$27,035,000 principal amount of Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2002 on February 21, 2002 for capital school
improvement projects, library facilities, fire stations, recreation and parks facilities improvements and various road
projects in the County.

$51,789.332 of the proceeds of the Bonds are to be used to finance school capital improvements,
fire stations, recreation and parks facilities improvements and various road projects in the County pursuant to such

.2,



voter authorization. It is anticipated that the County will issue and sell the remaining authorization of such bonds
from time to time over the next four years.

As described in “PLAN OF REFUNDING” below, a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds are to
be used to refund in advance of their stated maturities certain outstanding school bonds of the County and certam
outstanding public improvement refunding bonds of the County.

PLAN OF REFUNDING

Certain of the Bonds are being issued to provide a portion of the moneys required to refund
$16,000,000 principal amount Special Obligation School Financing Bonds Henrico County Series 1993 of the
Virginia Public School Authority, holder of the County’s outstanding School Bonds, Series 1993 which are being
simultaneously refunded (the “Authority Refunded School Bonds”), representing the principal amounts of the
Authority Refunded School Bonds maturing on July 15, 2004 to 2013, both inclusive and $42,085,000 principal
amount of the County’s Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 1993 (the “Refunded 1993 Bonds’),
representing the principal amount of the Refunded 1993 Bonds maturing on January 15, 2004 to 2011, both
inclusive (collectively, the “Refunded Bonds™).

Upon delivery of the Bonds, the County will enter into a Refunding Trust Agreement (the
“Refunding Trust Agreement for the Authority Refunded School Bonds™) with Wachovia Bank, N.A., as Refunding
Trustee (the “Trustee”) and the Virginia Public School Authority. The Refunding Trust Agreement for the
Authority Refunded School Bonds creates an irrevocable Virginia Public School Authority Special Obligation
School Financing Bonds, Henrico County Refunding Trust Fund, which is to be held by the Trustee and is to be
applied solely to the payment of the Authority Refunded School Bonds. The County will deposit a portion of the
proceeds of the Bonds with the Trustee for deposit in such refunding trust fund in an amount which will be invested,
at the direction of the County, in direct, non-callable obligations of the United States of America (“Government
Securities”) maturing in amounts and bearing interest at rates sufficient without reinvestment to pay the redemption
price of the Authority Refunded School Bonds maturing on July 15 in each of the years 2004 through 2013, both
inclusive, which are to be redeemed on July 15, 2003, such redemption price being an amount equal to 102% of the
principal amount of the Authority Refunded School Bonds, together with the interest accrued on the principal
amount to be redeemed to the date fixed for the redemption thereof. The Virginia Public School Authority Special
Obligation School Financing Bonds, Henrico County Refunding Trust Fund, including the interest earnings on the
Government Securities, is pledged solely for the benefit of the holders of the Authority Refunded School Bonds.

Upon delivery of the Bonds, the County will enter into a Refunding Trust Agreement (the
“Refunding Trust Agreement for the Refunded 1993 Bonds™) with the Trustee. The Refunding Trust Agreement for
the Refunded 1993 Bonds creates an irrevocable Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 1993 Refunding
Trust Fund, which is to be held by the Trustee and is to be applied solely to the payment of the Refunded 1993
Bonds. The County will deposit a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds with the Trustee for deposit in such
refunding trust fund in an amount which will be invested, at the direction of the County, in Government Securities
maturing in amounts and bearing interest at rates sufficient without reinvestment to pay the redemption price of the
Refunded 1993 Bonds maturing on January 15 in each of the years 2004 through 2011, both inclusive, which are to
be redeemed on March 13, 2003, such redemption price being an amount equal to 102% of the principal amount of
the Refunded 1993 Bonds, together with the interest accrued on the principal amount to be redeemed to the date
fixed for the redemption thereof. The Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 1993 Refunding Trust Fund for
the Refunded 1993 Bonds, including the interest earnings on the Government Securities, is pledged solely for the
benefit of the holders of the Refunded 1993 Bonds.



SECURITY FOR THE BONDS

The Bonds will be general obligations of the County and the full faith and credit of the County
will be irrevocably pledged to the punctual payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the
Bonds as the same become due. The Board of Supervisors of the County is authorized and required to levy and
collect annually, at the same time and in the same manner as other taxes of the County are assessed, levied and
collected, a tax upon all taxable property within the County, over and above all other taxes, authorized or limited by
law and without limitation as to rate or amount, sufficient to pay when due the principal of and premium, if any, and
interest on the Bonds as the same become due and payable to the extent other funds of the County are not lawfully
available and appropriated for such purpose.

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The following table summarizes the Sources and Uses of the Bonds to the purposes of issuance described above:

Sources:
Principal amount of the Bonds............cocoeveeevenennrccnninecns $107,545,000.00
Original Issue Premium.........ccooooviviciiiinnnniicnninininncnn, 4,659,252.25
ACCTUEd INETESt ..oovveieeiieeeiieeeccie e e et es e s e aee s 249.991.22
TOtAl SOUICES ..eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e tsssnneeesrasseesnessanens $112,454.243.47
Uses:
Deposit to Refunding Trust Funds .........cccoeeeinviiiinnninnnen. $59,880,400.00
Deposit to Projects Fund...........ccoooiiiiniiiriiee 51,789,332.00
Accrued Interest ... ...cccoovviiieiiieciee et 249,991.22
Issuance Expenses' 208,658.90
Underwriters’ DiSCOUNt.......cciieeieeeiieceiteeeieerecreeeeereeeeeninens 325.861.35
TOtAl USES ...ttt e e e s s saae e e et e $112,454,243.47

Includes cost of issuance and contingency.



ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

The following table sets forth for each Fiscal Year ending June 30 the amounts payable as
principal of and interest on the County’s outstanding general obligation bonds, following the issuance of the Bonds.

Debt Service on the Bonds

Bond Year Debt Service on Total
Ending June 30 OQutstanding Bonds** Principal Interest Total Debt Service
2003 $ 26,457,385 $ 26,457,385
2004 15,218,959 $ 8,245,000 $ 4,285,564 $ 12,530,564 27,749,523
2005 13,213,333 9,410,000 4,027,464 13,437,464 26,650,797
2006 12,856,397 11,125,000 3,747,914 14,872,914 27,729,311
2007 12,444,071 9,820,000 3,289,976 13,109,976 25,554,047
2008 11,809,278 9,560,000 3,034,995 12,594,995 24,404,273
2009 11,475,314 9,430,000 2,602,370 12,032,370 23,507,684
2010 11,137,468 7,510,000 2,170,883 9,680,883 20,818,351
2011 10,794,533 7,420,000 1,828,120 9,248,120 20,042,653
2012 10,453,917 4,170,000 1,485,108 5,655,108 16,109,025
2013 10,110,517 4,145,000 1,301,945 5,446,945 15,557,462
2014 9,764,578 4,120,000 1,117,645 5,237,645 15,002,223
2015 9,413,199 2,510,000 987,058 3,497,058 12,910,257
2016 9,048,146 2,510,000 886,658 3,396,658 12,444,804
2017 8,669,877 2,510,000 786,258 3,296,258 11,966,135
2018 6,814,510 2,510,000 679,583 3,189,583 10,004,093
2019 6,520,549 2,510,000 572,908 3,082,908 9,603,457
2020 6,225,474 2,510,000 463,095 2,973,095 9,198,569
2021 4,192,030 2,510,000 350,145 2,860,145 7,052,175
2022 1,396,500 2,510,000 237,195 2,747,195 4,143,695
2023 2.510,000 119.225 2,629.225 2,629.225
Total $208,016,035 $107,545,000 $33,974,105 $141,519,105 $349,535,140

* Totals may not add due to rounding
** Does not include debt service on bonds refunded by the Bonds

THE COUNTY

Set forth in this section is certain information, including economic and demographic information,
with respect to the County.

General

The County is situated in central Virginia and surrounds the City of Richmond (the “City” or
*“Richmond”) on the north side of the James River. Although much of the County’s 244.06 square miles consists of
highly developed urban and suburban areas, there is also a considerable amount of undeveloped agricultural and
forest land. In Virginia, cities and counties are distinct units of government and do not overlap. Thus, the County is
responsible for providing all local government services to its residents. Population of the County is currently
estimated to be 276,876 for 2002 and is expected to continue to grow in the foreseeable future.



Form of Government

The County is governed by a five-member Board of Supervisors which establishes policies for the
administration of the County. Each member of the Board of Supervisors is elected by the voters of the magisterial
district in which such member resides. The Chairman of the Board of Supervisors is elected annually by the
members. Members of the Board of Supervisors serve four-year terms. ‘

The County elected in 1934 to organize under the County Manager Form of Government (as
defined under Virginia law). Under this form of government, the Board of Supervisors appoints a County Manager
to serve as the chief executive officer of the County. The County Manager serves at the pleasure of the Board of
Supervisors, implements its policies, appoints department heads, and directs business and administrative procedures.
Also under the County Manager Form of Government, a County Code and modern zoning ordinances are
administered and enforced.

Elected Officials

David A. Kaechele, Chairman, was elected from the Three Chopt Magisterial District in
November of 1979 and was re-elected in 1983, 1987, 1991, 1995 and 1999. Mr. Kaechele is a graduate of Michigan
State University and was a Senior Development Engineer at Reynolds Metals Company prior to his retirement in
April 1993.

Patricia S. O’Bannon, Vice-Chairman, was elected from the Tuckahoe Magisterial District in 1995
and re-elected in 1999. Ms. O’Bannon is a graduate of Virginia Commonwealth University in Richmond. She was
formerly an English teacher in the Henrico County school systemn and an editor of a local newspaper.

James B. Donati, Jr. was elected from the Varina Magisterial District in November of 1991 and
re-elected in 1995 and 1999. Mr. Donati received his education from Virginia Commonwealth University, and is the
owner of a landscape contracting business.

Richard W. Glover was elected from the Brookland Magisterial District in November of 1987, and
was re-elected in 1991, 1995 and 1999. Mr. Glover received his education from Virginia Commonwealth University
and J. Sargent Reynolds Community College, and is a retired marketing consultant.

Frank J. Thornton was elected to the Board of Supervisors in 1995 and re-elected in 1999 to
represent the Fairfield Magisterial District. Mr. Thornton is a graduate of Virginia Union University in Richmond
and The American University, Washington, D.C. He is employed as a professor of French at Virginia Union
University.

Certain County Staff Members

Virgil R. Hazelett, P.E., was appointed County Manager on January 14, 1992. He previously
served the County as Deputy County Manager for Administration/Chief of Staff, Deputy County Manager for
Community Development, County Engineer/Director of Public Works, Deputy Director of Public Works, and
Traffic Engineer. Prior to coming to the County in 1972, he received a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering from
West Virginia Institute of Technology and a Master’s degree in Civil Engineering from West Virginia University,
and held engineering positions in High Point, North Carolina, and West Virginia.

Leon T. Johnson was appointed Deputy County Manager for Administration in 1995. Prior to his
appointment he was employed by the City of Suffolk, Virginia, where he served as Director of Finance and
Assistant City Manager. Mr. Johnson’s educational achievements include a Bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration and a Master’s degree in Public Administration, both from Old Dominion University in Norfolk,
Virginia.



Harvey L. Hinson, whose experience with Henrico County covers over 37 years, was appointed
Deputy County Manager for Community Development in March 1992. Prior to his appointment, he served as the
Assistant Director of Planning for two years and has held various positions in both the County’s Planning Office and
the Department of Public Works. Mr. Hinson holds a Bachelor’s degree in Urban Studies, a Master’s degree in
Urban and Regional Planning, and a Certificate in Civil Engineering Technology, all from Virginia Commonwealth
University.

Robert K. Pinkerton was appointed Deputy County Manager for Community Operations in
December 1994. He previously served Henrico County in the Department of Public Works where he was Director
from 1990 until his appointment as Deputy County Manager in 1994. Prior to his work in Henrico County,
Mr. Pinkerton worked as an engineer in the City of Richmond, Department of Public Works. Mr. Pinkerton
received a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering from the Virginia Military Institute and a Masters of Business
Administration from Virginia Commonwealth University.

George T. Drumwright, Jr. was appointed Deputy County Manager for Community Services in
1995. He previously has served the County as the Deputy County Manager for Administration, as the Deputy
County Manager for Human Services, and as an Administrative Assistant to the County Manager for Human
Resources. Prior to coming to the County in 1977, Mr. Drumwright worked as an Administrative Analyst to the
City Manager in the City of Norfolk. Mr. Drumwright holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from
Old Dominion University and a Master’s degree in Public Administration from The American University.

Angela N. Harper, AICP, was appointed Deputy County Manager for Special Services in
September 1997. She began her career with Henrico in 1971 in the Planning Office and was the Director from 1990
until her promotion. Ms. Harper holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in political science from Memphis State University
and Masters of Planning and Urban Design from the University of Virginia. She is the past president of the Virginia
Chapter of the American Planning association and a past at-large member of the national board of the American
Planning Association. On January 5, 1999, she received the Local Official of the Year Award for Region A from
the National Association of Home Builders.

Joseph P. Rapisarda, Jr., Esquire, County Attorney, was appointed in 1982. He served as an
Assistant County Attorney for Henrico County for five years before being appointed County Attorney. Prior to his
service with Henrico County, he served for two years as an associate attorney with May, Miller & Parsons. He is a
graduate of the University of Virginia Law School. Mr. Rapisarda is a current member and past president of the
Local Government Attorneys of Virginia and the Henrico County Bar Association. He is also 2 member of the
Professionalism Faculty of the Virginia State Bar.

Reta R. Busher was appointed Director of Finance on April 10, 2002. She previously has served
the County as the Deputy Director of Finance since 1999 and as Director of the Office of Management and Budget
from 1993 to 1999. Prior to her work with Henrico County, Ms. Busher served Roanoke County, Virginia as
Director of the Office of Management and Budget and as Assistant Staff and Senior Accountant for Peat, Marwick,
Mitchell & Company Ms. Busher holds a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from the College of William and Mary
and is a Certified Public Accountant.

Certain Financial Procedures

Annual Financial Statements. The County’s general purpose financial statements have been
audited and reported on by independent certified public accountants for over 25 fiscal years. The County’s general
purpose financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2002, included in this Official Statement in
Appendix A, have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their report appearing
herein. The County has been awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting by the
Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada for its annual financial statements each
year since the fiscal year ended June 30, 1982. The Certificate of Achievement is awarded annually for excellence,
clarity and comprehensiveness in financial reporting.



The County’s comprehensive annual financial report is available for inspection at the office of the
Director of Finance, County of Henrico, Parham and Hungary Spring Roads, Post Office Box 27032, Richmond,
Virginia 23273.

Description of Funds. The accounts of the County are organized on the basis of funds, each of
which is considered to be a separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for by providing a
separate set of self-balancing accounts which comprise its assets, liabilities, fund balance, revenues and
expenditures. The following is a description of the funds included in the financial records of the County.

General Fund. The General Fund accounts for all revenues and expenditures of the County which
are not accounted for in the other funds. Revenues are primarily derived from general property taxes, local sales
taxes, license and permit fees and revenues received from the Commonwealth. A significant part of the General
Fund’s revenues is used to maintain and operate the general government, which is accounted for in the General
Fund, or is transferred to other funds principally to fund debt service requirements and capital projects.
Expenditures include, among other things, those for general government, education, public safety, highways and
streets, welfare, culture and recreation.

Special Revenue Funds. Special Revenue Funds account for the proceeds of specific revenue
sources that are legally restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. These funds account for the resources
obtained and used relating to State and Federal Grants, Mental Health and Mental Retardation programs, the Utility
Department’s Solid Waste and Street Lighting operations and School Cafeterias.

Enterprise Funds. Enterprise Funds account for operations that are financed in a manner similar
to private business enterprises, where the intent of the County is that the cost of providing services to the general
public be financed or recovered through charges to users of such services. These Funds account for the operation,
maintenance and construction of the County-owned water and sewer system (considered a single segment for
financial reporting purposes) and the operation of a County-owned golf course.

Debt Service Fund. This fund accounts for the accumulation of financial resources for the payment
of interest and principal on all long-term debt other than that accounted for in Enterprise Funds. Debt Service Fund
resources are derived from transfers from the General Fund and Special Revenue Funds.

Internal Service Fund. An Internal Service Fund accounts for the financing of goods or services
provided by one department to other departments of the government on a cost-reimbursement basis. The Internal
Service Fund accounts for the County’s Central Automotive Maintenance operations and the Technology
Replacement Fund. Resources for these funds come from interdepartmental charges.

Agency Funds. Agency Funds account for fiduciary funds administered by the County, are
custodial in nature, and do not involve measurement of results of operations.

Capital Projects Fund. The Capital Projects Fund accounts for all capital projects other than those
accounted for within Enterprise Funds.

Budgetary Procedure

Virginia law requires the County to maintain a balanced budget in each fiscal year. The County
lacks legal authority to borrow in anticipation of future years’ revenues, except by the issuance of bonds or bond
anticipation notes.

Prior to the beginning of each fiscal year the Board of Supervisors adopts a fiscal plan consisting
of contemplated expenditures and estimated revenues for such fiscal year. On the basis of the approved fiscal plan,
the Board of Supervisors appropriates funds for expenditures and establishes tax rates sufficient to produce the
revenues contemplated in the fiscal plan.



The annual budgeting process for a fiscal year begins early in the second quarter of the previous
fiscal year with the issuance by the County Manager to all department heads and other key officials of the pertinent
guidelines to be observed. Each department or division head will submit all desired personnel change requests and
detailed budget requests.

The County Manager and his staff hold hearings with the various departments and after review
submit a proposed fiscal plan to the Board of Supervisors. The Board of Supervisors also hold hearings with the
departments and, after revisions, authorizes a final budget for publication and public hearing. After the public
hearing, further changes may be made before final adoption, which generally occurs in the month of April,
preceding the start of the fiscal year on July 1.

Appropriations are then made on an annual basis to the various departments, offices and agencies
based on annual requests reviewed by the Department of Finance for conformity with the approved annual plan.

Selected Financial Information

General Fund Revenues and Disbursements. The General Fund is maintained by the County to
account for revenue derived from County-wide ad valorem taxes, other local taxes, licenses, fees, permits, certain
revenue from Federal and State governments, and interest earned on invested cash balances in the General Fund.
General Fund disbursements include the costs of general County government, School Operations, and transfers to
the Debt Service and Capital Projects Funds to pay debt service on the County’s general obligation bonds and for
certain capital improvement projects.

The following is a discussion of the General Fund revenue structure and major classifications of
General Fund disbursements. Following this discussion is a five year summary of General Government revenues,
expenditures and fund balances and a summary of the fiscal plan for fiscal year 2003. Please refer to the County’s
audited financial statements, included in this Official Statement as Appendix A, for a detailed review of General
Fund revenues and expenditures for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002.

Revenues

Property Taxes. An annual ad valorem tax is levied by the County on the assessed value of real
and tangible personal property located within the County as of January 1. The ratio of the assessed value of property
to its appraised value is 100% in the case of real property and varies for the several classes of personal property but
generally is 100%. Both real and personal property taxes are collected on June 5 and December 5. There is no limit
at the present time on the property tax rates which may be established by the County. In the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2002, property taxes (including penalties for late payment of prior years’ taxes) represent approximately
39.1% of total General Fund and School Operating receipts. Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property
as of January 1. Taxes are levied in April and are payable in two installments on June Sth and December 5th. The
County bills and collects its own property taxes. Property taxes levied are recorded as receivables, net of allowance
for estimated uncollectible accounts, to the extent that they are currently due.

In April 1998, the Virginia General Assembly passed the Personal Property Tax Relief Act of
1998. The Act provides for the Commonwealth to reimburse a portion of the tangible Personal Property Tax levied
on personal use cars, motorcycles and trucks. Reimbursement rates are contingent upon the State meeting revenue
projections. If projections are not met, the rates to localities will be frozen at the previous level. The reimbursement
was 12.5% of the tax on the first $20,000 of the value of the qualifying vehicle in tax year 1998. The reimbursement
rate was 27.5% for tax year 1999, and increased to 47.5% for tax year 2000, and 70% for tax years 2001 and 2002.
The reimbursement rate for 2003 and thereafter will be determined by the state annually. For tax year 2002, the
State reimbursement receivable is reflected as a due from other governments and is offset by deferred revenue.
Revenue for the State reimbursement is recorded as non-categorical aid from the State. Localities will continue to
assess and administer the Personal Property Tax program.



Other Local Taxes. The County levies various other local taxes including a 1% sales tax
(collected by the State and remitted to the County), various business, professional and occupational license taxes,
property transfer recordation taxes, motor vehicle and other vehicle taxes. These receipts represent approximately
17.5% of total General Fund and School Operating receipts in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002.

Revenues from the Commonwealth of Virginia. The County is reimbursed by the Commonwealth
of Virginia for a portion of shared expenses including certain expenditures for social services, the Sheriff’s office,
courts, the office of the Commonwealth Attorney and the Clerk of the Circuit Court. Additionally, the County
receives a share of the net profits from the State Alcoholic Beverage Control Board’s liquor sales. The County also
receives a significant amount of State aid in support of public school operations. Revenue from the Commonwealth
of Virginia represents approximately 38.2% of total General Fund and School Operating receipts in the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2002.

Other Revenue. Other sources of revenue account for approximately 5.1% of total General Fund
Revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002. The principal source of other revenue to the General Fund is
interest on investments which, accounts for an estimated 1.6% of General Fund and School Operating Revenue.

Disbursements

Costs of Education. The County pays from the General Fund the costs of operating the public
school system. Federal government and Commonwealth of Virginia funds are credited to the Schools’ revenue
accounts and used exclusively to finance Schools’ operating expenditures. No debt service on School general
obligation bonds is paid from funds from the Federal government or the Commonwealth of Virginia. This
classification represents approximately 53.4% of the total General Fund and School Operating disbursements for
fiscal year ending June 30, 2002.

Costs of General County Government. The County pays from the General Fund the costs of
general County government. These costs include expenditures for public safety (police, fire, etc.), courts,
administration and support, social services, libraries, health, recreation, and street and highway maintenance. This
classification, based on preliminary figures, represents approximately 46.6% of total General Fund and School
Operating disbursements in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002. Included in the costs of general County
government are the transfers to debt service and capital project funds discussed below.

Transfer to Debt Service Funds. The County transfers from the General Fund to the Debt Service
Fund an amount sufficient to pay principal and interest on County general obligation bonds. Transfers to the Debt
Service Fund represent approximately 6.0% of total General Fund and School Operating disbursements in the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2002.

Transfer to Capital Projects Funds. The County transfers from the General Fund to the Capital
Projects Fund moneys to pay the cost of certain capital improvements. The General Fund transfer to the Capital
Projects Fund represents approximately 4.0% of total General Fund disbursements in the fiscal year ended June 30,
2002.
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Summary of General Fund Revenues, Expenditures and Fund Balances

The financial data shown in the following table represents a summary for the five fiscal years ended June
30, 2002, of the County’s General and School Operating Fund revenues, expenditures and fund balances. This
summary has been compiled from the audited financial statements of the County for the five fiscal years ended June
30, 2002. The summary of the financial statements for the five fiscal years ended June 30, 2002, should be read in

connection with those financial statements and notes thereto.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
Revenues:
General Property Taxes $198,413,167 $209,582,693  $211,261,491 $217,144,579 $226,258,366
Other Local Taxes 82,346,015 90,182,828 95,457,377 102,029,232 101,467,945
Permits, Privilege Fees & Regulatory

Licenses 3,880,549 3,641,252 3,778,235 4,305,060 3,882,240
Fines & Forfeitures 1,686,419 1,886,104 1,711,050 1,836,373 1,875,895
Revenues from Use of Money &

Property 11,309,659 11,457,314 13,059,453 17,389,364 9,330,829
Charges for Services 7,176,083 7,757,297 8,077,442 8,558,536 9,259,037
Miscellaneous 2,078,027 650,333 1,666,157 2,234,802 1,804,142
Recovered Costs 2,744 486 2,509,360 2,771,970 3,339,226 3,400,421
Intergovernmental 140,347,260 163,632,261 185915214 213,717.174 220,960,895

Total Revenues $449,981,665 $491,299,442  $523,704,389 $570,554,346 $578,239,770
Expenditures:
General Govt. Admin. $ 34,276,487 $ 37,823,223 $ 40,938,259 $ 45,164,227 $ 46,745,434
Judicial Admin. 3,991,082 4,066,901 4,650,409 4,744,015 4,899,826
Public Safety 84,663,860 85,589,321 93,548,744 100,566,776 103,380,580
Public Works 16,971,437 21,295,843 22,688,817 29,622,698 28,957,949
Health & Welfare 10,896,142 13,975,286 14,528,851 15,659,444 16,596,536
Education 206,307,962 220,746,535 238,913,758 253,212,280 278,728,620
Parks, Recreation & Cultural 14,533,112 15,491,606 16,924,941 18,445,377 18,649,111
Community Development 9,642,383 10,053,370 11,696,376 12,848,134 13,813,452
Miscellaneous 3,521,937 3,508,599 4,430,057 6,020,503 5,882,900
Debt Service Principal Retirement 838,632 848,133 687,272 694,568 4,011,831
Debt Service Interest 236,610 194,563 148,155 190970 297,628

Total Expenditures $385.879.644 $413,593.380  $449,155,639 $487,168,992 $521.963.867
Excess of Revenue over Expenditures $ 64,102,021 $ 77,706,062  $ 74,548,750 $ 83,385,354 $ 56,275,903
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Issuance of Cap. Lease Obligation $ 65,842 $ 907376 $ 502,831 $ 627,846 $ 20,455,774
Operating Transfers In 2,621 802,834

To Debt Service Fund (24,544,769) (28,892,561) (31,800,559) (29,283,848) (34,140,925)

To Capital Project Fund (28,495,038) (31,975,134) (15,417,121) (19,973,545) (22,980,206)

To Other Funds (11,514,248) (9,832,808) (11,311,003) (12,081,564) (13,382,712)

Total Other Financing Sources
(Uses) $(64.485,592) $(68,990293)  $(58,025,852) $(60.711.111) $ (50.048.069)
Excess (deficiency) Revenue & Other
Sources Over Expend. & Other Uses $ (383571) $ 8715769  $16,522,898 $ 22,674,243 $ 6,227,834
Fund Balance, July 1 68,612,716 68,229,145 75,704,849 89,878,766 112,553,009
Residual Equity Transfers 0 (1,240,065) (2,348,981) 0 0
Fund Balance, June 30 $ 68,229,145 $ 75,704,849 $89,878,766 $112,553,009 $118,780,843
Analysis of Fund Balance
Fund Balances:
Reserved & Designated $33,697,536 $ 31,557,452 $31,927,933 $ 36,859,796 $ 32,927,790
Undesignated 34,531,609 44,147,397 57.950.833 75693213 85,853.053
TOTAL $68,229,145 $ 75,704,849 $89,878,766 $112,553,009 $118,780,843
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Summary of Annual Fiscal Plan for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2003

The County’s Fiscal Plan for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2003, reflects a growing tax base, a
healthy local economy, and a continuing commitment to provide increased quality services and facilities for a
growing population. While projected revenues continue to increase, actual receipts are being closely monitored.
Real Property taxes are projected to increase a moderate 6.9% over the previous fiscal year. Personal Property taxes
are projected to increase 4.5%. These increases are realistic and should be met because they anticipate moderate but
continued growth. Expenditure increases include a 4.0% merit and wage adjustment increase for both school and
general government employees.

The County anticipates an increase in the General Fund budget for fiscal year 2003 of 6.0%.
Anticipated increases in revenues will provide ample resources to provide continued levels of quality service for the
citizens of Henrico County.

As set forth in the Annual Fiscal Plan, anticipated General Fund revenues, expenditures and
transfers are summarized below for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2003:

Revenues and Transfers Expenditures
General property taxes $266,465,700 General government administration $40,398,738
Other local taxes 101,659,900 Financial Administration 9,947,336
Revenue from use of money and Public safety 106,100,080
property 14,008,300 Public works 22,748,624
Intergovernmental revenue 191,220,400 Health and welfare 16,915,251
Permits, fees & licenses 4,049,700 Education 283,866,755
Fines and forfeitures 2,569,000 Parks, recreation and cultural 20,033,351
Charges for services 8,887,900 Judicial Administration 5,348,883
Miscellaneous 4,845,200 Community development 14,515,854
Transfers to other funds (66,964.452) Miscellaneous 6.866,776
Total Projected Revenues and $526.741.648 Total Budgeted Expenditures $526.741.648
Transfers
Population

The County’s population has increased rapidly since 1960, as shown in the following table:

Calendar Calendar
Year Population Year Population
1960 117,339 1995 239,683
1970 154,364 1996 243,273
1980 179,562 1997 247,832
1990 221,287 1998 254,194
1991 223,729 1999 259,179
1992 226,684 2000 267,031
1993 230,729 2001 271,447
1994 235,229 2002 276,876

Source: Population estimates provided by Henrico County Planning Office.
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Taxable Retail Sales Data

The following table presents the taxable retail sales, number of retail merchants and taxable retail
sales per capita. As in many other metro areas in the Mid-Atlantic region, the County’s taxable retail sales per
capita have steadily increased since 1990. Economic activity in the County has matched the population growth
noted above. The following table also reflects the increasing income levels of its residents and the County’s
increasing importance as a regional commercial and retail center.

Taxable Taxable
Calendar Retail Number of Retail Sales
Year Population” Sales (000) ? Merchants Per Capita
1990 221,287 $2,421,707 3,530 $10,944
1991 223,729 2,256,420 3,532 10,086
1992 226,684 2,405,278 4,221 10,611
1993 230,729 2,653,625 5,169 11,501
1994 235,229 2,757,439 5,164 11,722
1995 239,683 2,977,931 5,292 12,424
1996 243,273 3,104,943 5,288 12,763
1997 247,832 3,359,351 5,396 13,555
1998 254,194 3,571,221 5,418 14,049
1999 259,179 3,829,852 5,514 14,777
2000 267,031 4,054,871 5,475 15,185
2001 271,447 3,902,580 5,617 14,377

Sources: " Population estimates provided by Henrico County Planning Office.
@ Commonwealth of Virginia, Department of Taxation. Data excludes automobile and prescription drug sales.

Construction Activity

Despite the recession in the early 1990’s, the County has experienced steady construction activity
in both the residential and commercial development areas. Selected data are presented below to show construction
activity in the County for the past decade.

Building Permits and Value

Fiscal Total Dwelling Units '  Total Construction Permits
Year Neo. Value No. Value
1992 1,558 $101,191,913 15,538 $241,555,206
1993 1,704 116,876,979 16,502 250,261,760
1994 1,850 145,599,513 17,487 295,629,293
1995 1,670 128,632,424 18,085 327,830,746
1996 1,724 141,923,506 17,936 468,942,405
1997 1,659 147,811,577 19,675 516,388,721
1998 1,815 174,510,589 19,590 577,495,134
1999 2,083 209,258,966 20,336 529,785,425
2000 1,683 172,007,574 18,758 609,571,108
2001 1,641 175,048,202 18,880 672,373,503
2002 1,672 182,444,684 16,409 473,056,295

Source: Department of Building Construction & Inspections, Henrico County.
O Dwelling Unit is defined as a single family residence.
@ Includes all residential and commercial construction.
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Building Construction Permit Values
By Classification

Fiscal Years Ended June 30
(000’s omitted)
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
Single Family $174511 $209,259 $172,007 $175,048 $182,445
Multi-Family 24,489 20,268 2,145 32,039 24,855
Industrial 0 14,131 7,465 6,554 2,966
Office 22,587 26,337 50,419 40,165 40,769
Institutional 4,979 6,046 4,400 675 4,490
Commercial & Etc. 350,929 253.745 373,135 417.893 217.521
Total $577.495 $520.786 $609.571 $672,374 $473.046
Source: Department of Building Construction & Inspections, Henrico County.

Housing

The data in the table below present the characteristics of residential housing in the County. As of
December 31, 2001, single family housing units represented approximately 65% of all residential housing. The
percentage of the housing stock consisting of multifamily units has grown steadily throughout the period presented.

1970 1980 1990 2000 2001
% of % of % of % of % of
Units Housing Units Housing Units Housing Units Housing Units Housing
Single Family 39,050 79% 47,257 67% 56994  63% 73,744 65% 75,103 65%
Multifamily,
Condominiums,
Apartments &
Town Houses 10477 21 23.171 33 35426 37 39297 _35 39,781 35
Total 49,527 100% 70,428 100% 95,420 100% 113,041 100% 114,884 100%

Source: Henrico County Planning Office.

Commerce, Industry and Employment

The County’s economy and its tax base have grown steadily throughout the 1980’s and 1990’s.
The County’s Planning Office has estimated that the County’s 2002 population is approximately 22.1% higher than
it was ten years ago. Retail sales rose over $1.5 billion or 61.1% between 1990 and 2001, according to the Virginia
Department of Taxation. During the period from 1980 through the first quarter of 2002, total non-agricultural
employment in the County increased by 92,347 or 150%. Many major industries have located in the County during
the last decade, including some that expanded or relocated from another part of the metropolitan area. All growth,
whether new, relocated, or expanded, contributed to the increased employment and tax base in the County.

The result of these events has been an increase in Henrico’s capacity to raise revenue and provide
services. Between fiscal years 1992 and 2002, the County’s total General Property tax revenues increased by over
$80.4 million or 55.1%. During the same period, the Personal Property Tax rate remained constant at $3.50 per
$100 assessed value and the real estate tax rate was reduced from $.98 per $100 assessed value to $.94 per $100
assessed value. Moderate industrial and residential growth is expected to continue in the foreseeable future,
particularly in the eastern portion of the County. Thus, the upward trend in revenue growth is expected to continue.

Employment

The following tables illustrate the level of employment, its diversity, and the income of County
residents. Employment in the County is dominated by the non-manufacturing sector and consists primarily of
wholesale, retail, and government employment. Financial and medical services also provide a significant
employment base for County residents. On average, the County is responsible for one-third of the metropolitan
area’s non-manufacturing employment and one-fourth of the manufacturing employment.
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Median Household Income

Calendar Calendar

Year Year

2000 1990
Henrico County $49,185 $35,604
Chesterfield County 58,537 43,604
Commonwealth of Virginia 46,677 35,073
United States 41,944 29,943

Source: Virginia Employment Commission.

Numerous business types are located within the County and offer employment in such diversified
areas as wholesale distribution, contract construction, research and technical manufacturing, marketing and banking.

The following table presents data regarding some of the principal employers in the County.

Major Private, Non-Retail Employers

Approximate
Number

Employers Emplovyed
Capital One 9,000-10,000
Circuit City Stores, Inc. 4,000-5,000
Bank of America 2,000-3,000
Bon Secours (St. Mary’s) 2,000-3,000
Trigon Health Care 2,000-3,000
Henrico Doctors’ Hospital 1,500-2,500
G. E. Financial Assurance 1,100-1,200
Infineon Technologies Richmond 1,000,2,000
Wachovia Bank (First Union) 1,000-2,000
SunTrust Service Corp. 1,000-2,000
Verizon (Bell Atlantic) 1,000-2,000
Carmax 1,000-2,000
Cadmus Communications 1,000-2,000
Southern States Cooperative 700-800
Kraft Foods, Inc. (Nabisco) 700-800
Colonial Mechanical 700-800
Wyeth Ayerst Laboratories 600-700
Dominion Virginia Power 600-700
Ted Lansing 600-700
McKesson HBOC, Inc. (General Medical Corp.) 500-600
Courtyard Management Co. 500-600
First Health Services 500-600
Servicemaster Services, Inc. 500-600
Markel Service Inc. 500-600
Westminister-Canterbury Corporation 400-500

Sources: Economic Development Authority of Henrico County, Virginia, the Virginia Emplo
2001), and Richmond Times Dispatch Top 50 Area Employers List - December 5, 2001.
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Economic Development

A number of large corporations locate their corporate headquarters in Henrico County. Circuit
City Stores, Owens and Minor, and The Pittston Company comprise the Fortune 500 companies that are located
within the County. Southern States Cooperative and Trigon Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Virginia are Fortune 1000
companies that also call Henrico County home. Other large corporate headquarters include GE Financial Assurance,
Hamilton Beach-Proctor Silex, Invensys Controls, and Markel Services Inc. In addition, 63 diverse foreign-based
firms representing 13 countries are currently based in the County.

Six years ago, Infineon Technologies Richmond, a large computer chip manufacturer, chose
Henrico County over numerous locations throughout the world. Infineon Technologies Richmond now employs
more than 1,600 regional residents. In February 1998, Applied Materials, a multi-billion dollar multi-national
corporation, chose to move a facility to Henrico County. In 1999, Hewlett-Packard chose to construct an 800,000
square foot facility which assembles laser jet printers in Henrico County. In 2000, Hewlett-Packard occupied an
additional 640,000 square feet within the White Oak Technology Park for an assembly and distribution facility,
which made Hewlett-Packard’s investment in Henrico County exceed $55.0 million in a two year time frame. Other
technology companies which have recently migrated to Henrico include Alfa Laval, Discovery Therapeutics, Cisco
Systems, West Coast Quartz and Wyeth Ayerst Laboratories.

Tax Base Data

The following data are presented to illustrate trends and characteristics of the assessed value of
real and personal property which are major sources of County-derived revenue. Of Henrico’s $18.24 billion in
taxable real estate, nearly 34% is classified as commercial.

Assessed Value of All Taxable Property

Last Ten Calendar Years
Assessed Value
Public Service Corp."
Assessed Total
Calendar Value Personal Real Personal Assessed

Year Real Estate Property Estate Property Value
1993 $10,652,928,870 $1,368,690,196 $611,423,093 $4,907,184 $12,637,949,343
1994 10,859,535,997 1,491,653,653 673,273,970 4,678,366 13,029,141,986
1995 11,223,741,047 1,783,652,862 665,416,866 4,615,592 13,677,426,367
1996 11,679,268,500 2,048,069,501 663,203,417 4,615,592 14,395,157,010
1997 12,438,859,000 2,146,750,188 721,875,439 5,214,034 15,312,698,661
1998 13,284,448,300 2,411,094,393 730,696,946 4,807,832 16,431,047,471
1999 14,195,583,300 2,609,580,250 735,466,744 4,713,473 17,545,343,767
2000 15,192,653,250 2,749,570,928 782,847,363 5,229,877 18,730,301,418
2001 16,778,229,150 2,853,452,157 827,287,178 5,820,189 20,464,788,674
2002 18,245,823,150 2,859,762,405 851,848,275 4,521,265 21,961,955,095

Source: Henrico County Department of Finance.

M Source: State Corporation Commission.
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Fiscal
Year
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002

Property Tax Rates

Property tax rates are established each year by the Board of Supervisors during the annual budget
process. Property tax rates for the past ten calendar years are as set forth in the table below:

Source: Henrico County Department of Finance.

Tax Rates
(Per $100 of Assessed Value)
Calendar Real Personal Machinery
Year Estate Property and Tools Aircraft

1993 $0.98 $3.50 $1.00 $2.40

1994 0.98 3.50 1.00 2.40

1995 0.98 3.50 1.00 1.60

1996 0.96 3.50 1.00 1.60

1997 0.94 3.50 1.00 1.60

1998 0.94 3.50 1.00 1.60

1999 0.94 3.50 1.00 1.60

2000 0.94 3.50 1.00 1.60

2001 0.94 3.50 1.00 1.60

2002 0.94 3.50 1.00 1.60

Source: Director of Finance, Henrico County.
Property Tax Levies And Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years
Current
Year Collections
Current Percent  Collection of Total as Percent  Outstanding®®
Current Taxes of Prior Taxes of Current Delinquent
Levy Collected Levy Year Taxes Collected Levy Taxes

$154,151,850  $149,519,295 97.0% $2,113,614 $151,632,909 98.4% $11,309,098
161,313,804 158,859,768 98.5 2,228,619 161,088,387 99.9 11,878,559
169,573,470 169,445,926 99.9 2,015,942 171,461,868 101.1 11,979,412
180,291,605 175,796,767 97.5 1,792,386 177,589,153 98.5 13,395,443
181,374,952 182,062,526 100.4 2,219,975 184,282,501 101.6 13,753,926
198,885,854 196,629,230 98.9 1,181,449 197,810,679 99.5 15,310,502
213,104,377 208,625,574 97.9 4,331,072 212,956,646 99.9 17,456,967
229,275,318 223,791,021 97.6 2,368,741 226,159,762 98.6 15,904,301
242,153,271 240,101,152 99.2 1,765,024 241,866,176 99.9 19,879,337
252,230,397 258,347,048 102.4 1,491,398 259,838,446 103.0 16,826,456

Includes $33,890,771 received from the Commonwealth of Virginia pursuant to the Personal Property Tax Relief Act of 1998.

Includes First Half Property Taxes due June 5th
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Vehicle and Business License Receipts

Vehicle Business Vehicle Business
Year Receipts Receipts Year Receipts Receipts
1993 $4,081,959 $16,886,170 1998 $4,917,713 $21,461,298
1994 4,203,378 17,778,781 1999 5,008,137 21,054,310
1995 4,342,034 20,037,113 2000 5,103,630 22,253,067
1996 4,593,998 20,912,128 2001 5.292,185 23,092,646
1997 4,780,795 21,792,075 2002 5,226,643 22,315,226

Source: Henrico County Department of Finance.

Principal Taxpayers
As of June 30, 2002

The following data show the assessed value of the real and personal property of the 10 largest
holders of real property and personal property in the County:

Percentage
of Total
Assessed Assessed
Taxpayer Type of Business Valuation Valuation®
Infineon Technologies Industrial $ 565,741,900 2.576%
Dominion Virginia Power Utility 366,780,913 1.670
Verizon Utility 237,841,254 1.083
Highwood Realty, L.P. Offices & Warehouses 215,779,300 0.983
Liberty Property, L.P. Offices & Warehouses 155,558,300 0.708
Taubman Regency Square 99,446,800 0.453
Assoc. LLC Shopping Center
Circuit City Stores, Inc. Office and Retail 83,178,154 0.379
United Dominion Realty Trust Apartments 80,881,100 0.368
VAC Limited Partnership Apartments 77,746,600 0.354
North Park Associates, L.P. Shopping Center 67.991.900 0.310
Total $1.950.946.221 8.883%

Source: Henrico County Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002.
M Total Real Estate and Personal Property Assessed Valuation for calendar year 2002 was $21,961,955,095.

The assessed value of real and personal property of these large entities in the County represents 8.883% of
the total assessed value of all real property and personal property of $21,961,955,095.

DEBT ADMINISTRATION
Issuance and Authorization of Bonded Indebtedness

Pursuant to the Constitution of Virginia and the Public Finance Act of 1991, Chapter 26, Title 15.2 of the
Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, a county in Virginia is authorized to issue general obligation bonds secured
by a pledge of its full faith and credit. For the payment of such bonds the governing body of a county is required to
levy, if necessary, an ad valorem tax on all property in the county subject to local taxation. Although the issuance of
general obligation bonds by Virginia counties is not subject to any limitation on amount, counties are prohibited
from issuing general obligation bonds unless the issuance of such bonds has been approved by public referendum, or
unless such issuance is for refunding bonds or is through the Virginia Public School Authority, the Literary Fund,
the Virginia Retirement System, or other state agency prescribed by law. Payment of general government and
school bonded indebtedness is provided for in the Debt Service Fund of the County.
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Revenue bonds of a county are payable from revenues of the undertaking and do not require a
referendum thereon. Payment of water and sewer utility revenue bonds is provided for in the County’s Water and
Sewer Revenue Fund.

Payment of lease revenue bonds is subject to the annual appropriation of the Board of Supervisors

of the County.
As of June 30, 2002, the County’s outstanding bonded indebtedness was as follows:

General Obligation Bonds $201,670,000
Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds 153,930,000
Lease Revenue Bonds* 77,040,000
Literary Fund Obligations 1,599.929

Subtotal $434,239,929
Less: Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds 153.930.000

Total Net Debt $280,309.929

*See “Bond Amortization Requirements — Total General Lease Obligations” herein.
Bond Amortization Requirements

Principal and interest payments on the outstanding general obligation bonded indebtedness of the
County as of June 30, 2002 are presented in the following table:

TOTAL GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND SCHOOL BONDS*

Fiscal Year
Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total
2003 $16,480,000 $9,977,385 $26,457,385
2004 15,990,000 9,000,054 24,990,054
2005 15,865,000 8,226,453 24,091,453
2006 15,745,000 7,454,167 23,199,167
2007 14,460,000 6,674,956 21,134,956
2008 14,085,000 5,970,563 20,055,563
2009 13,995,000 5,286,419 19,281,419
2010 12,130,000 4,595,248 16,725,248
2011 12,075,000 3,995,268 16,070,268
2012 8,865,000 3,398,917 12,263,917
2013 8,865,000 2,971,517 11,836,517
2014 8,865,000 2,541,578 11,406,578
2015 7,265,000 2,148,199 9,413,199
2016 7,265,000 1,783,146 9,048,146
2017 7,255,000 1,414,877 8,669,877
2018 5,730,000 1,084,510 6,814,510
2019 5,730,000 790,549 6,520,549
2020 5,730,000 495,474 6,225,474
2021 3,945,000 247,030 4,192,030
2022 1,330,000 66,500 1,396,500
Total** $201,670.000 $78.122.810 $279,792.810

Source: Henrico County Department of Finance.
* Includes debt service on the Refunded Bonds

**Totals may not add due to rounding
21-



Principal and interest payments on outstanding Economic Development Authority leases of the
County as of June 30, 2002 are presented in the following table:

TOTAL GENERAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Fiscal Year
Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total
2003 $ 4,955,000 $ 3,965,223 $ 8,920,223
2004 5,205,000 3,738,178 8,943,178
2005 5,465,000 3,495,662 8,960,662
2006 5,740,000 3,237,470 8,977,470
2007 6,035,000 2,962,768 8,997,768
2008 6,330,000 2,670,270 9,000,270
2009 2,565,000 2,354,540 4,919,540
2010 2,710,000 2,217,397 4,927,397
2011 2,860,000 2,075,545 4,935,545
2012 3,015,000 1,928,382 4,943,382
2013 3,170,000 1,769,973 4,939,973
2014 3,350,000 1,600,608 4,950,608
2015 3,540,000 1,418,507 4,958,507
2016 3,735,000 1,223,023 4,958,023
2017 3,960,000 1,009,656 4,969,656
2018 3,185,000 777,603 3,962,603
2019 2,560,000 586,550 3,146,550
2020 2,720,000 424,850 3,144,850
2021 2,885,000 258,606 3,143,606
2022 3.055.000 87,831 3.142.831
Total $ 77.040.000 $ _37.802.642 $114.842.642

Source: Henrico County Department of Finance.
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Debt Ratios

The following data are presented to show trends in the relationship of the net long-term
indebtedness of the County to the estimated market value of taxable property in the County, its estimated population
and the trend of debt service requirements as a percentage of General Fund and School Operating disbursements. In
addition to General Obligation bonds, net long-term indebtedness includes General Lease Obligations and certain

Literary Fund loans as of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002, bringing the total to $272,737,939.

Net Long-Term Indebtedness Per Capita

Fiscal Year Net Long-Term
Ending June 30 Indebtedness
1993 $169,895,508
1994 157,696,786
1995 213,659,415
1996 259,909,535
1997 278,630,041
1998 257,008,429
1999 275,145,750
2000 246,705,297
2001 266,836,991
2002 272,737,939

Source: Henrico County Department of Finance.

D Al years from Henrico County Planning Office.

Estimated
Population(l)

230,729
235,229
239,683
243,273
247,832
254,194
259,179
267,031
271,447
276,876

Indebtedness

Per Capita

$ 736.34
670.40
891.42

1,068.39
1,124.27
1,011.07
1,061.61
923.88
983.02
985.05

Trend of Net Long-Term Indebtedness as a Percentage of
Assessed Value of Taxable Property

Fiscal Year

Ending June 30

1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002

Source: Henrico County Department of Finance.

Net Long-Term
Indebtedness

$169,895,508
157,696,786
213,659,415
259,909,535
278,630,041
257,008,429
275,145,750
246,705,297
266,836,991
272,737,939
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Assessed Value

$12,637,949,343
13,029,141,986
13,677,426,367
14,395,157,010
15,312,698,661
16,431,047,471
17,545,343,767
18,730,301,418
20,464,788,674
21,961,955,095

Percentage

1.34%
1.21
L.56
1.81
1.82
1.56
1.57
1.32
1.30
1.24



Trend of Debt Service Requirements on General Obligation Bonds as a
Percentage of General Disbursements

Fiscal Year Debt Service
Ending June 30 Rgguirementsm Disbursements'” Percentage
1993 $19,416,075 $341,679,225 5.68%
1994 21,218,130 353,452,200 6.00
1995 21,488,918 378,484,757 5.68
1996 28,296,392 408,178,199 6.93
1997 26,196,712 431,463,235 6.07
1998 31,346,391 468,369,087 6.69
1999 32,678,696 498,059,838 6.56
2000 30,963,749 542,227.420 5.71
2001 31,754,565 584,838,845 5.43
2002 33,833,406 625,648,555 541

Source: Henrico County Department of Finance.
@) Includes interest and other debt service costs.
@ Includes General, Special Revenue, and Debt Service Funds.

Lease Commitments and Contractual Obligations

The County is obligated to make payments under various capital and operating leases for computer
hardware, automotive vehicles, equipment, and the leasing of an office building. In accordance with legal
requirements, all lease obligations are contingent upon the Board of Supervisors appropriating funds for each year’s
payments. Future minimum lease payments under these capital and operating leases for fiscal years ending June 30
are as follows:

Year Amount

2003 $ 16,564,372
2004 15,970,095
2005 15,466,972
2006 11,549,196
Thereafter 79,366.824
Total minimum lease payments $138,917,459
Less amount representing interest 40,082,224
Present value of all future minimum lease payments $ 98835235

The amounts shown above include lease payments due from the County with respect to the
financing of regional jail facilities through the Economic Development Authority of Henrico County, Virginia. See
“Bond Amortization Requirements — Total General Lease Obligations™ herein.

Contingent Liabilities

Richmond Metropolitan Authority. In September 1994, the Richmond Metropolitan Authority (the
“RMA”) issued $2,750,000 of stadium refunding revenue bonds (the “1994 RMA Bonds™) to refund stadium
revenue bonds issued by RMA in 1984 in the original principal amount of $3,810,000 (the “1984 RMA Bonds”).
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The 1984 RMA Bonds, together with $3,400,000 of stadium notes also issued in 1984, were issued to finance the
cost of the acquisition, construction and equipping of a new stadium to replace the then existing Parker Field
structure located in the City. The construction work on the new stadium, named the Diamond, was completed in
April 1985. The Diamond is presently being used primarily for the playing of baseball games by the Richmond
Braves International League AAA farm club. The 1994 RMA Bonds are due in 2005 and are limited obligations of
the RMA secured by certain net revenues to be derived by the RMA from the ownership and operation of the
Diamond, from the operation of certain parking areas adjacent to the Diamond, and from certain funds that may be
appropriated from time to time by the City of Richmond and the Counties of Henrico and Chesterfield pursuant to a
moral obligation contract entered into among the RMA and these localities. If revenues from the operation of the
Diamond and the parking facilities are insufficient to pay the stadium revenue bonds when due and pay the expenses
associated with owning, operating, maintaining and improving the Diamond, the County Manager, and the
administrative heads of other localities, are obligated by the terms of the moral obligation contract related to the
bonds to request an appropriation from their respective governing bodies.

Debt service for the entire amount of the RMA Revenue Bonds is payable during future fiscal years ending June 30
as follows:

Year Principal Interest
2003 $350,000 $55,000
2004 400,000 34,000
2005 400,000 12,000
Total $1.150.000 $101.000

During the fiscal year 2001, the County made contributions of $282,000 to the RMA for its pro
rata portion of the debt service and for capital improvements. The stadium facility had a net operating loss of
$54,753 for the year ended June 30, 2002.

Joint Ventures

Capital Region Airport Commission.  The Capital Region Airport Commission (the
“Commission”) was created in 1975 pursuant to Virginia statute. On January 1, 1976, the County and the City of
Richmond entered into an intergovernmental joint venture for the operation of the Richmond International Airport
(“Airport”) by the Commission. As part of the venture, the City of Richmond conveyed the Airport property to the
Commission, and the Commission in turn agreed to reimbursement of the outstanding debt of the City relating to the
property. The County also made a contribution to the Commission, for a 40 percent interest in the venture. The
Counties of Chesterfield and Hanover became Commission participants in fiscal year 1984 and fiscal year 1986,
respectively.

The Commission is comprised of a fourteen-member board of directors, with four members each
being appointed by the governing bodies of the City of Richmond, the County of Henrico, and the County of
Chesterfield and two members being appointed by the County of Hanover governing body. The Commission
generates its revenues from service charges to users of the Airport facilities to recover the costs of maintaining,
repairing and operating the Airport. Virginia statute requires that the Commission annually submit a budget showing
estimated revenues and expenditures to the governing bodies of the City of Richmond and the three counties for
their approval. After approval of the proposed budget by the governing bodies, if the Commission’s budget contains
estimated expenditures which exceed estimated revenues, then the governing bodies are required to fund the deficit
in proportion to their financial interests in the Commission. If, however, actual revenues are less than estimated
revenues (resulting in a deficit), the City of Richmond and the three counties may, at their discretion, appropriate
funds necessary to fund the deficit. The County has agreed to fund its portion of the deficit, if any.
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The percentage shares of the jurisdictions involved include the following:

City of Richmond 29.27%
County of Henrico 31.44%
County of Chesterfield 30.17%
County of Hanover 9.12%

100.00%

This financial interest is determined by applying the percentage of the total approximate
population of each jurisdiction to the combined total population of all jurisdictions. The above percentages are
based on the final 1990 census figures provided by the Richmond Regional Planning District Commission.

During fiscal year 2002, the Commission’s budget was not formally approved by the County; the
Commission did not receive any significant subsidies from the County; and the County did not receive any funds
from the Commission for repayment of its contribution.

Complete financial statements for the Capital Region Airport Commission can be obtained from
their administrative office at South Airport Drive, Richmond, Virginia 23231.

Greater Richmond Convention Center Authority. The Greater Richmond Convention Center
Authority (the “Convention Authority”), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, was created on
January 9, 1998 pursuant to the Public Recreational Facilities Authorities Act, Chapter 56 of Title 15.2, Code of
Virginia (1950). The political subdivisions participating in the incorporation of the Convention Authority are the
City of Richmond and the Counties of Henrico, Chesterfield and Hanover. The Convention Authority is governed
by a five-member board comprised of the chief administrative officer of each of the four incorporating local
governments and the President/CEO of the Retail Merchants Association of Greater Richmond.

The Convention Authority was created to acquire, finance, expand, renovate, construct, lease,
operate and maintain the facility and grounds of a visitors and convention center or centers including the facility and
grounds currently known as the Richmond Centre. The primary purpose of the Convention Authority is to issue
revenue bonds to finance the expansion of the Richmond Centre facility and to construct access, streetscape, or other
on-site/off-site improvements. Once the expansion is complete, the Convention Authority will have responsibility
for the operation and maintenance of the convention center.

The Convention Authority has issued $158,415,000 in Hotel Tax Revenue Bonds, which are
secured by an 8 percent transient occupancy tax imposed and collected by the localities. The County recorded an
expenditure of $6,599,200 for transient occupancy tax to the Convention Authority during the year ended June 30,
2002.

Complete financial statements for the Convention Authority can be obtained from Chesterfield
County, Accounting Department, Post Office Box 40, Chesterfield, Virginia 23832.

Employee Retirement and Pension Plans

All full-time salaried permanent employees of Henrico County are automatically enrolled in the
Virginia Retirement System (“VRS”), except law enforcement officers, who are enrolled in the Law Enforcement
Officers Retirement System, which is also administered by VRS. Retirement, group insurance coverage, disability
and death benefits are provided under these plans. Professional instructional personnel in the Henrico County School
System are also automatically enrolled in the VRS, but in accordance with Chapter 1, Title 51.1 of the Code of
Virginia, the employer contribution costs are partially borne by the Commonwealth of Virginia.



Capital Improvement Program

The Capital Improvement Program (the “CIP”) represents those infrastructure improvements
needed over the next five years by the County and provides for the orderly and systematic financing and acquisition
of public improvements. In evaluating each of the proposed projects, the CIP process takes into account such
factors as population growth, density, economic development concerns, the County’s fiscal ability, and the desired
service levels.

The amount appropriated for capital projects each year is based on the CIP in effect at the time of
the development of the budget. Recommendations in subsequent CIP’s may result in revisions to the amounts
appropriated for specific projects.

The approved Capital Budget for fiscal year 2003 is $80,111,932. Shown below is a summary of

the approved CIP for fiscal year 2003 and proposed expenditures for the five-year plan in addition to a summary of
projected funding sources:

27-



By Department:
Fund 21 - Capital Projects Fund

CATC
Education
Finance
Fire
General Services
Human Resources
MH/MR
Police
Public Library
Public Utilities-Landfill
Public Works-Drainage
Public Works-GIS
Public Works-Roadway
Recreation

Total Fund 21:

Capital Improvement Program Summary

Fiscal Year 2002-03 through Fiscal Year 2006-07

Fund 51 Enterprise Fund - Public Utilities

Public Utilities - Sewer
Public Utilities - Water
Total Fund 51:

Fund 52 Enterprise Fund -Belmont Golf Course

Recreation/Belmont Goif Course
Total Fund 52:

Grand Total:

By Revenue Source

Fund 21 - Capital Projects Fund

Gas Tax
General Fund
G.O. Bonds - Education
G.O. Bonds - Gen Gov’t
Landfill Revenue
Special Revenue Fund
State Lottery

Total Fund 21:

Enterprise Funds
Total Fund 51:

Other Local Funds
Total Fund 52:

Grand Total:

Approved Requested Requested Requested Requested Requested Total
FY 2002-03 FY 2002-03 FY 2003-04 FY 2004-05 FY 2005-06 FY 2006-07 Five Years
$ 0 $ 4536173 $ 0 3 0 $ 0 S 0 $ 4536,173
49,533,532 51,515,576 12,306,667 18,080,934 49,933,989 32,385,296 164,222,462
1,000,000 1,000,000 0 0 0 0 1,000,000
4,000,000 5,089,783 1,500,000 2,900,000 1,900,000 6.472,765 17,862,548
2,163,000 11,033,176 11,205,430 30,715,632 13,095,950 63,611,055 129,661,243
200,000 7,775,343 0 0 0 0 7,775,343
0 1,340,294 0 1,934,992 0 0 3,275,286
0 435,146 0 0 0 0 435,146
0 4,289,351 13,488,241 12,528,320 0 13,961,153 44,267,065
1,500,000 1,500,000 3,700,000 2,100,000 0 0 7.300,000
0 0 7,602,623 7,045,958 9,719,491 9.167,094 33,535,166
500,000 750,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 1,950,000
4,005,400 4,005,400 4,005,400 4,005,400 4,005,400 2,305,400 18,327,000
3,200.000 15,127,866 34,630,982 24,192,943 23,749,543 16.007.871 113.709.205
$66,101,932 $108,398,108 $88,739,343  $103,804,179 $102,704,373 $144,210,634  $547,856,637
$11,050,000 $ 11,050,000 $ 30,635,000 $ 12,250,000 $ 14,565,000 $ 23,575,000 $ 92,075,000
2,960,000 2,960,000 1,675,000 1,610,000 1,643,000 1,610,000 9.498.000
$14,010,000 $ 14,010,000 $ 32,310,000 $ 13,860,000 $ 16,208,000 $ 25,185,000 $101,573,000
3 0 $ 353150 $ 3193307 3 617415 $ 390651 $ 272.675 $ 4827.198
$ 0 $§ 353150 $ 3,193307 $ 617415 $§ 390,651 $ 272,675 $ 43827,198
$80,111,932  $122.761258  $124242.650  $118281.594  $119.303,024  $169,668.300  $654.256,835
Approved Requested Reguested Requested Requested Requested Total
FY 2002-03 FY 2002-03 FY 2003-04 FY2004-05 FY 2005-06 FY 2006-907 Five Years
$ 2,305,400 $ 2,305,400 $ 2305400 § 2305400 $ 2,305,400 $ 2305400 3 11,527,000
5,987,000 46,677,132 53,127,276 76,017,845 45,874,984 112,019,938 333,717,175
42,889,332 42,889,332 3,680,423 9,454,690 41,307,745 23,759,052 121,091,242
8,900,000 8,900,000 19,800,000 7,800,000 7,090,000 0 43,590,000
1,500,000 1,500,000 3,700,000 2,100,000 0 0 7,300,000
376,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
4.144 200 6.126.244 6,126,244 6,126,244 6,126,244 6,126,244 30,631,220
$66,101,932 $108,398,108 $ 88,739,343 $103,804,179 $102,704,373 $144,210,634  $547,856,637
$14.010,000 $14,010000 $ 32310,000 $ 13,860.000 $ 16,208.000 $ 25,185,000 $101.573.000
$14,010,000 $14,010,000 § 32,310,000 $ 13,860,000 $ 16,208,000 $ 25,185,000 $101,573,000
$ 0 S 353,150 $ 3193307 $__ 617415 3 390.651 3 272,675 S 4.827.198
$ 0 $ 353150 $ 3,093307 $ 617415 $ 390,651 $ 272,675 $ 4,827,198
$£80,111,932 $122761,258 $124242.650 $118281,504  §$119303.024  $169,668309 $654,256.835
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TAX EXEMPTION

Opinion of Bond Counsel

In the opinion of Hawkins, Delafield & Wood, Bond Counsel, under existing statutes and court
decisions and assuming continuing compliance with certain tax covenants described herein, interest on the Bonds (i)
is excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and (ii) is not treated as a preference item in calculating the alternative
minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations under the Code; such interest, however, is included in the
adjusted current earnings of certain corporations for purposes of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on
such corporations. In rendering its opinion, Bond Counsel will rely on certain representations, certifications of fact,
and statements of reasonable expectations made by the County in connection with the Bonds, and Bond Counsel has
assumed compliance by the County with certain ongoing covenants to comply with applicable requirements of the
Code to assure the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code.

Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, under the existing laws of the Commonwealth of
Virginia, interest on the Bonds is not includable in computing the Virginia income tax.

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other Federal or state tax consequences with
respect to the Bonds. Bond Counsel will render its opinion under existing statutes and court decisions as of the issue
date and assumes no obligation to update its opinion after the issue date to reflect any future action, fact or
circumstance, or change in law or interpretation, or otherwise. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion on the effect of
any action hereafter taken or not taken in reliance upon an opinion of other counsel on the exclusion from gross
income for Federal income tax purposes of interest on the Bonds, or under state and local tax law.

Certain Ongoing Federal Tax Requirements and Covenants

The Code establishes certain ongoing requirements that must be met subsequent to the issuance
and delivery of the Bonds in order that interest on the Bonds be and remain excluded from gross income under
Section 103 of the Code. These requirements include, but are not limited to, requirements relating to use and
expenditure of gross proceeds of the Bonds, yield and other restrictions on investments of gross proceeds, and the
arbitrage rebate requirement that certain excess earnings on gross proceeds be rebated to the Federal government.
Noncompliance with such requirements may cause interest on the Bonds to become included in gross income for
Federal income tax purposes retroactive to their issue date, irrespective of the date on which such noncompliance
occurs or is discovered. The County has covenanted to comply with certain applicable requirements of the Code to
assure the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code.

Certain Collateral Federal Tax Consequences

The following is a brief discussion of certain collateral Federal income tax matters with respect to
the Bonds. It does not purport to address all aspects of Federal taxation that may be relevant to a particular owner of
a Bond. Prospective investors, particularly those who may be subject to special rules, are advised to consult their
own tax advisors regarding the Federal tax consequences of owning and disposing of the Bonds.

Prospective owners of the Bonds should be aware that the ownership of such obligations may
result in collateral Federal income tax consequences to various categories of persons, such as corporations
(including S corporations and foreign corporations), financial institutions, property and casualty and life insurance
companies, individual recipients of Social Security and railroad retirement benefits, individuals otherwise eligible
for the earned income tax credit, and taxpayers deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or
carry obligations the interest on which is not included in gross income for Federal income tax purposes. Interest on
the Bonds may be taken into account in determining the tax liability of foreign corporations subject to the branch
profits tax imposed by Section 884 of the Code.



Original Issue Discount

“Original issue discount” (“OID”) is the excess of the sum of all amounts payable at the stated
maturity of a Bond (excluding certain “qualified stated interest” that is unconditionally payable at least annually at
prescribed rates) over the issue price of that maturity. In general, the “issue price” of a maturity means the first price
at which a substantial amount of the Bonds of that maturity was sold (excluding sales to bond houses, brokers, or
similar persons acting in the capacity as underwriters, placement agents, or wholesalers). In general, the issue price
for each maturity of Bonds is expected to be the initial public offering price set forth on the cover page of this
Official Statement. Bond Counsel further is of the opinion that, for any Bonds having OID (a “Discount Bond™),
OID that has accrued and is properly allocable to the owners of the Discount Bonds under Section 1288 of the Code
is excludable from gross income for Federal income tax purposes to the same extent as other interest on the Bonds.

In general, under Section 1288 of the Code, OID on a Discount Bond accrues under a constant
yield method, based on periodic compounding of interest over prescribed accrual periods using a compounding rate
determined by reference to the yield on that Discount Bond. An owner’s adjusted basis in a Discount Bond is
increased by accrued OID for purposes of determining gain or loss on sale, exchange, or other disposition of such
Bond. Accrued OID may be taken into account as an increase in the amount of tax-exempt income received or
deemed to have been received for purposes of determining various other tax consequences of owning a Discount
Bond even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment.

Owners of Discount Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the treatment of
original issue discount for Federal income tax purposes, including various special rules relating thereto, and the state
and local tax consequences of acquiring, holding, and disposing of Discount Bonds.

Bond Premium

In general, if an owner acquires a Bond for a purchase price (excluding accrued interest) or
otherwise at a tax basis that reflects a premium over the sum of all amounts payable on the Bond after the
acquisition date (excluding certain “qualified stated interest” that is unconditionally payable at least annually at
prescribed rates), that premium constitutes “bond premium” on that Bond (a “Premium Bond”). In general, under
Section 171 of the Code, an owner of a Premium Bond must amortize the bond premium over the remaining term of
the Premium Bond, based on the owner’s yield over the remaining term of the Premium Bond, determined based on
constant yield principles. An owner of a Premium Bond must amortize the bond premium by offsetting the qualified
stated interest allocable to each interest accrual period under the owner’s regular method of accounting against the
bond premium allocable to that period. In the case of a tax-exempt Premium Bond, if the bond premium allocable to
an accrual period exceeds the qualified stated interest allocable to that accrual period, the excess is a nondeductible
loss. Under certain circumstances, the owner of a Premium Bond may realize a taxable gain upon disposition of the
Premium Bond even though it is sold or redeemed for an amount less than or equal to the owner’s original
acquisition cost. Owners of any Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the treatment of
bond premium for Federal income tax purposes, including various special rules relating thereto, and state and local
tax consequences, in connection with the acquisition, ownership, amortization of bond premium on, sale, exchange,
or other disposition of Premium Bonds.

Possible Government Action

Legislation affecting municipal bonds is regularly under consideration by the United States
Congress. In addition, the Internal Revenue Service has established an expanded audit program for tax-exempt
bonds. There can be no assurance that legislation enacted or proposed or an audit initiated by the Internal Revenue
Service involving either the Bonds or other tax-exempt bonds will not have an adverse effect on the tax-exempt
status or market price of the Bonds. There can be no assurance that legislation enacted or proposed after the date of
issuance of the Bonds will not have an adverse effect on the tax-exempt status or market price of the Bonds.
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UNDERWRITING

The Bonds were awarded pursuant to electronic competitive bidding via PARITY on
January 14, 2003 to a group of underwriters led by Salomon Smith Barney, Inc. (the “Underwriter”) at a price to the
County that resulted in an Underwriter’s discount of $325,861.35 from the initial public offering prices shown on
the inside cover page of this Official Statement. The Underwriter has supplied the initial public offering prices
shown on the inside cover page of this Official Statement. The Underwriter may offer to sell the Bonds to certain
dealers and others at prices lower than the initial public offering prices shown on the inside cover page of this
Official Statement.

RATINGS

Moody’s Investors Service, 99 Church Street, New York, New York, Standard & Poor’s Ratings
Group, 55 Water Street, New York, New York, and Fitch Ratings, Inc., One State Street Plaza, New York, New
York, have assigned ratings of “Aaa,” “AAA” and “AAA,” respectively, to the Bonds. An explanation of the
significance of such ratings may only be obtained from the rating agency furnishing the same. The County
furnished to such rating agencies the information contained in this Official Statement and certain publicly available
materials and information about the County. Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on such materials and
information, as well as investigations, studies, and assumptions of the rating agencies. Such ratings may be changed
at any time, and no assurance can be given that they will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by one or
more of such rating agencies if, in the judgment of one or more of them, circumstances so warrant. Such
circumstances may include, without limitation, changes in or unavailability of information relating to the County.
Any such downward revision or withdrawal of any such ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of
the Bonds.

APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Certain legal matters relating to the authorization and validity of the Bonds are subject to the
approval of Hawkins, Delafield & Wood, New York, New York, Bond Counsel. The opinion of Bond Counsel
relating to the Bonds, the form of which is set forth as Appendix B to this Official Statement, will be furnished at the
expense of the County upon delivery of the Bonds and will be appended to the Bonds. Bond Counsel has not
prepared this Official Statement and has not verified its accuracy, completeness, or fairness. Accordingly, Bond
Counsel will express no opinion of any kind as to the Official Statement, and its opinion will be limited to matters
relating to the authorization and validity of the Bonds and the exemption of interest on the Bonds under present
Federal and Virginia income tax laws.

Certain other legal matters are to be passed upon for the County by Joseph P. Rapisarda, Jr.,
County Attorney.

VERIFICATION

The arithmetical accuracy of certain computations included in the schedules provided by BB&T
Capital Markets, a division of Scott & Stringfellow, Inc., as financial advisor on behalf of the County relating to (i)
computations of forecasted receipts of principal and interest on the investments in the Government Securities
deposited in the respective refunding trust funds and the forecasted payments of principal and interest to redeem the
Refunded Bonds and (ii) computation of the yields on the Bonds and the Government Securities was examined by
The Arbitrage Group LLC. Such computations were based solely on assumptions and information supplied by
BB&T Capital Markets, a division of Scott & Stringfellow, Inc., as financial advisor on behalf of the County. The
Arbitrage Group LLC has restricted its procedures to examining the arithmetical accuracy of certain computations
and has not made any study or evaluation of the assumptions and information on which the computations are based
and, accordingly, has not expressed an opinion on the data used, the reasonableness of the assumptions or the
achievability of the forecasted outcome.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The financial statements of Henrico County, Virginia, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2002,
included in this Official Statement as Appendix A have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, mdependent
auditors, as stated in their report appearing herein.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

BB&T Capital Markets, a division of Scott & Stringfellow, Inc., 2 South Ninth Street, Richmond,
Virginia 23219, serves as financial advisor to the County on debt management and capital financing matters and has
assisted the County in the issuance and sale of the Bonds.

LITIGATION

There is no litigation of any kind now pending or threatened to restrain or enjoin the issuance or
delivery of the Bonds or in any manner questioning the proceedings and authority under which the Bonds are being
issued. In addition, to the best information, knowledge and belief of the County, there is no litigation currently
pending or threatened against the County that, in the event of any unfavorable decision, would have a material
adverse effect upon the financial condition of the County.

CERTIFICATE CONCERNING OFFICIAL STATEMENT

The County will furnish to the successful bidder a certificate dated the date of delivery of the
Bonds, signed by the County Manager and the Director of Finance, and stating that, both as of the date of this
Official Statement and the date of delivery of the Bonds, the descriptions and statements contained in this Official
Statement (except in the section entitled “LITIGATION™) were and are, to the best of their knowledge, true and correct
in all material respects and did not and do not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact required to be stated herein or necessary to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading, and that no material adverse change has occurred in the financial
condition of the County between the date of this Official Statement and the date of delivery other than as
contemplated in this Official Statement. Such certificate will state, however, that the County Manager and the
Director of Finance did not independently verify the information in this Official Statement indicated as having been
obtained or derived from sources other than the County and its officers but that they have no reason to believe that
such information is not accurate.

The County will also furnish to the successful bidder a certificate dated the date of delivery of the
Bonds, signed by the County Attorney and stating that, both as of the date of this Official Statement and the date of
delivery of the Bonds, the statements in the section herein entitled “LITIGATION” did not and do not contain an
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated herein or necessary to make
the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The County has undertaken in its Continuing Disclosure Certificate, the form of which is attached
as Appendix C to this Official Statement, to comply with the provisions of Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Rule”), by providing certain annual financial information and operating
data and event notices required by the Rule. Such information is to be filed with all nationally recognized municipal
securities information repositories (“NRMSIRs”) and with any Virginia qualifying state information depository that
may be created.

No state information depository (“SID”) has been created for the Commonwealth. If, however, a
SID is hereafter created for such state, the County is obligated to make filings and provide notices to the SID as
required by the Rule. Investors and other interested parties may contact any NRMSIR for additional information
concerning its services. The County makes no representations as to the scope of the services provided to the
secondary market by any NRMSIR or as to the costs for the provision of such services by any NRMSIR.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The purpose of this Official Statement is to supply information to prospective buyers of the
Bonds. Any questions concerning the contents of this Official Statement should be directed to the following:
Reta R. Busher, CPA, County Director of Finance (804) 501-5200; Peter H. Shea, Senior Vice President, BB&T
Capital Markets, a division of Scott & Stringfellow, Inc. (804) 649-3984; or Edward J. McCormick, Esquire,
Hawkins, Delafield & Wood, (212) 820-9466.

The execution of this Official Statement and its delivery have been duly approved by the County.
The County has deemed this Official Statement final as of its date.

HENRICO COUNTY, VIRGINIA

/s/ Virgil R. Hazelett, P.E.
County Manager
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Deloitte & Touche LLP
707 East Main Street
Suite 500

Eighth & Main Building
Richmond. Virginia 23219

Tel: (804) 697-1500

gl o Deloitte
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

The Honorable Members of the Board of Supervisors
of the County of Henrico, Virginia

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discreetly presented component units and each major fund of the County of Henrico,
Virginia (the “County”), as of and for the year then ended, June 30, 2002, which collectively comprise, the
County’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the County’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the respective financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective statement of net assets or financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discreetly presently component units and each major fund, as of June 30, 2002, and
the respective changes in net assets and financial position and respective cash flows, where applicable,
thereof, for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

As described in Note 1 to the basic financial statements, the County has implemented the new financial
reporting model, as required by provisions of GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements- and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis- for State and Local Governments, as of June 30, 2002. As
described in Note 6, due to the implementation of the new reporting model, the County has restated
beginning net assets for the Enterprise Funds in the net amounts of $572,114 and $117,824 for the Water and
Sewer Revenue Fund and the Belmont Park Golf Course Fund, respectively.

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 3 through 12 are not a required part of the basic
financial statements but it is supplementary information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board. We have applied certain limited procedures, which consist principally of inquiries of management
regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information.
However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Deloitte
Touche
Tohmatsu A3



Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the County’s basic financial statements taken as a whole. The accompanying financial information
listed as supplemental schedules in the foregoing table of contents is presented for the purpose of additional
analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements of the County. These financial statements and
schedules are also the responsibility of the management of the County. Such additional information, has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the basic financial statements and, in our
opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects when considered in relation to the financial statements of each
of the respective individual funds and account groups taken as a whole.

Dbl + Jowhs L4
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following discussion and analysis of the County of Henrico’s financial performance
provides an overview of the County’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2002. Please read it in conjunction with the transmittal letter at the front of this report and the
County’s financial statements, which follow this section.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR FY 2002

The General Fund, on a current financial resource basis, reported revenues in excess of
expenditures and other financial sources and uses by $5.2 million (Exhibit 4) after making
transfers to the capital projects fund for $23.0 million, special revenue fund for $13.4 million
and debt service fund for $34.1 million. In addition, the County contributed $157.3 million to
the County’s component units.

On a government-wide basis for governmental activities, the County had expenses net of
program revenue of $360.0 million, the general revenues of $390.4 million exceeded expenses
net of program revenues by $30.4 million (Exhibit 2).

The County’s total net assets, excluding component units, on the government-wide basis
totaled $1,440.9 million at June 30, 2002 (Exhibit 1).

On February 21, 2002, the County issued $27.0 million in general obligation bonds at a true
interest cost of 4.4 percent. The tax-exempt bonds, which will mature incrementally over the
next 20 years, will be used to finance public improvements, including County and School
facilities and infrastructure.

On March 15, 2002, the County issued $17.3 million in Water and Sewer Refunding Bonds to
refund the entire outstanding balance of the 1992 bond series. The true interest cost of the
bonds was 4.1 percent, and resulted in an economic gain of $1.7 million.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the County’s basic
financial statements. The County’s basic financial statements are comprised of three
components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3)
notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary information in
addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

The primary focus of local government financial statements over the last 20 years has been
summarized fund type information on a current financial resource basis. This approach has
been modified and for the first time, the County’s financial statements present two types of
statements, each with a different snapshot of the County’s finances. The new focus is on both
the County as a whole (government-wide) and the fund financial statements. The government-
wide financial statements, which are new, provide both long-term and short-term information
about the County’s overall financial status. The fund financial statements, which have been



provided in the past, focus on the individual components of the County government, reporting
the County’s operations in more detail than the government-wide statements.  Both
perspectives (government-wide and fund statements) allow the user to address relevant
questions, broaden the basis of comparison (year to year or government to government) and
enhance the County’s financial accountability.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS

The government-wide statements report information about the County as a whole using
accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies. One of the most
important questions asked about the County’s finances is, “Is the County as a whole better off
or worse off as a result of the year’s activities?” The Statement of Net Assets and the
Statement of Activities, which are the government-wide statements, report information about
the County as a whole and about its activities in a way that helps answer this question. These
statements include all assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting, which is
similar to the accounting used by most private-sector companies. All of the current year’s
revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is received or paid.

These two statements report the County’s net assets and the changes in them. One can think of
the County’s net assets — the difference between assets and liabilities — as one way to measure
the County’s financial health, or financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in the
County’s net assets are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or
deteriorating. Other nonfinancial factors will need to be considered, however, such as changes
in the County’s property tax base and the condition of the County’s infrastructure, to assess the
overall health of the County.

In the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities, we divide the County into three
types of activities:

Governmental Activities — Most of the County’s basic services are reported here:
Police, Fire, Public Works, Recreation and Parks, and general administration. Property
taxes, other local taxes, and state and federal grants finance most of these activities.

Business-Type Activities — The County’s operation, maintenance and construction of
the County-owned water and wastewater (sewer) utility and the County-owned golf
course are reported here as the County charges a fee to customers to cover all or most
of the cost of the services these operations provide.

Component Units — The County includes two separate legal entities in its report — the
County of Henrico School Board and the James River Juvenile Detention Commission.
Although legally separate, these “component units” are important because the County is
financially accountable for them, and provides operating and capital funding.
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FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Traditional users of government financial statements will find the fund financial statement
presentation more familiar. The focus is now on the County’s most significant funds. The
fund financial statements provide more information about the County’s most significant funds,
not the County as a whole.

The County has three types of funds:

Governmental Funds - Most of the County’s basic services are included in
governmental funds, which focus on (1) how cash and other financial assets that can
readily be converted to cash flow in and out and (2) the balances left at year end that
are available for spending. Consequently, the governmental funds statements provide a
detailed short-term view that helps the reader determine whether there are more or less
financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the County’s
programs. Because this information does not encompass the additional long-term focus
of the government-wide statements, additional information is provided at the bottom of
the governmental funds statements that explain the relationship (or differences)
between them. (Exhibits 3 and 4)

Proprietary Funds — Services for which the County charges customers a fee are
generally reported in proprietary funds. Proprietary funds, like the government-wide
statements, provide both long and short-term financial information.

In fact, the County’s Enterprise Fund (one type of propriety fund) is the same as its
business-type activities, but the fund financial statements provide more detail and
additional information, such as cash flow. The County’s Enterprise Fund accounts for
the operation of the County’s water and wastewater utility, and the County-owned golf
course.

The County uses intenal service funds (the other kind of propriety fund) to report
activities that provide supplies and services for the County’s other programs and
activities. The Internal Service Fund accounts for the County’s Central Automotive
Maintenance operation and the Technology Replacement Fund. Resources for these
funds come from interdepartmental charges.

Fiduciary Funds — The County is the trustee, or fiduciary, for Agency Funds. The
County is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in these funds are used for
their intended purposes. All of the County’s fiduciary activities are reported in a
separate statement of fiduciary net assets and a statement of changes in fiduciary net
assets. The County excludes these activities from the County’s government-wide
financial statements because the County cannot use these assets to finance its own
operations.



FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY AS A WHOLE

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, the County is not required to restate prior periods
for the purposes of providing comparative information. However, in future years, when prior
year information is available, a comparative analysis of government-wide information will be
presented.

Statement of Net Assets

The following table reflects the condensed Statement of Net Assets for the year ended June 30,
2002 (in millions):

Governmental Business-type Total Primary Component
Activities Activities Government Units

Current and Other Assets $ 2859 § 1548 § 440.7 $ 30.0

Capital Assets 794.7 761.5 1,556.2 163.3
Total Assets $§ 10806 % 9]63 $ 1,9969 $ 1933

Long-term Liabilities $ 2919 § 1485 § 4404 $ 244

Other Liabilities 83.2 324 115.6 15.3
Total Liabilities $ 375.1 §$ 1809 $ 556.0 $ 39.7

Net Assets:

Invested Capital Assets,

Net of Related Debt  § 541.1 § 6075 § 1,148.6 $ 140.3
Restricted 115.1 11.7 126.8 -
Unrestricted 49.3 116.2 165.5 13.3

Total Net Assets 3 7055 §$ 7354 % 1,4409 $___ 1536

The County’s combined net assets (which is the County’s bottom line) increased to $1,440.9
million from $1,357.6 million as a result of the increase in net assets in both the Governmental
and Business-Type Activities (Exhibit 2). Net assets of the County’s governmental funds were
$705.5 million (Exhibit 2). The governmental activities unrestricted net assets, the part of net
assets that can be used to finance day-to-day operations, was $49.3 million (Exhibit 1). The
component units’ net assets’ increased from $113.6 million to $153.6 million and is primarily
related to increases to Education.

The net assets of business-type activities increased from $682.5 million to $735.4 million.
Unrestricted assets available for the continuing operation of these activities, water and sewer,
and the golf course, were $116.2 million as of June 30, 2002.



The following chart shows the revenue and expenses of the governmental activities (in

Statement of Activities

millions):
Governmental Business-type Total Primary Component
Activities Activities Government Units
Revenues:
Program Revenues:
Charges for Services $ 322 % 669 % 99.1 § 8.3
Operating Grants and
Contributions 81.7 3.1 84.8 144.0
General Revenues:
Property Taxes 236.2 - 236.2 -
Other Taxes 101.5 - 101.5 -
Other 52.7 36.6 89.3 5.8
Payment from Primary
Government - - - 157.3
Total Revenue $ 5043 $ 106.6 $ 6109 $ 315.4
Expenses: _
General Government $ 644 § -9 644 $ -
Judicial Administration 5.2 - 5.2 -
Public Safety 108.0 - 108.0 4.2
Public Works 47.7 - , 47.7 -
Health and Welfare 41.8 - 41.8 -
Education 157.3 - 157.3 271.2
Parks, Recreation
and Cultural 19.8 - 19.8 -
Community Development 15.8 - 15.8 -
Interest on Long-term Debt 13.9 - 13.9 -
Water and Sewer - 52.7 52.7 -
Golf Course - 1.0 1.0 -
Total Expenses $ 4739 § 537 $ 5276 $ 275.4
Change in Net Assets 304 52.9 83.3 40.0
Net Assets on July 1 675.1 682.5 1,357.6 113.6
Net Assets at June 30 $§ 7055 % 7354 3 _1,4409 § 153.6




REVENUES

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002, revenues from governmental activities totaled $504.3
million. Real Estate Tax Revenues, the County’s largest revenue source, which reflects the
accrual of the second half calendar year 2001 and the first half of calendar year 2002 real
property tax billing, were $175.4 million. The County’s assessed real property tax base for
calendar year 2002 increased 8.7 percent to $18.2 billion.

In fiscal year 2002, the County recorded $49.5 million in personal property tax revenue from
County residents, and received reimbursement from the Commonwealth of $33.9 million for
total personal property tax related receipts of $83.4 million. Under the provisions of the
Personal Property Tax Relief Act of 1998 (PPTRA), the Commonwealth’s share of the local
personal property tax payment for calendar year 2001 (FY 2002) was 70 percent of most
taxpayers’ payments.

Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs provided revenues of $41.6
million, which include revenues from the Commonwealth. These FY 2002 revenues included
the $33.9 million for the County’s PPTRA reimbursement as discussed above.

Business-type activities produced total revenues of $106.6 million. The largest business-type
source is the County’s Water and Sewer activity, which produced $ 65.9 million in charges for
services and $21.3 million in grants and contributions and $14.9 million in connection fees
(Exhibit 2). '

EXPENSES

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002, expenses for governmental activities totaled $473.9
million that includes increases for employee compensation, payments for educational expenses
to the School Board, public safety, recreation, libraries and debt service.

With historically low unemployment levels and high demand for skilled employees in both the
public and private sectors in this region, it is important that the County provide competitive
compensation levels for our employees. The FY 2002 expenses included funding for a
combined merit pay increase and wage adjustment of 4.0 percent for all eligible County and
School Board employees effective the first payday in July.

Education continues to be one of the County’s highest priorities and commitments. The
County’s total contribution to the School Board for FY 2002 totaled $157.3 million. The
County contributed $145.3 million to School operations and $12.0 million for the school’s
capital improvement projects.

The expenses of Business-type Activities, which result from the operations of the County’s

Water and Sewer activity and Golf Course activity, totaled $53.7 million (Exhibit 2). The
Water and Sewer activity accounts for $52.7 million of the total expenses.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY’S FUNDS

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002, the governmental funds reflect a combined fund
balance of $210.3 million (Exhibit 3). Included in the General Fund Balance of $114.5 million
(Exhibit 4) are $5.2 million of revenues in excess of expenditures and other financing sources
and uses. The primary reason for the General Fund’s increase in fund balance mirrors those
highlighted in the analysis of governmental activities in the government-wide statements. In
addition, these other changes in fund balance should be noted:

e The General Fund contributed $23.0 million to the Capital Projects Fund to finance
various capital projects, $13.4 million for the Special Revenue Fund and $34.1 million
for debt service.

o The General Fund contributed $157.3 million to fund the FY 2002 school board
operations, debt service and capital improvement projects.

e The County spent $46.9 million in the Capital Projects Fund and issued $27.0 million
in General Obligation bonds to support these projects.

General Fund Budget
(in millions)
Original Revised Actual
Revenues:
Taxes $ 3178 $ 3178 $ 3277
Intergovernmental 96.8 98.4 103.0
Other 284 28.4 28.7
Total Revenues 443.0 $ 4446 $ 4594
Expenditures and Transfers:
Expenditures § 2378 $ 3984 $ 3846
Transfers 69.4 696 696
Total Expenditures
and Transfers __452.1 468.0 __ 4542
Change in Fund Balance $ 01 $ (23.4) 3 52
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GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS
General Fund

Revenue and other financing sources exceeded expenditures and other financing uses by $5.2
million in the General Fund for FY 2002.

Actual General Fund revenues exceeded original budgeted revenues by $16.4 million during
FY 2002. This increase is attributable in part to increased real estate assessments and other
increased local taxes such as personal property, business license and bank franchise tax
revenues. Revenue collections exceeded the revised budget by $14.8 million. Actual General
Fund expenditures were greater than the original budget by $1.9 million, which was due in part
to supplemental appropriations, and were less than the revised budget by $13.8 million.

During the fiscal year 2002, County Board of Supervisors amended the budget five times.
These budget amendments or supplemental appropriation resolutions were primarily for the
following purposes:

e To reappropriate monies to pay for continuing programs whose fiscal year extends
beyond June 30.

e To reappropriate grant revenues authorized in Fiscal Year 2001 or earlier, but not
expended or encumbered as of June 30, 2001.

e To appropriate grants or donations accepted or adjusted in FY 2002.

e To appropriate funds for program enhancements or small-scale capital projects, or other
operational needs that were not anticipated in the original FY 2002 budget.

CAPITAL ASSETS

At the end of fiscal year 2002, the County’s governmental activities (including internal service
funds) had net capital assets totaling $794.7 million (Note 6), which represents a net increase
of $34.0 million, or 4.5 percent over the previous fiscal year-end balance. As part of the
implementation of GASB Statement No. 34, the County included $373.0 million in
infrastructure assets. In Henrico, infrastructure assets include roads, bridges, and water and

sewer systems.

A-12



Governmental Activities
Change in Capital Assets

(in millions)
Net
Balance Additions/ Balance
FY 2001 Deletions FY 2002
Non-Depreciable Assets:
Land $ 2587 $ 6.5 § 2652
Construction in Progress 51.8 234 75.2
Other Capital Assets:
Building 338.0 5.6 343.6
Infrastructure 356.9 16.1 373.0
Equipment 67.0 6.7 737
Improvements Other than Buildings 18.6 1.9 20.5
Accumulated Depreciation on
other Capital Assets (330.3) 26.2 (356.5)
Total 27607 $§ 340

37947

The FY 2002 net additions/deletions to construction-in-progress totaled $23.4 million, and
included improvements to public buildings, schools, recreation facilities and infrastructure.

The FY 2002 Capital Budget totaling $56.8 million is funded by the General Fund and a $27.0
million general obligation bond issue. The Capital Budget will provide for the construction of
schools, fire stations and infrastructure.

LONG-TERM DEBT

In November 2000, the County’s voters approved a $237.0 million General Obligation Bond
Referendum. The referendum included projects for Schools, Fire, Public Library, Public Works
(roads projects), and Recreation and Parks. To date the County has issued $64.1 million of the
total voter approved bonds, $27.0 million in 2002 and $37.1 million in 2001, leaving a balance
of $172.9 million in bonds approved but not issued. The County anticipates issuing an
additional $51.8 million in approved bonds during FY 2003.

On February 15, 2002, the County sold $27.0 million in general obligation bonds at a true
interest cost of 4.4 percent. The tax-exempt bonds, which will mature incrementally over the
next 20 years, will be used to finance public improvements, including County and School
facilities and infrastructure. At the end of fiscal year 2002, the County had $201.7 million in
outstanding general obligation bonds, an increase of $12.1 million, or 6.4 percent, from last
year. More detailed information about the County’s long-term liabilities is presented in Note 7
to the financial statements.
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Moody’s Investors Services, Inc., Standard & Poor’s (S&P) and Fitch rating agencies, all
reaffirmed the County of Henrico’s triple-AAA bond rating, in conjunction with the issuance
of the $27 million in general obligation bonds in 2002. The County first received AAA bond
ratings from both Moody’s and S&P for the first time in 1977. In 1998, Fitch, the newest
bond-rating agency bestowed an AAA rating on the County.

On March 15, 2002, the County issued $17.3 million of Water and Sewer Refunding Bonds to
refund the entire outstanding balance of the 1992 bond series. The interest rate on these bonds
is between 3.0 percent and 4.6 percent and the final maturity will occur on May 1, 2013.
Although the advance refunding resulted in the recognition of an accounting loss for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2002, the transaction obtained an economic gain of $1.7 million. At fiscal
year end the Water and Sewer business-type activity had bonds payable of $153.9 million, a
decrease of $6.0 million or 3.7 percent.

ECONOMIC FACTORS

In the last five years, the County added over 5,962 jobs, with total employment increasing to
just over 138,000 by December 2001. Most of this gain was generated by the services sector
(information technology, business services, health services, engineering and management and
associations), and accounted for 28.9 percent of all jobs in the County. The County’s
unemployment rate (3.8 percent as of September 2002) continues to be lower than both the
state and federal rates (4.1 percent and 5.6 percent respectively). As of 2000 (the latest data
available from the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis), the County’s per capita income of
$33,286 registered considerably higher than both the national average of $29,469 and the
$31,120 average in the state of Virginia.

CONTACTING THE COUNTY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and
creditors with a general overview of the County’s finances and to demonstrate the County’s
accountability for the funds it receives. Questions concerning this report or requests for
additional financial information should be directed to the Director of Finance, P.O. Box 27032,
Richmond, VA 23273-7032. Additional finance information can be found on our web-site
www.co.henrico.va.us.
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Assets:

Cash and temporary investments
Receivables, net

Due from other governments
Internal balances

Due from component unit
Inventories

Prepaids

Other assets

Restricted cash

Capital Assets:

Land and construction in progress

Other capital assets, net
Capital assets, net

Total Assets

Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Deposits payable

Accrued liabilities
Amounts held for others
Deferred revenues

Due to primary govemnment

Long-term liabilities due within one year
Long-term liabilities due in more than one year

Total Liabilities

Net Assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt

Restricted
Unrestricted assets

Total Net Assets

COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS Exhibit 1
AS OF JUNE 30, 2002
Primary Government
Governmental Business-Type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

$ 259,306,199 $ 104,646,659 § 363,952,858 23,234,068
17,693,845 14,817,518 32,511,363 -
14,809,159 - 14,809,159 6,736,290
(8,015,824) 8,015,824 - -
957,465 - 957,465 -
454,787 856,847 1,311,634 -
- 20,000 20,000 -
- 2,251,778 2,251,778 53,333
687,050 24,194,026 24,881,076 31,245
340,423,993 233,090,406 573,514,399 28,378,784
454,271,963 528,391,504 982,663,467 134,898,615
794,695,956 761,481,910 1,556,177,866 163,277,399
$ 1080588637 § 916,284,562 3§ 1996,873,199 193,332,335
40,056,580 $ 17,631,466 § 57,688,046 3,492,628
4,729,534 443,765 5,173,299 T
5,418,124 1,710,278 7,128,402 14,362
- - - 3,547,342
10,889,309 6,248,387 17,137,696 1,951,330
- - - 957,465
22,029,038 6,385,000 28,414,038 5,358,204
291,928,917 148,512,630 440,441,547 24,364,358
375,051,502 $ 180,931,526 § 555,983,028 39,685,689
$ 541,151,684 § 607,491,145 § 1,148,642,829 140,336,654
115,053,231 11,707,820 126,761,051 40,754
49,332,220 116,154,071 165,486,291 13,269,238
$ 705537,135 § 735353,036 § 1,440,890,171 153,646,646

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE, 30,

COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
2002

Miscellaneous
Gain / loss on sale of assets
Educational contribution
Total primary government
Change in net assets
Net Assets at July 1 2001, restated (Note 6)

Net Assets at June 30, 2002

The accompanying notes to the financial statements arc an integral part of these financial statements.

Program Revenues
Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Primary government: '
General government s 64387473 § 13,578,831 $ 2422339 § -
Judicial administration 5,224,410 208,317 5,576,187 -
Public safety 108,007,314 4,518,915 23,676,800 -
Public works 47,644,177 7,262,669 24,944 262 -
Health and welfare 41,836,883 5,260,294 22,926,104 -
Education 157,315,672 - - .
Parks, recreation and culture 19,819,017 927,902 343,831 -
Community development 15,751,872 439,473 1,888,459 -
Interest on long-term debt 13,982,451 - - -
Total Governmental Activities 473,969,269 32,196,401 81,777,982 -
Business-type activities:
Water and Sewer 52,698,836 65,931,192 3,101,557 -
Belmont Park Golf Course 1,057,607 913,210 - -
Total Business-type Activities 53,756,443 66,844,402 3,101,557 -
Total Primary Government $ 527725712 § 99,040,803 $ 84,879,539 § -
Component Units:
School Board $ 271,184219 § 8,168,672 § 141,186212 § -
James River Juvenile Detention Center 4,169,550 173,875 2,702,347 46,265
Total Component Units $ 275,353,769 § 8342547 § 143,888,559 § 46,265
General Revenues:
Taxes:
Property
Other
Interest and investment eamings
Grants and contributions
Connection fees
Donated assets
Payment from Commonwealth of Virginia
Payment from Henrico County
Recovered costs
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Governmental Business-Type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

s (48,386,303) $ - 3 (48,386,303) $ -

560,094 - 560,094 -

(79,811,599) - (79.811,599) -

(15,437,246) - (15,437,246) -

(13,650,485) - (13,650,485) -

(157,315,672) - (157,315,672) -

(18,547,284) - (18,547,284) -

(13,423,940) - (13,423,940) -

(13,982.451) - (13,982,451) -

(359,994,886) - (359,994,886) -

- 16,333,913 16,333,913 -

- (144,397) (144,397) -

- 16,189,516 16,189,516 -

$  (359,994886) $ 16,189,516 $ (343,805370) § -

3 - 3 - 8 - § (121,829,335)

- - - (1,247,063)

$ - $ - § - $ (123,076,398)

$ 236,198,462 $ - $ 236,198,462 $ -

101,467,945 - 101,467,945 -

10,256,270 2,138,408 12,394,678 24,710

41,590,849 934,043 42,524,892 -

- 14,897,347 14,897,347 -

- 17,222,695 17,222,695 -

- - - 3,641,400

- - . 809,038

- - - 389,521

773,123 1,479,999 2,253,122 1,002,109

114,265 - 114,265 -

- - - 157,284,901

$ 390,400,914 § 36,672,492 § 427,073,406 § 163,151,679

3 30,406,028 $ 52,862,008 § 83,268,036 § 40,075,281

675,131,107 682,491,028 1,357,622,135 113,571,365

$ 705,537,135 $§ 735,353,036 § 1.440,890,171 § 153,646,646

Exhibit 2
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Assets:
Cash and temporary investments
Receivables, net
Due from other governmental units
Due from component unit
Restricted cash

Total Assets

Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Deposits payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenues
Due to other funds

Total liabilities

Fund Bslances:
Reserved for:
Encumbrances
Unreserved, reported in:
Designated
Undesignated

Total fund balances

COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA

BALANCE SHEET Exhibit 3
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2002

Total
General Special Debt Capital Governmental

Fund Revenue Service Projects Funds
$ 144,559,131 § 14215752 § 6,884,939 § 83,541,724  $ 249,201,546
16,531,720 1,161,807 - 17,693,527
12,219,853 2,589,306 - 14,809,159
957,465 - - 957,465
687,050 687,050

$ 174,268,169 § 17,966,865 § 7,571,989 § 83,541,724

$ 283,348,747

$ 36417906 § 1,821,073 § - $ 1,569223 § 39,808,202
4,723,334 6,200 - - 4,729,534

- - - 548,682 548,682

18,613,559 1,347,243 - - 19,960,802

- - - 8,015,824 8,015,824

59,754,799 3,174,516 - 10,133,729 73,063,044
4,552,095 859,583 - 25,402,275 30,813,953
24,108,222 13,932,766 7,571,989 48,005,720 93,618,697
85,853,053 - - 85,853,053
114,513,370 14,792,349 7,571,989 73,407,995 210,285,703

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances § 174,268,169 $ 17,966,865 § 7571989 § 83,541,724

$ 283,348,747

Adjustments for the Statement of Net Assets:

Capital assets used in government activities are not current financial resources
and therefore are not reported as assets in the governmental funds. (Note 6)

Deferred revenue that has been recognized in the current period and
therefore is not reported as liabilities in the governmental funds. (Note 3)

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the
current period and therefore are not reported as liabilities in the governmental
funds. (Note 7)

Accrued interest on bonds payable, is not due and payable in the current period
and therefore is not reported as liabilities in the governmental funds. (Note 7)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of equipment
replacement; and, therefore, the assets and liabilities of the internal service
fund are included in government activities in the Statement of Net Assets.

Internal service fund net profit allocation to business-type activities and
component units is included in the Statement of Net Assets as accounts payable,
but is not included in the governmental funds.

Net Assets of Governmental Activities

$ 781,823,663

9,071,493

(313,720,958)

(4,869,442)

22,993,376

(46,700)

$ 705,537,135
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES Exhibit 4
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002
Geaeral Special Debdt Capital Governmental
Fund Revenue Service Projects Funds
Reveaues:
General property taxes $ 226258366 S - § - 3 - $ 226,258,366
Orher local taxes 101,467,945 - - - 101,467,945
Licenses and permits 3,492,309 - - - 3,492,309
Fines and forfeitures 1,875,895 - - - 1,875,895
Revenue from use of money and property 9,330,829 46,890 40,463 1,623,135 11,041,317
Charges for services 9,131,531 11,631,792 - - 20,763,323
Miscellaneous 1,804,142 416,265 - 771,512 2991919
Recovered costs 3,010,900 359,732 - - 3,370,632
103,065,296 16,811,329 - 1,883,316 121,759,941
Total Revenues 459,437,213 29,266,008 40,463 4277963 493,021,647
Expenditures:
Current operating:
General government 46,745,434 1,626,481 - - 48371915
Judicial administration 4,899,826 584,730 - - 5.484,556
Public safety 103,380,580 4,137,523 - - 107,518,103
Public works 28,957,949 6,323,514 - - 35,281,463
Health and welfare 16,596,536 25,416,746 - - 42,013,282
Parks, recreation, and culture 18,649,111 223,177 - - 18,872,288
Community development 13,813,452 1,966,578 - - 15,780,030
Education 144,862,224 - 429,236 11,993,441 157,284,901
Miscellancous 5,882,900 - - - 5,382,900
Debt service:
Principal 615,787 - 19,630,000 - 20,245,787
Interest and other charges 183,490 - 12,974,893 - 13,158,383
Capital outlay - - - 46,864,798 46,864 798
Total Expenditures 384,587,289 40,278,749 33,034,129 58,858,239 516,758,406
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 74,849,924 (11,012,741) (32.993,666) (54,580,276) (23,736,759)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Operating transfers in - 13,382,712 34,140,925 22,980,206 70,503,843
Operating transfers out (70,503,843) - - - (70,503,843)
Bond proceeds - - - 27,035,000 27,035,000
Capital lease proceeds 890,760 - - - 890,760
Total other financing sources (uses) (69,613,083) 13,382,712 34,140,925 50.015.206 27.925,760
Net change in fund balance 5,236,841 2,369,971 1,147,259 (4.565,070) 4,189,001
Fund Balances - July 1, 2001 109,276,529 12,422,378 6.424.730 77.973,065 206,096,702
Fund Balances - June 30,2002 $_ 114513370 S 14792349 3 7571989 § 73407995 $ 210285703
Adjustments for the Statement of Activities:
Repay of bond principal is reported as an expenditure in the governmental
funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Assets. $ 20,245,787
Revenues in governmental funds that do provide current fi ial are
not reported as inthe S of Activities. (Note 3) 9,940,096
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expendi while go |
activities capitalize those outlays to allocate those expenditures over the life
of the assets. 55,454,461
Certain exp ported in the S of Activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. (Note 7) (5.233,367)
Depreciation expense is reported in the Statement of Activitics but is not
ported as an expense in the g ! funds. (Note 6) (26,907.203)
Interest expense on bonds payable, is not duc and payable in the current period
and therefore is mot reported as expenses in the gove: 1 funds. (Note 7) (824,068)
Bond and capital lease proceeds are recorded as revenues in governmenta! funds,
but are not reported as inthe S of Activities. (27,925,760)
Internal service funds are used to charge the costs of mai to gover {
funds and are a reduction of related expenses in the Statement of Activitics. 53,530
Internal service fund not recorded in the g | funds. 1,413,551
Change in Net Assets of Governmental Activities $  30,406.028
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The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of

COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS Exhibit 5
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2002
Business Type Activities - Enterprise Funds Internal
Water and Belmont Park Service
Sewer Revenue Golf Course Total Funds
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 104,169,035 § 477624 8§ 104,646,659 § 10,104,653
Receivables, net 14,817,518 - 14,817,518 318
Due from other funds 8,015,824 - 8,015,824 -
Inventories 856,847 - 856,847 454,787
Prepaids 20,000 - 20,000 -
Restricted cash 24,194,026 - 24,194,026 -
Total current assets 152,073,250 477,624 152,550,874 10,559,758
Other assets 2,251,778 - 2,251,778
Capital Assets:
Land and Construction in Progress 232,787,451 302,955 233,090,406 -
Other Capital Assets, Net 526,328,836 2,062,668 528,391,504 12,872,293
Capital Assets, Net 759,116,287 2,365,623 761,481,910 12,872,293
Total Assets $ 913441315 §$  2,843247 § 916,284,562 § 23432.051
Liabilidies:
Accounts payable $ 17,596,103 § 35363 § 17,631,466 § 201,678
Deposits payable 443,765 - 443,765 -
Accrued liabilities 1,710,278 - 1,710,278 -
Deferred revenues 6,248,387 - 6,248,387 -
Total current liabilities 25,998,533 35,363 26,033,896 201,678
Long-term liabilities due within one year 6,385,000 - 6,385,000 -
Long-term liabilities due in more than one year 148,483,132 29,498 148,512,630 236,997
Total liabilities 180,866,665 64,861 180,931,526 438,675
Net Assets:
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 605,125,522 2,365,623 607,491,145 12,872,293
Restricted 11,707,820 - 11,707,820 -
Unrestricted Assets 115,741,308 412,763 116,154,071 10,121,083
Total net assets 732,574,650 2,778,386 735,353,036 22,993,376
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 913441315 § 2843247 § 916,284,562 $ 23,432,051

these financial statements.
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Operating Revenues:
Charges for services:

Water system

Sewer system

Golf course fees
Interdepartmental charges
Other

Total operating revenue

Operating Expenses:

Purchased services

Payment in lieu of taxes
Utilitiy charges

Personnel services and benefits
Professional services

Materials and supplies
Maintenance and repairs

Other expenses

Depreciation

Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Investment income

Gain (loss) on sale of equipment
Interest expense

Connection fees

Donated assets

Contribution in-aid

Debt service contributions

Other

Change in net assets

Total Net Assets - June 30, 2002

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)

Total Net Assets - July 1, 2001, restated (Note 6)

—
COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES Exhibit 6
AND CHANAGES IN NET ASSETS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2002
Business Type Activities - Enterprise Funds Internal
Water and Belmont Park Service
Sewer Revenue Golf Course Total Funds
$ 32599962 § - § 32599962 § -
33,331,230 - 33,331,230 -
- 913,210 913,210 -
- - - 11,896,064
1,397,074 82,925 1,479,999 3,140
67,328,266 996,135 68,324,401 11,899,204
13,128,297 22,365 13,150,662 -
3,973,305 - 3,973,305 -
2,404,481 52,994 2,457.475 -
9,997,044 446,261 10,443,305 2,508,867
3,255,777 100,633 3,356,410 -
2,701,855 91,120 2,792,975 3,623,181
576,833 200,568 777,401 1,014,381
1,791,387 30,176 1,821,563 3,091,423
14,121,299 109,633 14,230,932 1,512,814
51,950,278 1,053,750 53,004,028 11,750,666
15,377,988 (57,615) 15,320,373 148,538
2,138,408 - 2,138,408 -
- (3.857) (3,857) 114,265 *
(748,558) - (748,558) -
14,897,347 - 14,897,347 -
17,222,695 - 17,222,695 -
. - - 1,297,678
934,043 - 934,043 -
3,101,557 - 3,101,557 -
37,545,492 (3.857) 37,541,635 1,411,943
52,923,480 (61,472) 52,862,008 1,560,481
679,651,170 2,839,858 682,491,028 21,432,895
$ 732574650 § 2,778,386 § 735353036 § 22993,376

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS Exhibit 7
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2002

Business Type Activities - Enterprise Funds Internal
Water and Belmont Park Service
Sewer Revenue Golf Course Total Funds
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Receipts from customers $ 66019437 § 996,135 § 67,015572 $§ 11,899,381
Payments to suppliers (16,178,223) (502,919) (16,681,142) (7,793,492)
Payments to employees (9.911,546) (446,261) (10,357,807) (2,487,085)
Payment in lieu of taxes (3,973,305) - (3,973,305) -
Net cash provided by operating activities 35,956,363 46,955 36,003,318 1,618,804
Cash Flows From Noo-Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Payment on advance from the general fund - (100,000) (100,000)
Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Purchase of capital assets (91,640,132) (49,416) (91,689,548) (1,403,267)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 69,093 - 69,093 238,635
Connection fees paid by contractors 14,897,347 14,897,347 -
Capital contribution - - - 1,297,678
Debt service contributions 934,043 - 934,043 -
Contribution from State 7,587,205 7,587,205 -
Payments to IRS (405,468) - (405,468) -
Interest paid on bonds (7,151,562) - (7,151,562) -
Principal paid on bonds (5,960,000) - (5,960,000) -
Net cash (used in) provided by capital and
related financing activities (81,669,474) (49.416) (81,718,890) 133,046
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Interest income 2,138,408 - 2,138,408 -
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash (43,574,703) (102,461) (43,677,164) 1,751,850
Cash and Cash Equivalents- July 1, 2001 171,937,764 580,085 172,517,849 8,352,803
Cash and Cash Equivalents - June 30, 2002 $ 128363,061 § 477,624 § 128,840,685 § 10,104,653
Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash
by Operating Activities:
Operating income (loss) $ 15377988 3% (57,615) $ 15320373 148,538

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 14,121,299 109,633 14,230,932 1,512,814
Increase in accounts and notes receivable (825,643) - (825,643) (177)
Decrease in inventories 64,113 - 64,113 115,764
Increase in prepaids (10,000) - (10,000) -
Increase in other assets (15,567) - (15,567) -
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 7,704,758 (2,612) 7,702,146 (170,012)
Increase in deposits payable 37,514 - 37,514
Increase (decrease) in accrued compensated absences 22,602 (2,451) 20,151 11,877
Decrease in deferred revenue (520,701) - (520,701) -
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 35956363 § 46,955 $ 36,003,318 § 1,618,804

Reconciliation to Cash Income and Cash Equivalents
on the Balance Sheet:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 104,169,035 % 477,624 $ 104,646,659 10,104,653
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 24,194,026 - 24,194,026 -
Cash - June 30, 2002 § 128,363,061 § 477624 $ 128,840,685 $ 10,104,653

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities: .
The Water and Sewer Fund received donated assets in the form of infrastructure provided by developers of
new subdivisions throughout the County. The value of the assets received during the year was $ 17,222,695.
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS Exhibit 8
FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
JUNE 30, 2002

Agency
Funds

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents _$ 2,689,489
Total Assets S 2689489

Liabilities:
Payable to others $ 2,689,489

Total Liabilities S 2,689.489

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements,
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS Exhibit 9
COMPONENT UNITS
JUNE 30, 2002
James River
School Juvenile Detention
Board Center Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 19,584,697 § 3,649,371  $ 23,234,068
Restricted cash - 31,245 31,245
Due from other governmental units 6,657,581 78,709 6,736,290
Other assets 30,771 22,562 53,333
Total current assets 26,273,049 3,781,887 30,054,936
Capital assets:
Land and construction in progress 28,348,784 30,000 28,378,784
Other capital assets, net 125,633,035 9,265,580 134,898,615
Capital assets, net 153,981,819 9,295,580 163,277,399
Total Assets $ 180,254,868 $ 13077467 § 193,332,335
Liabilities:
Accounts payable s 3,262,808 §$ 229,820 $ 3,492,628
Accrued liabilities 14,362 - 14,362
Amounts held for others 3,547,342 - 3,547,342
Deferred revenues 1,951,330 - 1,951,330
Due to primary government - 957,465 957,465
Total current liabilities 8,775,842 1,187,285 9,963,127
Long-term liabilities due within one year 5,008,204 350,000 . 5,358,204
Long-term liabilities due in more than one year 17,919,358 6,445,000 24,364,358
Total liabilities 31,703,404 7,982,285 39,685,689
Net Assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 137,440,153 2,896,501 140,336,654
Restricted - 40,754 40,754
Unrestricted assets 11,111,311 2,157,927 13,269,238
Total net assets ’ 148,551,464 5,095,182 153,646,646
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 180.254.868 $ 13,077,467 § 193,332.335

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES Exhibit 10
COMPONENT UNITS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002

Program Revenues
Opersting Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and School
E Services Centributiens Contributions Board JRDC Total
Governmental Activities:
School Board:

Instructional S _271,184219 $ 8168672 _$ 141,186212 S - _3(121,829335) § - § (121,3829,335)

Total School Board 271,184,219 8,168,672 141,186,212 - (121,829,335) - (121,829,335)
Business Type Activities:

James River Juvenile .
Detention Center 4,169,550 173,875 2,702,347 46,265 - (1,247,063) (1,247,063)

Total Component Units S 275353769 3 _ 8342547 § 143888559 § 46,265 § (121.829335) § (1,247.063) § (123,076.398)

General revenues:

Interest and investment earnings s - S 24710 § 24,710
Payment from County . - 809,038 809,038
Payment from the Commonwealth - 3,641,400 3,641,400
Recovered costs 389,521 - 389,521
Miscellaneous 1,002,109 - 1,002,109
Educational contribution 157,284,901 - 157,284,901
Total general revenues $ 158676531 § 4475148 § 163,151,679

Change in net assets $ 36847196 § 3228085 § 40075281
Net Assets at July 1 2001 111,704,268 1,867,097 - 113,571,365
Net Assets at June 30, 2002 $ 148551464 § 5095182 $ 153,646,646
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2002

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting and reporting policies of the County of Henrico the ("County”) conform to generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) in the United States of America applicable to governmental units promulgated by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB"). The following is a summary of the County's more significant
policies:

A. Reporting Entity

In June 1999, GASB issued Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements — and Management's Discussion and
Analysis ~ for State and Local Governments. This statement, known as the “Reporting Model” statement,
affects the way the County prepares and presents financial information. State and local governments
traditionally have used a financial reporting model substantially different from the one used to prepare private-
sector financial reports.

GASB Statement No. 34 establishes new requirements and a new reporting model for the annual financial
reports of state and local governments. The Statement was developed to make annual reports easier to
understand and more useful to the people who use govemmental financial information to make decisions.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis — GASB Statement No. 34 requires that financial statements be
accompanied by a narrative introduction and analytical overview of the government’s financial activities
in the form of “management’s discussion and analysis” (MD&A). This analysis is similar to the analysis
the private sector provides in their annual reports.

Govemment-wide Financial Statements — The reporting model includes financial statements prepared
using full accrual accounting for all of the government’s activities. This approach includes not just
current assets and liabilities (such as cash and accounts payable) but also capital assets and long-term
liabilities (such as buildings and infrastructure, including bridges and roads, and general obligation debt).
Accrual accounting also reports all of the revenues and cost of providing services each year, not just
those received or paid in the current year or soon thereafter.

Statement of Net Assets — The Statement of Net Assets is designed to display the financial position of the
primary government (government and business-type activities) and its directly presented component
units. Governments will report all capital assets, including infrastructure, in the government-wide
Statement of Net Assets and will report depreciation expense - the cost of “using up” capital assets — in
the Statement of Activities. The net assets of a government will be broken down into three categories: 1)
invested in capital assets, net of related debt; 2) restricted; and 3) unrestricted.

Statement of Program Activities — The new government-wide statement of activities reports expenses and
revenues in a format that focuses on the cost of the government’s functions. The expense of individual
functions is compared to the revenues generated directly by the function (for instance, through user
charges or intergovernmental grants).

Budgetary Comparison Schedules — Demonstrating compliance with the adopted budget is an important
component of a government’s accountability to the public. Many citizens participate in one way or
another in the process of establishing the annual operating budgets of state and local governments, and
have a keen interest in following the actual financial progress of their governments over the course of the
year. Many governments revise their original budgets over the course of the year for a variety of reasons.
Under the new reporting model, governments will continue to provide budgetary comparison information
in their annual reports. An important change, however, is a requirement to add the government’s original
budget to the current comparison of final budget and actual results.

As required by the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, these financial statements

present the primary government and its component units, entities for which the government is considered to be
financially accountable. Blended component units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2002

the government’s operations and so data from these units are combined with data of the primary government.
The County has no component units that meet the requirements for blending. The discretely presented
component unit, on the other hand, is reported in a separate column in the government-wide statements to
emphasize they are legally separate from the primary government. Each discretely presented component unit
has a June 30 fiscal year-end.

In accordance with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting
Entity, the County has presented those entities which comprise the primary government along with discretely
presented component units in the government-wide financial statements.

Discretely Presented Component Units:
School Board

The Elected School Board is a legally separate organization providing elementary and secondary
education to residents within the government's jurisdiction and is fiscally dependent on the County,
receiving more than SO percent of its funding from the County. The nature and significance of the
relationship between the County and the School Board is such that excluding the School Board would
cause the financial statements to be misleading and incomplete. The School Board does not prepare a

separate financial report.

James River Juvenile Detention Commission

The James River Juvenile Detention Commission (“JRIDC™) is a separate organization established to
provide juvenile detention facilities for the Counties of Goochland, Henrico and Powhatan. There are
five voting members of the Commission, of which three members represent Henrico and one each
represents Goochland and Powhatan. The five Commission members are appointed by their respective
county boards. The Commission is financially dependent on the member jurisdictions. The operating
costs are allocated among the member jurisdictions based on proportionate usage. Complete financial
statements for the Commission may be obtained from the Chairman George T. Drumwright, Jr., P.O. Box

27032, Richmond, VA. 23273.
Joint Venture:

Capital Region Airport Commission

The Capital Region Airport Commission is an intergovernmental joint venture and issues separate
financial statements. The required information regarding the joint venture is presented in Note 17.

Government-wide and Fund Accounting Statements

The basic financial statements include both government-wide (based on the County as a whole) and fund
financial statements. While the previous reporting model emphasized fund types (the total of all funds of a
particular type), in the new reporting model the focus is on either the County as a whole or major individual
funds (within the fund financial statements). Both the government-wide and fund financial statements (within
the basic financial statements) categorize primary activities as either governmental or business type. In the
government-wide Statement of Net Assets, both the governmental and business-type activities columns (a) are
presented on a consolidated basis by column, and (b) are reflected, on a full accrual, economic resource basis,
which incorporates long-term assets and receivables as well as long-term debt and obligations.

The government-wide Statement of Activities reflects both the gross and net cost per functional category (public
safety, public works, health and welfare, etc.) which are otherwise being supported by generai government
revenues (property, sales and use taxes, certain intergovernmental revenues, fines, permits and charges, etc.).
The Statement of Activities reduces gross expenses (including depreciation) by related program revenues,
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2002

operating and capital grants and contributions. The program revenues must be directly associated with the
function (public safety, public works, health and welfare, etc.) or the business-type activity.

Program revenues include charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods,
services, or privileges provided by a given function and grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting
the operation or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly
included among program revenues are reported as general revenues. The County does not allocate indirect
expenses. The operating grants include operating-specific and discretionary (either operating or capital) grants
while the capital grants column reflects capital-specific grants.

The governmental funds major fund statements in the fund financial staternents are presented on a current
financial resource and modified accrual basis of accounting. This is the manner in which these funds are
normally budgeted. Since the governmental fund statements are presented on a different measurement focus and
basis of accounting than the government-wide statements’ governmental column, a reconciliation is presented
which briefly explains the adjustments necessary to reconcile the fund financial statements with the government-

wide financial statements.

The County’s fiduciary funds, which consist of agency funds, are presented in the fund financial statements.
Since by definition these assets are being held for the benefit of a third party (other local governments, private
parties, pension participants, etc.) and cannot be used to address activities or obligations of the government,
these funds are not incorporated into the govemment-wide statements.

The focus of the revised mode! is on the County as a whole and the fund financial statements, including the
major individual funds of the govemmental and business-type categories, as well as the fiduciary funds, (by
category) and the component units. Each presentation provides valuable information that can be analyzed and
compared to enhance the usefulness of the information.

In the fund financial statements, financial transactions and accounts of the County are organized on the basis of
funds which are considered to be a separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for by
providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and
expenditures, or expenses, as appropriate. The funds are grouped in the fund financial statements in fund types
as follows:

Govemmental Funds:

General Fund

The General Fund accounts for all revenues and expenditures of the County which are not accounted for
in the other funds. Revenues are primarily derived from general property taxes, local sales taxes, license
and permit fees, and revenues received from the State.

A significant part of the General Fund's revenues is used to maintain and operate the general government,
which is accounted for in the General Fund, or is transferred to other funds principally to fund debt
service requirements and capital projects. Expenditures include, among other things, those for public
safety, highways and streets, welfare, culture and recreation. The General Fund is considered a major

fund for reporting purposes.
Special Revenue Fund

The Special Revenue Fund accounts for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally
restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. The Special Revenue Fund is considered a major fund

for reporting purposes.
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2002

Debt Service Fund

The Debt Service Fund accounts for the accumulation of financial resources for the payment of interest
and principal on all governmental fund long-term debt except for accrued compensated absences and
capital lease obligations for equipment which are paid by the fund incurring such expenditures. Debt
Service Fund resources are derived from transfers from the General Fund and the Special Revenue Fund.
The Debt Service Fund is considered a major fund for reporting purposes.

Capital Projects Fund

The Capital Projects Fund accounts for all general government and school related capital projects which
are financed through a combination of proceeds from general obligation bonds and operating transfers
from the General Fund. The Capital Projects Fund is considered a major fund for reporting purposes.

Proprietary Funds:

Enterprise Funds

Enterprise Funds account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private
business enterprises, where the intent of the County is that the cost of providing services to the general
public be financed or recovered through charges to users of such services. All assets, liabilities, equities,
revenues, expenses, and payments relating to the government’s business activities are accounted for
through these funds. The measurement focus is on determination of net income, financial position, and
cash flows. Operating revenues include charges for services. Operating expenses inciude costs of
services as well as, materials, contracts, personnel, and depreciation. All revenues and expenses not
meeting these definitions are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.

These funds include the operation, maintenance and construction of the County-owned water and
wastewater (sewer) utility (considered a single segment for financial reporting purposes) and the County-
owned golf course. These funds are considered to be business-type activities in the government-wide
financial statements.

Internal Service Funds

The Internal Service Funds accounts for the County's Central Automotive Maintenance operation and
Technology Replacement Fund. Resources for these funds come from interdepartmental charges. The
Internal Service Funds are included in governmental activities for government-wide reporting purposes.
As a general rule, the effect of inter-fund activity has been eliminated from the govermnment-wide
financial statements. The excess revenue or expenses for the fund is allocated to the appropriate

functional activity.
Fiduciary Funds:

Agency Funds

Agency Funds account for fiduciary funds administered by the County and are custodial in nature (assets
equal liabilities) and do not involve measurement of results of operations.

Capita] Assets and Long-Term Liabilities

The accounting and reporting treatment applied to the capital assets and long-term liabilities associated with a
fund is determined by its measurement focus. All Governmental Funds are accounted for on a spending or
nfinancial flow" measurement focus. This means that only current assets and current liabilities are generally
included on their balance sheets. Their reported fund balance (net current assets) is considered 2 measure of
navailable resources to be spent”. Govenmental Fund operating statements present increases (revenues and
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2002

other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net current assets.
Accordingly, they are said to present a summary of sources and uses of "available spendable resources" during a
period. Capital assets and long-term liabilities are not recorded in the fund financial statements, however, a
reconciliation of the fund balance to the Statement of Net Assets in the governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements is provided to account for the differences between the two statements (i.e.
capital assets and long-term liabilities, etc.).

Capital outlays are recorded as expenditures of the General, Special Revenue, and Capital Projects Funds and as
assets in the government-wide financial statements to the extent the County’s capitalization threshold of $2,500
for land and equipment and $25,000 for buildings, improvements and infrastructure is met. In accordance with
GASB Statement No. 34, infrastructure has been capitalized retroactively to 1980. Depreciation is recorded on
general capital assets on a governmental-wide basis using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives

are as follows:

Buildings 25 - 50 years
Improvements 20 - 50 years
Equipment 4 - 30 years
Infrastructures 10 - 65 years

All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available.

Estimated historical cost was primarily used for land costs (for which the historical assessment records of the
County were used). Donated fixed assets are valued at their estimated fair value on the date donated. When
capital assets are sold or retired, their costs are removed from the accounts and the gain or loss for the disposal is
reflected in current revenues.

Long-term assets and long-term liabilities are not included in the fund financial statements but are included in
the government-wide statements. Operating statements of these funds present increases (i.e., revenues and other
financing sources) and decreases (i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) in net current assets.

Proprietary Funds

All Proprietary Funds are accounted for on a cost of services or "capital maintenance” measurement focus. This
means that all assets and all liabilities (whether current or non-current) associated with their activity are included
on their balance sheets. Their reported net assets are segregated into invested in capital assets net of related
debt, restricted and unrestricted net assets. Proprietary Fund type operating statements present increases
(revenues) and decreases (expenses) in net total assets.

Capital assets for the Proprietary Funds are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Gifts or
contributions are recorded as an asset at their fair value at date of receipt. With the adoption of GASB No. 33,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Non-Exchange Transactions, in 2001, the County also records the
receipts of the gifts or contributions as revenues.

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets used by Proprietary Funds is charged as an expense against their
operations. Accumulated depreciation is reported on Proprietary Funds' balance sheets. Depreciation has been
provided over the estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives are as

follows:

Buildings 25 - 50 years
Improvements 20 - 50 years
Equipment 4 - 30 years
Infrastructures 10 - 65 years

When Proprietary Fund assets are sold or retired, their costs and related accumulated depreciation are removed
from the accounts and the gains or losses are reflected in the income statement.
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Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of commitments and
contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Basis of Accounting — Financial Statements

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in the accounts and
reported in the financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the measurements made,

regardless of the measurement focus applied.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide statements of net assets and statements of activities, all proprietary funds, and fiduciary
funds are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all
assets and all liabilities associated with the operation of these activities are either included on the balance sheet
or on the statement of net assets. Proprietary fund-type operating statements present increases (i.e., revenues)
and decreases (i.e., expenses) in net total assets.

The statements of net assets, statements of activities, financial statements of the Proprietary Funds and Fiduciary
Funds are presented on the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method of accounting, revenues are
recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when liabilities are incurred without regard to receipt or
disbursement of cash. :

Governmental Funds Financial Statements

Governmental Funds utilize the modified accrual basis of accounting under which revenues and related assets
are recorded when measurable and available to finance operations during the year. Accordingly, real and
personal property taxes are recorded as revenues and receivables when billed, net of allowances for un-
collectible amounts. As required by Virginia statute, property taxes not collected within 60 days after year end
are reflected as deferred revenues - uncollected property taxes. Sales and utility taxes, which are collected by
the State and public utilities and subsequently remitted to the County, are recognized as revenues and
receivables when collected by the State and the utilities (generally in the month preceding receipt by the
County).

Licenses, permits, and fines are recorded as revenues when received. Intergovernmental revenues, consisting
primarily of federal, state and other grants used for the purpose of funding specific expenditures, are recognized
when eamed or at the time of the specific expenditure. Revenues from general purpose grants are recognized in
the period to which the grant applies.

Expenditures are generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related fund
liability is incurred. Exceptions to this general rule are principal and interest on general long-term debt which is

recognized when due.

Proprietary Funds

The accrual basis of accounting is used for the Enterprise and Internal Service Funds. Under the accrual
method, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they are earned, while expenses are
recognized in the accounting period in which the related liability is incurred.
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Fiduciary Funds

Agency Funds utilize the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

The County adheres to the following procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial
statements:

In January, the Superintendent of Schools submits a proposed budget to the School Board, which conducts
public hearings to obtain taxpayer comments. The School Board will then adopt a School Budget, and submit it
to the County Board of Supervisors before March 1%,

Prior to April 1, the County Manager submits to the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) a proposed operating
budget for the fiscal year commencing July 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the
means of financing them. A public hearing is conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.

The County Board of Supervisors will hold a public hearing on the total County budget (including Schools), and
then adopt the County budget before the end of April.

Prior to May 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution. Prior to July 1, the Board
approves the Appropriations Resolution (the "Resolution"). The Resolution places legal restrictions on
expenditures at the function level.

The County Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between departments within any fund;
however, any revisions that alter the total budgeted amounts and/or appropriations of any fund must be approved
by the Board of Supervisors.

Although legal restrictions on expenditures are established at the function level, effective administrative control
over expenditures is maintained through the establishment of more detailed line-item budgets.

Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with GAAP. Annual operating budgets are adopted for all
Governmental Funds (including Schools) except for the Capital Projects Fund, in which effective budgetary
control is achieved on a project-by-project basis when funding sources become available. Budgeted amounts
shown are as amended by the Board of Supervisors during the course of the fiscal year.

All appropriations lapse at year end, except those for the Capital Projects Fund. It is the intention of the Board
of Supervisors that appropriations for Capital Projects continue until completion of the project. This is
reaffirmed each year by the Board in an appropriation Board paper.

Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for the expenditure of
monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is employed as an extension
of formal budgetary integration in the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds and Capital Projects Fund. While
appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year for the General Fund and Special Revenue Funds, the
succeeding year's budget ordinance specifically provides for the re-appropriation of year-end encumbrances.
Encumbrances which have been re-appropriated are reported as reservations of fund balances since they do not
constitute expenditures or liabilities.

Inventory and Prepaid Expenses

Proprietary Funds

Inventory consists mainly of supplies and spare parts held for consumption which are costed by methods which
approximate average cost. Prepaid expenses represent a deposit made to an outside company for postage for the
weekly mailing of utility bills. Amounts are expensed under the consumption method as the bills are mailed.
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L Interest

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statements No. 34 and 62, Capitalization
of Interest Cost and Capitalization of Interest Cost in Situations Involving Certain Tax-Exempt Borrowings and
Certain Gifts and Grants, the cost of properties for the Water and Sewer segment of the Enterprise Funds
includes net interest costs incurred during the construction period on funds borrowed to finance the acquisition
or construction of major facilities. For the year ended June 30, 2002, the Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund
incurred interest of $7,053,268 of which $6,304,710 was capitalized.

J. Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs are deferred and amortized using the straight-line method over the term of the related
issues.

K. Accrued Compensated Absences

Annual leave is granted to all permanent County employees and certain permanent County School System
("School™) employees. County and School employees can earn annual leave at the rate of 4 hours for every 80
standard hours worked up to a maximum of 7 hours for every 80 standard hours after 20 years of service. While
there is no requirement that annual leave be taken, the maximum permissible accumulation is 364 hours for
County employees and 52 days for School employees. Accumuiated annual leave vests and the County is
obligated to make payment even if the employee terminates. The current and non-current liability for unused
and unpaid annual leave attributable to the County's Governmental Funds is recorded in the government-wide
financial statements. The amounts attributable to the Proprietary Funds (Enterprise and Intemnal Service Funds)
are charged to expense and corresponding liabilities established in the applicable Proprietary Funds.

County and School Board employees can eam sick leave at the rate of 4 hours for every 80 standard hours
worked and 13 days per year, respectively, without limitation on accumulation. Sick leave is non-vesting with
the exception of employees retiring from service. Retiring employees are vested at a rate of $2.00 for every
hour of sick leave eamed with 2 maximum payment of $4,000. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 16,
Accounting for Compensated Absences, the liability has been recorded using the termination payment method.

L. Reserved and Designated Fund Balance
Governmental fund balance reserves are used to indicate the portion of the fund balance which is not

appropriated for expenditures or is legally segregated for a specific future use. Designations of portions of the
fund balance are established to indicate tentative plans for financial resource utilization in a future period.

Designation of fund balance by purpose is as follows:

Special Debt Capital
General Revenue Service Projects
Fund Funds Fund Fund
Self-insurance (See Note 8-C) $ 5,500,000 S - s - $ -
Debt service - - 7,571,989 -
Construction commitments - - - 48,005,720
Capital projects 1,818,042 - - .
National School Lunch Prog. - - - -
High School Lunch Prog. - - - .
Street Lighting - 531,530 - -
State and Federal Grant - 4,721,162 - -
Solid Waste - 7.978,675 - -
For 2001-02 FY Budget 2,913,941 - - -
All Others 13,876,239 - - .
County Agency - 701,399 - -
Total designated

for specific purposes 524108222 £.13932766 1570989 $.48,005,720
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M.  Statement of Cash Flows

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 9, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Non-expendable Trust
Funds and Governmental Entities that Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, the County has presented a statement
of cash flows for the Proprietary Funds. For purposes of this statement, cash and cash equivalents are defined as
short-term highly liquid investments that are both readily convertible to known amounts of cash and investments
with original maturities of 90 days or less.

N. GASB Statement No. 20 Election

GASB Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental
Entities that use Proprietary Fund Accounting, requires proprietary activities to apply all applicable GASB
pronouncements as well as FASB pronouncements, Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinions, and
Accounting Research Bulletins ("ARBs") issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless these pronouncements
conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements. In accordance with GASB No. 20, management has elected
not to apply FASB pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989.

0. New Accounting Pronouncements

During fiscal year 2002, the County adopted GASB Statement No. 34 Basic Financial Statements — and
Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments. This statement establishes new
financial reporting requirements for state and local govermments. The County also adopted GASB Statement
No. 37 Basic Financial Statements — and Management's Discussion and Analysis for State and Local
Governments: Omnibus, and GASB Statement No. 38 Certain Financial Statement Note Disclosures. These
statements provide additional guidance related to GASB Statement No. 34 and are required to be implemented
along with GASB Statement No. 34.

The County also adopted Senate Bill 276 that was added to the Code of Virginia in 2002. This new legislation
was enacted to revise the reporting of local school capital assets and related debt for financial statement
purposes. Under the new law, local governments now have a “tenancy in common” with the school board
whenever the locality incurs any financial obligation for any school property which is payable over more than
one fiscal year. This legislation permits the County to report the portion of the school property related to
general obligation bonds outstanding eliminating any potential deficit from capitalizing assets financed with
debt. The County has incorporated the requirements of this new legislation in the fiscal year 2002 CAFR.

In May 2002, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 39 Determining Whether
Certain Organizations Are Component Units — an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14. This Statement
provides additional guidance to determine whether certain organizations for which the primary government is
not financially accountable should be reported as component units based on the nature and significance of their
relationship with the primary government. The County has not completed the evaluation of the impact that the
implementation of this Statement will have on the financial statements of the County. The County will adopt
this Statement for the fiscal year ending 2004.

NOTE 2. DEPQSITS AND INVESTMENTS

The County maintains a cash and temporary investment pool that is available for use by all funds, except School
Activity Agency Funds. Each fund type's portion of this pool is displayed on the combined balance sheet as “Equity in
cash and temporary investments”. In addition, cash and investments are separately held for several of the County's

funds.

Highly liquid investments with maturities of 90 days or less from date of purchase are considered cash equivalents. In
accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and External
Investment Pools, investments are shown at fair value; except for commercial paper, banker’s acceptances, Treasury
and Agency obligations that have a remaining maturity at the time of purchase of one year or less are shown at
amortized cost. Fair value is based on quoted market prices which are provided by the County’s Investment Manager,
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Wachovia Bank, as of June 30, 2002. The net increase in fair value of investments during the year ended June 30,
2002, was $1,094,394. This amount takes into account all changes in fair value that occurred during the year.

The County participates in a2 Government Money Market Fund and a State Non-Arbitrage Pool which are SEC-
registered.

Deposits

At June 30, 2002, the carrying value of the County's deposits with banks was $50,234,997 and the bank balance was
$56,897,138. All of the bank balance was covered by Federal Depository Insurance or collateralized in accordance
with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act (the “Act™). Under the Act, banks holding public deposits in excess
of the amounts insured by FDIC must pledge collateral in the amount of 50 percent of excess deposits to a collateral
pool in the name of the State Treasury Board. The State Treasury Board is responsible for monitoring compliance with
the collateralization and reporting requirements of the Act and for notifying local govemnments of compliance by banks.
A multiple financial institution collateral pool that provides for additional assessments is similar to depository
insurance. If any member financial institution fails, the entire collateral pool becomes available to satisfy the claims of
governmental entities. If the value of the pool's collateral is inadequate to cover a loss, additional amounts would be

assessed on a pro rata basis to the members of the pool.

The carrying amount of deposits for the School Board, a discretely presented component unit, was $2,615,734 and the
bank balance was $2,962,632. All of the bank balance was covered by Federal Depository Insurance or collateralized
in accordance with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act.

The carrying amount of deposits for the James River Juvenile Detention Commission, a discretely presented
component unit, was $2,746,146 and the bank balance was $2,746,146. All of the bank balance was covered by
Federal Depository Insurance or collateralized in accordance with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act.

Investments

Statutes authorize the County to invest in obligations of the United States of America or agencies thereof, obligations
of the Commonwealth of Virginia or political subdivisions thereof, obligations of the International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development (World Bank), the Asian Development Bank, the African Development Bank, "prime
quality" commercial paper and certain corporate notes, bankers’ acceptances, repurchase agreements and the State
Treasurer's Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP).

The County's investments are categorized to give an indication of the level of risk assumed by the entity at year end.
Category | includes investments that are insured or registered or for which the securities are held by the County or its
safekeeping agent in the County's name. Category 2 includes uninsured or unregistered investments for which the
securities are held by the financial institution's trust department or safekeeping agent in the County's name. Category 3
includes uninsured and unregistered investments for which the securities are held by the broker or dealer or by its

safekeeping agent.
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At year-end, the County's investment balances were as follows:

Category Carrying Fair
1 3 Amount Value

U.S. Government Securities $193,080,604 - - § 193,080,604  $ 193,080,604
Commercial Paper 61.596.624 - - 61,596,624 61,596,624
Total $254,677.228 - - 254,677,228 254,677,228
Investments Not Subject to Categorization:
Investments in Government Money Market Fund 9,190,141 9,190,141
Investment in State Non-Arbitrage Pool 70,300,580 70,300,580
Total Investments $ 334,167,949 $ 334,167,949
Total Deposits 50,234,997 50,234,997
Total Held by Fiscal Agent 7,026,211 7,026,211
Total Cash on Hand ____ 94266 94,266
Total Deposits and Investments $391,523423
At year-end, the Schools’ investment balances were as follows:

Cat%ggﬂ Carryin Fair

1 3 Amonntg Value
U.S. Government Securities $ 10,053,700 - - $ 10,053,700 $ 10,053,700
Commercial Paper 3,207,334 - - 3,207,334 3.207.334
Total $ 13261034 - - 13,261,034 13,261,034
Investments Not Subject to Categorization:
Investments in Government Money Market Fund 478,530 478,530
Total Investments $ 13,739,564 $ 13,739,564
Total Deposits 2,615,734 2,615,734
Total Cash on Hand 1,000 1,000
Total Deposits and Investments
At year-end, the James River Juvenile Detention Commission’s investment balances were as follows:
Carrying Fair

Investments Not Subject to Categorization: Amount _ Value
Investment in Government Money Market Fund 934,070 934,070
Total Investments 3 934,070 §% 934,070
Total Deposits 2,746,146 2,746,146
Total Cash on Hand 400 400
Total Deposits and Investments 33680616

The School Activity Funds’ cash of $3,228,399, not under the control of the Director of Finance, is not pooled with the
Reporting Entity cash and investments, and therefore, is not included in the above presentation. These deposits were
covered by Federal Depository Insurance or collateralized in accordance with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits

Act.
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NOTE 3. RECEIVABLES

Receivables at June 30, 2002 consist of the following:

Primary Government

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
Special Enterprise

Receivables: General __Revenue Fund Total
Interest $ 1,381,845 $ - $ - $ 1,381,845

Taxes 16,826,456 - - 16,826,456

Accounts 2,947.171 2.823.197 15,101,418 20,871,786
Gross Receivables 21,155,472 2,823,197 15,101,418 39,080,087
Less: Allowances for

Doubtful Accounts 4.623.752 1,661,390 283.900 6,569,042
Net Receivables 316,531,720 3 L161.807 $ 14817518 $.32511,045

Long-term assets on a government-wide basis include taxes receivabie of $9,071,493 that are not available to pay for
current period expenditures and are therefore are offset by the deferred revenue for the governmental funds. Tax
revenue reported on a government-wide basis included $9,940,096 of revenue that does not provide current financial
resources, and therefore, is not reported in the governmental funds.

Component Units

School
Receivables: Board JRIDC Total
Accounts 5 - $ 65,080 $ 65,080
Intergovernmental 6.657,581 13,629 6,671,210
Total Receivables $ 0657581 S 78700 36,736,290

Receivables are presented net of appropriate allowances for doubtful accounts. The County calculates its allowances
using historical collection data, specific account analysis and management's judgment. All of the Component Units’
receivables are considered to be collectible.

NOTE 4. PROPERTY TAXES

Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of January 1. Taxes are levied in April and are payable in
two installments on June 5th and December 5th. The County bills and collects its own property taxes. Property taxes
levied are recorded as receivables, net of allowance for estimated un-collectible accounts, to the extent that they are

currently due.

The Virginia General Assembly passed S.B. 4005, the Personal Property Tax Relief Act (“PPTRA”) in April 1998.
The bill provides for the State to reimburse a portion of the tangible Personal Property Tax levied on personal use cars,
motorcycles and trucks. Reimbursement rates are contingent upon the State meeting revenue projections. If
projections are not met, the rates to localities will be frozen at the previous level. The reimbursement was 12.5 percent
of the tax on the first $20,000 of the value of the qualifying vehicle, in tax year 1998 and made directly to the
taxpayers. The reimbursement rate was 27.5 percent for tax year 1999 increasing to 47.5 percent for tax year 2000, and
70.0 percent for tax years 2001 and 2002. Reimbursements after the year 1998 are made to the localities. For tax year
2002, the State reimbursement receivable is reflected as a due from other governments and is offset by deferred
revenue. Revenue for the State reimbursement is recorded as non-categorical aid from the State. Localities will

continue to assess and administer the Personal Property Tax Relief program.
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NOTE 5. DUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTAL UNITS

Amounts due from other governmental units at June 30 include:

Special School

General Revenue Board
Commonwealth of Virginia:
Non-categorical aid for:
Local Sales and Use Tax $ 3,953,317 $ - s -
State Sales and Use Tax - - 2,552,142
Rolling Stock Tax 137,511 - -
Richmond Center Fees 1,649,800 - -
ABC Tax 106,473 - -
Wine Tax 83,566 - -
State Recordation Fees 329,481 - .
Clerk Excess Fees 79,363 - -
Registrar Fees 80,849 - -
PPTRA Revenue 160,244 - .
Categorical 2id for:
Education - - 1,784,135
Social Services 1,100,988 815,136 -
Treasurer 163,039 - -
Public Works - 81,932 -
Correction & Detention 3,784,694 206,758 -
Mental Health & Mental Retardation - 130,834 -
Circuit Court 340,983 - -
Commonwealth Attorney 117,865 62,765 -
Public Safety - 1,871 -
Miscellaneous 43,060 - -
Total due from the Commonwealth of Virginia 12,131,233 1,299,296 4,336,277
Federal Government:
Categorical aid:
Education - - 2,321,304
Work Training Grants (CATC) - 320,088 -
Public Safety - 305,341 -
Correction & Detention - 50,865 -
Recreation & Parks - 28,014 -
Community Development Block Grant - 572,771 -
Social Services 88.620 - -
Total due from the Federal Government 88.620 1,272,079 2,321,304
Local Governments:
Work Training Grants (CATC) - 12931 -
Total due from Local Governments - 12,931 -
Total due from Other Governmental Units $12.219,853 $ 2589306 $ 6,657,581
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NOTE 6. CAPITAL ASSETS AND RELATED RESTATEMENT

A summary of changes in capital assets follows:

Governmental Activities

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:
Land

Construction in Progress
Total Capital Assets
Not Being Depreciated

Other Capital Assets:
Buildings
Infrastructure
Equipment o
Improvements other than buildings

Total Other Capital Assets
Less Accumulated Depreciation for:
Buildings
Infrastructure
Equipment L
improvements other than buildings
Total Accumulated Depreciation

Total Net of Depreciation

Restated
Balance
June 30, 2001

$ 258,778,879
51,768,060

$ 310,546,939

$ 337,999,067
356,912,999
67,069,890
18,599,243

780,581,199

$ §59,378,766
(232,807,975
(30,058,983
8,108,027

330,353,751
$._760.774,387

Increases

$ 6,437,322
39,388,279

$ 45.825,601

$ 5,622,248
16,133,614
7,480,171

1.942.098

31,178,131

$ (6,474,158
(12,520,061
(7,037,375
875.609
$(26.907.203)
£ 50,096,529

_Decreases

$ -
15,948,547
$ 15948547

$ -
943,260

$ 943260

$ -
(716,847)

$ _(716.847)
$ 16174960

Balance
June 30, 2002

$ 265,216,201
75,207,792

$ 340423993

$ 343,621,315
373,046,613
73,606,801
20,541,341

$ 810.816.070

$ (65,852,924
(245,328,036
(36,379,511
8.983.636

$(356.544,107)
$.794,605.956

Government activities capital assets net of accumulated depreciation at June 30, 2002 are comprised of the following:

Genera] Capital Assets, Net

Internal Service Fund Capital Assets, Net

Combined Adjustment

The gross cost and accumulated depreciation balanc
and record accumulated depreciation in accordance

$ 794,695956

es at June 30, 2001 were restated to capitalize infrastructure assets
with the adoption of GASB Statement No. 34. As a result of the

adoption of GASB Statement No. 34, the County hired an independent appraisal firm to conduct an inventory and
appraisal of the majority of the County’s capital assets and infrastructure. As a result of this process, certain items

grevnously recorded as capital assets were not

ound that were not recorded, but should have been recorded in the prior

reclassified from one catefo%hto another cate;

and other assets as neede

e cost approac d
more for a property than the cost of producing a substitute pro
considers the maximum value of the p
to construct or purchase a new asset o A S
adjusted for depreciation and obsolescence as of the effective date of the appraisal.

erty to a knowled
equal utility. W

eable

Eo_ry. The appraisal firm used S

is based on the proposition that an inform
erty with the same utlllg

buyer which would be

cears.

found and were removed from the County’s records. Other items were
In addition, certain items were
e cost approach to value infrastructure
ed purchaser would pay no
as the subject property. It
T 0 ¢ amount currently required
en the subject asset is not new, the current cost must be

The gross cost balances at June 30, 2001 were also restated to reflect an increase in the County’s capitalization
threshold to for land and equipment to $2,500 and buildings and improvements to $25,000.

Balances as of June 30, 2001 were restated to reflect the GASB Statement No. 34 and the legislation change as follows:

Land
Buildings
Improvements

Ec}ggment
Infrastructure
Construction in Progress

ota
Accumulated Depreciation

Total, net

Balance
June 30,2001

$ 32,185,333
220,722,759
9,019,02
122,800,686

34.937.461

[=,)

(7.728.913)
$ 411936352
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Restatement
$ 226,593,546

117,276,308
9,580,217

55,930,796
(356,912,993
16.830.599
(322.624.838)

$ 348838035

Restated
Balance
June 30, 2001

$ 258,778,879

337,999,067
18,599,243

(330353.351)
$_760,774,387
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Depreciation was charged to governmental functions as follows:

General Government Administration $ 3,795, 139
Judicial Administration 6 616
Public Safety 5,466,940
Public Works 13.833.623
Education 2, 035 1962
Health and Welfare 3 164
Parks and Recreation 1, 521 549
Community Development
Total Depreciation $ 26,907,203
Business Type Activities
Water and Sewer:
Restated
Balance Balance

June 30, 2001 Increases Decreases June 30, 2002
Caﬁia%l Assets Not Being Depreciated:

5 11,262,274 § -5 - 3 11,262,274

Other Capital Assets:
Buildings 121,449, l48 3,458,565 233,784 124,673,929
Equipment 34,0735 13 592,362 4,726,152 29,939.723
Improvements 6332 - '633.226
Infrastructure 561,693, 520 7,074,863 578,768,383
Construction in progress 123,335:709 8.816.115 7.126.647 221:525.177
Total Capital Assets § 1 19 941,905 I 12,086,583 ¥ 966,802,712
Accumulated Depreciation (195.973.402) (14,121,297) 2408274 (207,686,425)
Total Net of Depreciation $.___062973988 § 105820608 § 9678300 § 759,116.287

Water and Sewer - balances, as of June 30, 2001 were restated to reflect the effects of the inventory and appraisal
mentioned above as follows:

Restated
Balance Balance
June 30, 2001 Reclassification _Restatement June 30, 2001

Land s 11,314,709 $ - 3 (952 4352 $ 11,262,274
Buildings 47,145,893 72,305,282 121,449,148
Equipment 31,587,957 6,011,047 (3 525, 491; 34.073.513
Improvements 640,651,087 (540 009 8493 (8,012 '633.226
Infrastructure - 61,693,52 561,693,520
Cgl_nsu}.lctlon in Progress 129 709 129.835.709
ota N - (1,587 9335 858,947,390

Accumulated Depreciation 198 481 (2,160!079f 195.973 402
Total, net Iy B ¥ §§2;223;2§§

Belmont Golf Course:

Restated
Balance Balance
June 30, 2001 Increases Decreases June 30, 2002
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:
othLa?:d | $ 250491 $ - 8 - 3 250,491
e ital Assets:
Buildings 1,909,782 ] 2,195 1,907,587
Equipment ’708.234 46,476 69,540 685,170
Improvements 2,178,659 - 1,653 2,177,006
Construction in progress 44,%3 7,841 - 52.464
Total Capital Assets 091, 3 54317 § 73,388 § 5,072,718
Accumulated Depreciation _ (2,666.993) (109.633) (69.531) (2,707.095)
Total Net of Depreciation 2424706 $ _____(55316) §._ 3857 § __ 2365623
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The capital asset balances as of June 30, 2001 were restated to reflect the effects of the inventory and appraisal

mentioned above as follows:

13,166,984

Restated
Balance Balance
June 30, 2001 Restatement June 30, 2001
Land $ 250,491 - $ 250,491
Buildings 1,819,358 90,424 1,909,782
Equipment 644,394 63,840 08,234
Improvements 2,042,655 136,004 2,178,659
qunqucnon in Progress - 44.6
ota P 3 [} D
Accumulated Depreciation (2,494,549) (172.444) (2.666.993)
Total, net $ 2,306972 % 117,824 § 2424796
Component Units
School Board:
Restated
Balance Balance
June 30, 2001 Increases Decreases June 30, 2002
Cafiatal Assets Not Being Depreciated:
nd $ 16,415,040 $ 19,714 $ - 8 16,434,754
Other Capital Assets:
Buildings 167,603,193 16,974,434 - 184,577,627
Equipment 39,952,181 18,432,961 95,429 58,289,713
Improvements 20,074,194 - - 20,074,194
14451,818 15,704,772

11,914,030

Construction in progress
Total Capital Assets T 257,211,592 % 49878927 § 15,800,201 § 291,290,318
(126,187.343) (11,193.531) (72,375) (137,308.499)

$ 131024249 $ _ 38685396 § 15727826 $.__133.981.819

Accumulated Depreciation

Total Net of Depreciation

All depreciation was charged to education.

Component unit - School Board — balances, as of June 30, 2001 were restated to reflect the implementation of GASB
Statement No. 34 and the legislation change as follows:

Restated

Balance Balance
June 30, 2001 Restatement June 30, 2001
Land $ 21,670,320 § 5,255,280) $ 16,415,040
Buildings 245,974,404 g 8,371,211 167,603,193
Equipment 82,679,578 42,727,397 39,952,181
Improvements 258,252 19,815,94 20,074,194
qunstrtllcnon in Progress 29,997,583 16,830,599 13,166,984

ota 380,580,[3; s\ 7 4 ’
Accumulated Depreciation - 126.187.343) _(126.187.343

Total, net $§ 38058013 $_(249,555,888) $ 131,024,249

James River Juvenile Detention Center:

Balance

Balance

June 30, 2001 Increases Decreases June 30, 2002

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:

Land goep $ 30,000 $ .8 .S 30,000
Other Capital Assets:

e . o

Building Improvements » - - ,

Fumniture, Fixtures & Equipment 334,784 14,155 200,460 148,479

Construction in Progrgg P 32,429 ___l_%g%_,‘si%g __%g%g -
Total Capital Assets 9,297,080 034, > L0006,

Accumulated Depreciation (68.820) (249.797) (7.604) (311.013)
Total Net of Depreciation $ 9228260 $ 785,025 & 712,705 § 9 295 S80
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NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT
Governmental Activities

The following is a summary of the changes within the total long-term liabilities of governmental activities for the year
ended June 30, 2002:

Balance Balance

Additions Deletions June 30
General obligation bonds $ 189,535,000 $ 27,035000 § 14,900,000 $ 201,670,000
Capital lease obligations 83,287,435 890,760 5,345,788 78,832,407
Accrued claims payable 5,886,680 7,147,191 2,538,694 10,495,177
Accrued compensated absences 12,345,871 422,528 - 12,768,399
Pension liabilities 3,968,931 - - 3,968,931
Landfill post-closure costs 6.020.699 202,342 - 6.223.041
Total $_ 301044616 $ 35697821 § 22784482 $ 313,957,955
Current maturities (22.029.038)
Net long-term liabilities $.291,928917

Long-term liabilities applicable to the County’s governmental activities are not due and payable in the current period and
accordingly are not reported as fund liabilities in the governmental funds. Interest on long-term debt is not accrued in
governmental funds, but rather is recognized as an expenditure when due.

All liabilities, both current and long-term, are reported in the statement of net assets. The adjustment from modified accrual
to full accrual is as follows:

Balances at June 30, 2002 were:

Long-term liabilities (detail above) $ 313,957,955
Internal Service Fund long-term liabilities (236,997)
Combined adjustment $ 313,720,958

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the fund financial statements for the governmental funds,
expenditures are not recognized for transactions that are not normally paid with expendable available financial resources. In
the govemment-wide statement of activities, however, which is presented on the accrual basis, expenses and liabilities are
reported regardless of when financial resources are available. The adjustment from modified accrual to full accrual is
composed of the following items:

Compensated absences $ 422,528
Claims payable 4,608,497
Landﬁllp 202,342
Combined adjustment § 5233367

In addition, interest on long-term debt is recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when due, rather than as
it accrues. The adjustment from modified accrual to full accrual is $824,068, which represents the change in accrued interest
on bonds payable as of June 30, 2002.

In prior years, the County sold the $90,970,000 General Obligation Public Improvement Refunding Bonds - Series of 1993
("1993 Refunding Issue™) to refund, prior to maturity, portions of the following bonds: General Obligation Public
Improvement Bonds - Sentes 1980, l98g, and 1990; and Virginia Public School Authority (VPSA) Bonds, Series 1988 and
1980. The proceeds of the 1993 Refunding Issue were deposited in a trust fund and were used to purchase U.S. Government
obligations that are scheduled to mature and an interest in amounts necessary to provide the funds to pay the Refunded
Debt. For legal and accounting purposes, the Refunded Debt is considered to have been paid, and neither the debt (of which
$43,975,000 remained outstanding at June 30, 2002) nor the assets placed in the trust fund is reflected in the financial

statements.

In November 2000, the County’s voters authorized the issuance of general obligation bonds for $237,000,000 of which only
$64,145,000 has been issued as of June 30, 2002. The County plans to issue the remaining bonds in future fiscal years.
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General Obligation Bonds

Details of general obligation bonds recorded in the General Long-Term Obligation Account Group for the County at June
30, 2002 are as follows:

Interest Date Final Amount of
) Rates Issued Maturity Date Original Issue Balance
li;:%lxlr‘x:dl:nngp ti09v9eZ!mBecl;:1cis 2.40-5.35 04/01/93 01/15/11 $ 90,970,000 $ 48,980,000
VPSA 1993 Bonds 5.10-5.25 05/15/93 07/15/13 32,000,000 19,200,000
VPSA 1994A Bonds 6.34 04/01/94 | 12/15/06 6,750,000 1,650,000
VPSA 1996 Bonds 5.00-6.00 11/01/96 07/15/16 30,595,000 22,945,000
VPSA 1999A Bonds 4.35-5.225 05/01/99 08/01/19 35,740,000 32,160,000
VPSA 2000 Bonds 5.00-6.25 05/01/00 08/01/20 15,215,000 14,450,000
2001 G.O. Bonds 4.50-5.00 05/15/01 01/15/21 37,110,000 35,250,000
2002 G.O. Bonds 3.00-5.00 02/21/02 04/01/22 27,035,000 27,035,000
TOTAL $ 201,670,000
Debt service for the County on the foregoing bonds is payable during future fiscal years ending June 30 as follows:
Years Principal Interest
2003 $ 16,480,000 $ 9,977,385
2004 15,990,000 9,000,054
2005 15,865,000 8,226,453
2006 15,745,000 7,454,167
2007 14,460,000 6,674,956
2008-2012 61,150,000 23,246,415
2013-2017 39,515,000 10,859,317
2018-2022 __22.465,000 2.684.063
TOTAL $201,670,000 $.78,122.810

General obligation bonds are backed by the full faith and credit of the County and are issued primarily for construction in
progress for various purposes. There are no sinking fund requirements. The County has no leg:l debt margin requirement.
All Henrico County _ﬁfneral obligation bonds, except Virginia Public School Authority bonds, have been authorized by
public referendum. e Virginia Public School Authority bonds have been issued by the adoption of a resolution by the

County Board of Supervisors.

The County is autonomous and independent of any city, town or other political jurisdiction. There is no overlapping debt or
taxing power.
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Business-Type Activities

A summary of changes in the Water & Sewer Fund (the “Fund”) and the Belmont Park Golf Course, long-term debt and
the individual components of long-term debt at June 30 follows:

Bﬁr‘? ‘l:e Additions Retirements .lI; ::‘aen:::g
Water & Sewer Revenue Bonds: -
‘119290/20 léegl.lzlglé/t:g Bonds - $33,150,000 § 19,900,000 $ -3 19,500,000 $ -
%95902 lt})egt-xggi/r:g Bonds - $41,345,000 12,520,000 - 1,275,000 11,245,000
égg})g’&r (I)l'(l)lav Ereisé%llxécleng;letgtoﬁchonds - 30,605,000 - 520,000 30,085,000
1999 Revenue and Refunding Bonds -
$101,000,000 3.1% 10 5.25% 96,890,000 - 1,635,000 95,255,000
2002 Refunding Bonds - 17,345,000
3.0%t0 4.625% - 17,345,000 - 17,345,000
Total bonds payable $§ 159915000 $ 17,345000 $ 23,330,000 $ _ 153,930,000
Other liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences $ 663,690 § 25,053 § - 688,743
Pension liabilities 278,887 - - 278,887
Net long-term liabilities $ 160,857,577 §__ 17,370,033 §__ 23330000 $ 154,897,630
Current maturities
(payable from restricted assets) (5.960,000) (6.385.000)
Net long-term liabilities 3134897577 3 __148,512,630

In prior Zears, the County defeased certain Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds by dplacing the proceeds of new bonds in an
irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service fagvmems on the old bonds. Accordingly, the trust account assets
and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the County's financial statements. At June 30, 2002,
$71,210,000 of Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, which were considered defeased, remained outstanding.

The Fund's revenue is pledged as collateral for the 1994 Revenue and Refundin%Issue, and the non-refunded portion of
the 1986 and 1992 Bonds, (collectively, the "Bonds"). The covenants of the Bonds reguxre that in each year the net
operating revenues of the Fund, as defined by the covenants, which in the opinion of Bond Counsel do not consider
depreciation or payments in-lieu-of taxes an expense, be at least equal to 1.25 times the total debt service requirements
for the year (principal and interest on the Bonds and interest on any outstanding Bond Anticipation Notes). In addition
the covenants prohibit the County from issuing any bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness or other evidences o
indebtedness having in any way a'lien and charge on the revenues of the Water and Sewer System prior to the lien and
charge created by the covenants for the payment of and collateral for the outstanding Bonds.

The Fund may issue additional bonds p:ﬁ'able which may be collateralized equally with the outstanding Bonds for any
purpose connected with or pertaining to the Fund, upon compliance with the following conditions, among others:

One-half of the net operating revenues of the Fund, as defined, during any 24 consecutive months out of the 30
months immediately preceding the issuance of the additional bonds, shall have been not less than 1.25 times the
maximum annual debt service requirement on all bonds then outstanding and the proposed additional bonds; and the
net operating revenues of the Fund, as defined, during the first full fiscal year following the date upon which the

roject or undertaking for which the _pr(()iposed additional bonds are bemF issued is anticipated to be completed, shall
Ee estimated by a nationally recognized consulting engineer to be not less than 1.25 times the annual debt service
requirement on account of ail bonds then outstanding and the proposed additional bonds.

Net operating revenues were 2.64 times the annual debt service requirements for the year ended June 30, 2002.

On March 15, 2002, the County issued $17,345,000 of Water and Sewer Refunding Bonds to refund the entire
outstanding balance of the 1992 bond senes. 'l_lhe. interest rate on these bonds is between 3% and 4.625% and the final
maturity will occur on May 1, 2013. The principal payments range from $1,230,000 to $1,740,000. Although the
advance refunding resulted in the recognition of an accounting loss of $213 593 for the year ended June 30, 2 02, the
Fund reduced its aggregate debt service payments by a{: roximately $2.3 million over the next 12 years and obtained an
economic gain (dif%erence between the present value of the old and new debt service payments) of $1.7 million.
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The interest due on the Bonds as of July 1 has been accrued as of June 30, as required by the related covenants. Cash has
been restricted for these accruals. In addition, retained earnings have been reserved and cash has been restricted in an

amount equal to the maximum annual debt service requirement for the Bonds.
Principal and interest payment on the Bonds for the five fiscal years subsequent to June 30, 2002 and thereafter follows:

Years Principal Interest
2003 $ 6,385,000 $ 7,743,032
2004 6,630,000 7,384,711
2005 6,910,000 7,097,787
2006 7,070,000 6,816,316
2007 7,340,000 6,526,035

2008-2012 35,460,000 27,878,918
2013-2017 24,645,000 19,444,999
2018-2022 23,040,000 13,806,695
2023-2027 29,585,000 7,051,620
2028 6,865,000 438,361
Total $.153,930,000 $104,188,474

Component Units
School Board:

The Board of Supervisors has authorized the School Board to borrow funds from the Literary Fund of the Commonwealth of
Virginia (the “Literary Fund”) to finance repairs to eligible educational facilities. For each facility qualifying for a loan, the
School Board borrowed funds from the Literary Fund n the form of a demand note with interest ranging from 3.00 percent
to 5.00 percent with maturities through May 1, 2009, to cover the repair costs incurred. Once the repair of a facility has been
completed, the demand note is converted into a 20-year note payable with annual installments due on the anniversary date of
the note. Total outstanding loans at June 30, 2002 were $1,599,929. Loans made by the Literary Fund are recorded as
specific liens against the educational facilities for which the funds were borrowed.

The School Board’s outstanding debt as of June 30 is as follows:

If'al:?;: ?e Additions Deletions ?::l?.‘fg
Capital lease obligations $ 372,696 $ 19,565,014 $ 3,396,044 $ 16,541,666
Literary fund loans 1,956,721 - 356,792 1,599,929
Accrued claims payable 3,376,712 - 1,394,838 1,981,874
Accrued compensated absences 2,703,403 100,690 - 2,804,093
Total School Board $ 8409532 $ 19,665,704 $ 5147674 $ 22,927,562
Current Maturities (5,008,204)
Net long-term liabilities § 17919358
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Debt service on Literary Fund loans payable during future fiscal years ending June 30 are as follows:

Years Principal Interest
2003 $ 356,792 $ 59,918
2004 320,642 47,381
2005 261,742 35,948
2006 207,767 26,272
2007 190,047 18,217
2008-2009 262939 __ 14,187
Total £1.599.929 $201,923

James River Juvenile Detention Commission:

On December 1, 1998, JRIDC entered into a $10,000,000 Revenue and Bond Anticipation Note, series 1998, having an
interest rate of 3.5 percent. The note proceeds provided temporary financing to JRIDC and construction funds. JRIDC paid
$6,358,600 of the note on February 1, 2001 and the remaining balance of $3,641,000 on the note on December 1, 2001.

On November 15, 2000, JRIDC issued a §7,125,000 Facility Revenue Bond, Series 2000, having an interest rate of 4.914
percent. The bond proceeds provided permanent financing to JRIDC, debt repayment and additional construction funds.

JRIDC’s outstanding debt as of June 30 is as follows:

_m:e Additions Deletions ?:lliaen;g
Facility revenue bond $ 7,125,000 $ - $ 330,000 $ 6,795,000
Revenue and bond anticipation note 3,641,400 - 3,641,400 -
Total 766,400 3 - § 3971400 $ 6,795,000
Current Maturities (350.000)
Net long-term liabilities ' 36445000
Principal and interest payments for future fiscal years subsequent to june 30, 2002 are as follows:
Years Principal Interest
2003 $ 350,000 $ 329,950
2004 365,000 312,969
2005 385,000 293,456
2006 405,000 273,778
2007 420,000 253,226
2008 - 2012 2,445,000 921,434
2013 - 2016 2,425,000 249,276
Total 3.6.795.000 3 2,634,088
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Capital Leases

The County has entered into agreements_for the leasing of buildings, computer hardware, automotive vehicles and
egulpment. These leases meet the criteria of a capital lease as defined by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
13, Accounting for Leases ("FASB Statement 13"), which defines a capital lease generally as one which transfers the benefits
and risks of ownership to the lessee. As such, $30,053,593 of equipment and $64,479,386 of buildings have been capitalized
as of June 30, 2002. The acquisition of fixed assets through capital lease obligations is reflected as an expenditure and other
ﬁnancinf source in the General or Capital Projects Funds when the obligations are incurred. Payments to satisfy capital
lease obligations are recorded as a debt service expenditure in the General or Debt Service Funds when the cash outlays are

made. Assets capitalized under these lease agreements are pledged as collateral on the obligations.

The County and the Henrico Economic Development Authority have entered into several lease agreements. The first was a
$28,765,000 Lease Revenue Bond for construction of a new Fire and Police building for ttainin% and communications,
computer equipment and renovation of the current public safety buildin issued on November 1, 1996. The second was a
$24,765,000 Lease Revenue Bond for construction of a parking deck and computer equipment issued on February 1, 1998.
The County is required to pay rent in an amount sufficient to pay the principal and interest. The County has recorded lease
obligations for these agreements. Finallly;, on October 1, 1999, the County entered into a $39,605,000 Public Facility lease
Revenue Refunding Bond agreement with the Henrico Economic Development Authority. These bonds were sold November
1, 1999. The proceeds along with certain other funds from the Commonwealth of Virginia ($27,743,200) will be used to
refund the Authority’s Public Facility Lease Revenue Bond (Henrico County Regional Jail Project) series 1994, in the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of $64,850,000 maturing thru 2021. The proceeds were placed in an irrevocable trust
for the purpose of generating resources for all future debt service ga ents of the refunded debt. As a result, the refunded
bonds are considered to be paid and the liability has been removed from the financial statements. This advanced refunding
was undertaken to reduce the total debt service payments over the next 22 years by $5,525,405 and to obtain an economic
gain (difference between the present value of the debt service payments of the refunded and refunding bonds) of $1,623,790.

Future minimum lease payments under these capital leases for fiscal years ending June 30 are as follows:

Total Future

Years Leafeq g)il‘;lling:l:itons ggl?g:}ei::es Schools LeLvs[inli’:‘yunTents
2003 $ 741,933 $ 8,920,222 $ 5,510,183 $ 15,172,338
2004 592,351 8,943,178 5,510,182 15,045,711
2005 429,045 8,960,662 5,501,111 14,890,818
2006 277,538 8,977,470 2,000,000 11,255,008
2007 51,314 8,997,767 - 9,049,081
2008-2012 - 28,726,134 - ' 28,726,134
2013-2017 - 24,776,768 - 24,776,768
2018-2022 - 16,540,441 - 16,540,441
Total minimum lease payments $ 2,092,181 $ 114,842,642 $ 18,521,476 $ 135,456,299
Less amount representing interest 299.774 37.802,642 _ 1979810 ___ 40,082,226
Present value of future minimum
lease payments §__ 1792407 $.77.040,000 $.16,541,666 $..95,374.073

NOTE 8. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

A.  Litigation

The County and School Board are named as defendants in several cases including tax assessment, construction
contract, personal injury, sgecial education, civil rights and other contract cases. The maximum exposure
amount that can be reasonably estimated is $2,795,000 for these cases and potential counterclaims where the
County is the plaintiff. It is probable that approximately $1,200,000 of these claims will result in an
unfavorable outcome for the County. These claims are covered under the County’s self-insurance program as
discussed in note 8C. The County intends to defend its position in these claims vigorously. Itis the optnion of
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County management, based on the advice of the County Attorney, that any losses incurred as a result of claims
existing as of June 30, will not be material to the County's financial statements.

Federal Grant Awards

The County and School Board participate in a number of federally assisted grant programs. These programs
are subject to program compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives. The audits of these
programs for or including the year ended June 30, 2002 have not yet been completed. Accordingly, the
County’s compliance with apglicablc grant requirements will be established at some future date. The amount,
if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined at this time
although the County expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

Risk Management

The County and School Board maintain a self-insurance program (the "Program") for workers' compensation
claims, certain property and casualty risks and other claims. Workers' compensation claims in excess of
$500,000 per occurrence are covered by insurance carriers.  Property claims between $500,000 and
$250,000,000 per occurrence are covered by Travelers Insurance Company. During the past three years, no
excess claims were processed with these insurance carriers. The County's estimated and recorded liability for
claims payable at June 30, 2002, includes actuarial estimates of probable losses on claims received and claims
incurred but not reported. The County has recorded expenditures of $501,806 in the General Fund to reflect
the liability for the estimated settlement value of all reported workers’ compensation and property and casualty
claims covered by the Program at June 30, 2002, that are expected to be liquidated with current resources. In
addition, the County has recorded $10,495,177 for the County and $1,981,874 for the School Board in the
Govemnment-wide Statement of Net Assets to reflect the liability for the estimated settlement value of workers'
compensation and property and casualty claims covered by the Program at June 30, 2002 that are not expected
to be liguidated with current resources. Also, the County has designated $5,500,000 of the June 30, 2002
General Fund balance as a self-insurance reserve.

Fy 2001 FY 2002
County Schools County Schools
Balance, July 1 $ 6424445 § 1,577,903 $ 5886680 § 3,376,712
Current year claims and
changes in estimates 1,914,369 2,819,568 7,147,191 (548,607)
Claim payments (2.452.134) (1,020.759) 2,538,694 846,231
Balance, June 30 $ 5880680 §__3.376712 £ 10495177 § 1981874

Commitments

At June 30, the County had contractual commitments for the construction of various projects as follows:

Primary Component
Government Unit-Schools

Capital Projects Funds:

Computer and Information Systems $ 1,476,600 $ -

Buildings & Grounds 1,368,181 -

Road Maintenance & Drainage 1,884,176 -

Community Development 114,246 -

Landfill #1 Expansion and Development 95,605 -

Public Safety Projects 792,876 -

Courts and Justice 1,542,269 -

Parks & Recreation 2,023,634 -

Education Projects 16.104.687 4,616,961

Total 325402274 3 4616961
Enterprise Funds:

Wastewater Treatment Projects $ 59,286,627

Water Plant Projects 36,843,494

Total $ 96,130,121
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Operating Leases

The County leases real estate, certain data processing equipment and other equipment under various long-term
operating lease agreements for which rent expenditures aggregated $1,289,663 for fiscal year 2002.

At June 30, the approximate annual long-term commitments for these operating leases were as follows:

County — School Board
Real Other Real Other

Years Property Equipment Property Equipment Total

2003 $ 1074357 $ 157,814 $ 101,228 $ 58,635 $ 1,392,034

2004 646,921 128,039 92,792 56,632 924,384

2005 513,052 47,011 - 16,091 576,154

2006 276,590 17,598 - - 294,188

2007 70,400 - - - 70,400
2008-2012 102,000 - - - 102,000
2013-2017 102,000 - - - 102.000

Total $2785320 §_350462 $.194020 § _ 131358 $ 3,461,160

All lease obligations (both capital and operating) are contingent upon the Board of Supervisors appropriating
funds for each year's payments.

Capital Asset Leasing

The County is the lessor of real estate and other equipment under various operating lease agreements for
periods ranging from one to fifty years. The cost and accumulated depreciation on leased property at June 30,
2002, was $19,414,458 and $1,255,878, respectively.

At June 30, minimum rentals receivable for these existing leases were as follows:

Years
2003 $ 320,348
2004 271,913
2005 242,033
2006 220,854
2007 204,160
2008-2012 1,020,800
2013-2017 994,750
2018-2022 479,538

$.3.754,396
Contingent Liabilities
Capital Region Airport Commission

See Note 17, "Joint Ventures", for a discussion of the County's contingent liability relating to the Capital
Region Airport Commission.
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Richmond Metropolitan Authority ("RMA") Baseball Stadium Facility

In connection with the RMA's responsibility for maintaining and operating the Richmond metropolitan area's
baseball stadium facility, the County Board of Supervisors entered into a non-binding moral obligation under
which funding would be requested for the County's share (one-third) of any annual net operating losses and
any deficit in debt service on the $3,810,000 RMA Revenue Bonds. The RMA Revenue Bonds were issued
under the terms of a bond resolution dated August 28, 1984. In September, 1994, the Authority issued
$2,750,000 in revenue bonds in order to satisfy outstanding obligations on the 1984 bonds.

Debt service for the entire amount of the RMA Revenue Bonds is payable during future fiscal years ending
June 30 as follows:

Years Principal Interest
2003 $ 350,000 $ 55,000
2004 400,000 34,000
2005 400,000 12,000
Total £L150.000 $ 101,000

During the fiscal year ended June 30, the County made contributions of $282,000 to the RMA for its pro-rata
portion of the debt service and for capital improvements. The Stadium Facility had a net operating loss of
$54,753 for the year ended June 30, 2002.

Environmental Risk

The County is the owner of ciosed landfills, underground storage tanks, sewage lagoons and other potential
sources of toxic substances. Ownership of these properties exposes the County to risk of third party pollution
liability. At this time no claim exists nor is there knowledge of any condition which impairs a third party’s

property or person.

NOTE 9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN - AGENT MULTIPLE-EMPLOYER

A.

Plan Description

The County and School Board Non-Professional Group contributes to the Virginia Retirement System
(*VRS™), an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Virginia Retirement
System (the “System™). All full-time, salaried permanent employees must participate in the VRS. Benefits
vest after five years of service. Employees are eligible for an unreduced retirement benefit at age 65 with 5
years of service (age 60 for participating local law enforcement officers, firefighters, and sheriffs) or at age 50
with at least 30 years of service if elected by the employer (age 50 with at least 25 years of service for
participating local law enforcement officers, firefighters, and sheriffs) payable monthly for life in an amount
equal to 1.7 percent of their average final salary (“AFS”) for each year of credited service. Benefits are
actuarially reduced for retirees who retire prior to becoming eligible for full retirement benefits. In addition,
retirees qualify for annual cost-of-living increases limited to 5 percent per year beginning in their second year
of retirement. AFS is defined as the highest consecutive 36 months of salary. Participating local law
enforcement officers, firefighters, and sheriffs may receive a monthly benefit supplement if they retire prior to
age 65. The VRS also provides death and disability benefits. Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as
amended, assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the General Assembly of Virginia.
The system issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial statements
and required supplementary information for VRS. A copy of that report may be obtained at P.O. Box 2500,
Richmond, VA 23218-2500
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Funding Policy

Plan members are required by Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended, to contribute 5 percent
of their annual salary to the VRS. The employer may assume this 5 percent member contribution. In addition,
the County and School Board Non-Professional Group are required to contribute the remaining amounts
necessary to fund its participation in the VRS using the actuarial basis specified by the Code of Virginia and
approved by the VRS Board of Trustees. The County and School Board Non-Professional Group's
contribution rates for the fiscal year ended 2002 were 7.50 percent and 15.50 percent respectively, of annual

covered payroll.

Annual Pension Cost

For 2002, the County annual pension cost of $11,458,872 was equal to the required and actual contributions;
the School Board Non-Professional Group’s cost of $275,770 was also equal to the required and actual
contributions. The required contribution was determined as part of the June 30, 2000 actuarial valuation using
the entry age normal actuarial cost method. The actuarial assumptions included (a) 8 percent investment rate
of return, (b) projected salary increases ranging from 4.25 percent to 6.10 percent per year, and (c) 3.0 percent
per year cost-of-living adjustments. Both (a) and (b) included an inflation component of 3 percent. The
actuarial value of the County and School Board Non-Professional assets is equal to the modified market value
of assets. This method uses techniques that smooth the effects of short-term volatility in the market value of
assets over a five-year period. Un-funded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage
of payroll on a closed basis within a period of 30 years or less.

NET PENSION OBLIGATION (NPO)

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $ 11,458,872
Interest on NPO -
Adjustment to the ARC -
Annual Pension Cost 11,458,872
Contributions made (11,458.872)
Increase in NPO -
NPO beginning of year 4247818
NPO end of year $ 4247818

TREND INFORMATION FOR COUNTY

FISCAL YEAR ANNUAL PENSION PERCENTAGE OF NET PENSION

ENDING COST (APC) APC CONTRIBUTED OBLIGATION
June 30, 2000 $ 12,490,720 97.43% $ 42473818
June 30, 2001 10,880,390 100.00% 4,247,818
June 30, 2002 11,458,872 100.00% 4,247,818

TREND INFORMATION FOR SCHOOL BOARD NON-PROFESSIONAL

FISCAL YEAR ANNUAL PENSION PERCENTAGE OF NET PENSION
ENDING COST (APC) APC CONTRIBUTED OBLIGATION

June 30, 2000 $ 349,290 100.00% $0

June 30, 2001 269,444 100.00% 0

June 30, 2002 275,770 100.00% 0
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SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS FOR COUNTY

Un-funded

Actuarial UAAL as a

Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Ratio Percentage

Valuation Value of Accrued Liability Funded Covered of Covered
Date Assets Liability (UAAL) Obligation Payroll Payroll
June 30, 1999  $388,653,817  $410,635,920 $21,982,103 94.65% $126,399,248 17.39%
June 30, 2000 454,266,589 442,950,933  (11,315,656) 102.55% 133,361,166 - 8.48%
June 30, 2001 504,700,061 489,223,614 (15,476,447) 103.16% 143,709,890 -10.77%

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS FOR SCHOOL BOARD NON-PROFESSIONAL

Un-funded

Actuarial UAAL asa

Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Ratio Percentage

Valuation Value of Accrued Liability Funded Covered of Covered
Date Assets Liability (UAAL) Obligation Payroll Payroll
June 30, 1999 $4,386,151 £7,077,376 §$2,691,225 61.97% 31,565,684 171.89%
June 30, 2000 5,056,826 7,025,603 1,968,777 71.98% 1,639,113 120.11%
June 30, 2001 5,450,183 7,473,918 2,023,735 72.92% 1,712,403 118.18%

NOTE 10. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN — COST-SHARING MULTIPLE-EMPLOYER

A.

Plan Description

The School Board contributes to the Virginia Retirement System (“VRS”), a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Virginia Retirement System (the “System”).
All full-time, salaried permanent employees must participate in the VRS. Benefits vest after five years of
service. Employees are eligible for an unreduced retirement benefit at age 65 with 5 years of service (age
60 for participating local law enforcement officers, firefighters, and sheniffs) or at age S0 with at least 30
years of service if elected by the employer (age 50 with at least 25 years of service for participating local
law enforcement officers, firefighters, and sheriffs) payable monthly for life in an amount equal to 1.7
percent of their average final salary (“AFS™) for each year of credited service. Benefits are actuarially
reduced for retirees who retire prior to becoming eligible for full retirement benefits. In addition, retirees
qualify for annual cost-of-living increases limited to 5% per year beginning in their second year of
retirement. AFS is defined as the highest consecutive 36 months of salary. Participating local law
enforcement officers, firefighters, and sheriffs may receive a monthly benefit supplement if they retire
prior to age 65. The VRS also provides death and disability benefits. Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia
(1950), as amended, assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the General
Assembly of Virginia. The system issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that
includes financial statements and required supplementary information for VRS. A copy of that report may
be obtained at P.O. Box 2500, Richmond, VA 23218-2500.

Funding Policy

Plan members are required by Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended, to contribute $
percent of their annual salary to the VRS. The employer may assume this 5 percent member contribution.
In addition, the School Board is required to contribute the remaining amounts necessary to fund its
participation in the VRS using the actuarial basis specified by the Code of Virginia (1950) and approved by
the VRS Board of Trustees. The School Board’s contribution rate for the fiscal year ended 2002 was 3.68
percent of annual covered payroll. The School Board’s contributions to VRS for the years ending 2002,
2001 and 2000 were $5,667,262, $11,323,531, and $12,883,329, respectively, are equal to the required
contributions for each year.
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NOTE 11. INTER-FUND OBLIGATIONS

Individual inter-fund receivables and payables balances at June 30, 2002 are as follows:

Inter-fund Inter-fund

Receivables Pavables
General Fund $ 957,465 s -
Enterprise Funds:

Water and Sewer 8,015,824 -
Capital Projects Fund - 8,015,824
Component Unit - JRIDC - 957,465

£._8973289 2 _8.973,289

NOTE 12. FUND TRANSFERS
Transfers within the County are made between the general fund, special revenue fund, debt service fund, capital
projects fund and the school board. The transfers are made primarily for the payment of debt and interest,
construction in progress and to support educational and special revenue activities.

Inter-fund transfers at June 30, 2002 are as follows:

Transfers Transfers
Out In
Govermnmental Funds:
General Fund $ 70,503,843 $ -
Special Revenue Fund - 13,382,712
Debt Service Fund - 34,140,925
Capital Projects Fund - 22,980,206
$ 70,503,843 $.70.503,843
Transfers between primary government and component unit
at June 30 are as follows:
Transfers Transfers
Out In
Governmental Funds:
General Fund $144,862,224 $ -
Debt Service Fund 429,236 -
Capital Projects Fund 11,993,441 -
Component Unit — School Board - 157,284,901
$157,284 901 $157,284,901

NOTE 13. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During fiscal year 2002, the County contributed $2,766,525 to the Economic Development Authority to foster
economic development within the County, also the County received $240,987 from the Capital Region Airport
Commission for water and sewer services.

NOTE 14. DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue represents amounts for which asset recognition criteria have been met, but for which revenue
recognition criteria have not been met. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, such amounts are
measurable, but not available. Deferred revenue, including advance property tax collections, totaling $21,912,132 is
comprised of the following:

A. Advance Grant Funding

This represents a liability incurred by the County for monies accepted from a grantor using an advancement
method for payments. The liability is reduced and revenue is recorded when expenditures are made in
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accordance with the grantor's requirements. If expenditures are not made, the funds may revert back to the
grantor. Advanced grant funding at June 30, 2002 totaled $1,347,243 and $1,951,330 in the Special Revenue
Funds for the County and the School Board respectively.

B. Deferred Property Tax Revenue

Deferred revenue representing uncollected tax billings not available for funding of current expenditures
totaled $9,071,493 at June 30, 2002.

C. Advance Property Tax Collections

Property taxes due subsequent to June 30, 2002, but paid in advance by the taxpayers, totaled $9,542,066
at June 30, 2002.

Also, the Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund recorded deferred revenue in the amount of $6,248,388, an advance
payment from a customer of the new sewer plant currently under construction.

NOTE 15. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The County has within its operations, two enterprise funds which provide water and sewer and golf course services.
The County also is the fiscal agent for the James River Juvenile Detention Commission which provides detention
facility services to juveniles. JRIDC is a discretely presented component unit of the County.

The segment information for the Water and Sewer Revenue Fund, Golf Course Fund and JRIDC as of June 30 is as

follows:
Water and Sewer Golf Course
Revenue Fund Fund JRIDC Total

Condensed Statement of Net Assets
Assets:
Current assets $ 152,073,250 $ 477,624 § 3,781,887 $ 156,332,761
Other assets 2,251,778 - - 2,251,778
Capital assets, net 759,116,287 2.365.623 9,295,580 770,777,490

Total assets 913.441315 2,843,247 13,077,467 929,362,029
Liabilities:
Current liabilities 25,998,533 35,363 1,187,285 27,221,181
Non-current liabilities 54,868,132 29.498 6,795,000 161,692,630

Total liabilities ,.866.665 64.861 7.982,285 188913.811
Net assets:

Invested in capital assets, net of

related debt 605,125,522 2,365,623 2,896,501 610,387,646

Restricted 11,707,820 - 40,754 11,748,574

Unrestricted 115,741,308 412.763 2,157,927 118,311,998
Total net assets 3732074650 3 2,778,386 $ 5,095,182 $ 740448218
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Water & Sewer Golf Course
Revenue Fund Fund

JRIDC

Total

Condensed Statement of Revenues,
Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets

Operating revenues s 67,328,266 $ 996,135
Depreciation and
amortization expense 14,121,299 109,633
Other operating expenses 37.828 979 944,117
Operating income 15,377,988 (57.615)
Non-operating revenues {(expenses):
Investment income 2,138,408 -
Interest expense (748,558) -
Connection fees 14,897,347 -
Donated assets 17,222,695 -
Contributions 934,043 -
Other 3,101,557 (3.857)
Change in net assets 52,923,480 (61,472)
Beginning net assets 679,651,170 2,839.858
Ending net assets $ 732574650 $__2778386
Condensed Statement of Cash Flows
Net cash provided (used) by:
Operating activities $ 35,956,363 § 46,955
Non-capital financing activities - (100,000)
Capital and related financing activities (81,669,474) (49,416)
Investing activities 2,138 408 -
Net decrease (43,574,703) (102,461)
Beginning cash and cash equivalents 71,937.764 580,085
Ending cash and cash equivalents 3 28,363,006 ] 477,624

NOTE 16. SURETY BONDS

$ 2,922,487

$ 71,246,888

251,489 14,482,421
3.338.343 42.111.439
(667.345) 4.653.028

24,710 2,163,118

- (378,157)

] 14,897,347

. 17,222,695

4,450,438 5,384,481

(201.561) 3,091,585
3,228,085

1.867.097 64
§.5.09,18 3 740

$ (704317) $ 35,299,001

4,450,438 4,350,438

(4,893,840) (86,612,729)

24,710 2.163,118

(1 123,009) (44,800, 173)
4,803,625 77.321.474

$ 30680616 3 132521301

The following constitutional officers and County employees were covered by surety bonds at June 30, 2002:

Constitutional Officers - Self Insurance Plan. Commonwealth of Virginia
Yvonne Smith - Clerk of the Circuit Court and
Employees of the Clerk of the Circuit Court

Reta R. Busher - Director of Finance and
Employees of the Director of Finance

Michael L. Wade — Sheriff and
Employees of the Sheriff

American Manufacturers
Kenneth R. Crush - School Board Agent
David Myers - School Board Deputy Agent
Teresa Robins - School Board Clerk
Coleen Smith - School Board Deputy Clerk

Lumberman’s Mutual Casualty Company
Virgil R. Hazelett - County Manager

George T. Drumwright, Jr. - Deputy County Manager

Angela N. Harper - Deputy County Manager

Harvey L. Hinson - Deputy County Manager

Leon T. Johnson - Deputy County Manager

Robert K. Pinkerton - Deputy County Manager

Gordon R. Ragland, Jr. - Director of Department of Social Services
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Janet C. Coon - Registrar 100,000
Paul N. Proto - Director of Department of General Services 100,000

NOTE 17. JOINT VENTURES

A.

The Capital Region Airport Commission (the "Commission") was created in 1975 pursuant to Virginia statute.

On January 1, 1976, the County and the City of Richmond entered into an intergovernmental joint venture for
the operation of the Richmond International Airport (the "Airport”) by the Commission. As part of the
venture, the City of Richmond conveyed the Airport property to the Commission, and the Commission in turn
agreed to reimbursement of the outstanding debt of the City relating to the property. The County also made a
contribution to the Commission, for a 40 percent interest in the venture. The Counties of Chesterfield and
Hanover became Commission participants in fiscal year 1984 and fiscal year 1986, respectively.

The Commission is comprised of a fourteen-member board of directors, with four members each being
appointed by the City of Richmond, the County of Henrico and the County of Chesterfield governing bodies
and two members being appointed by the County of Hanover governing body. The Commission generates its
revenues from service charges to users of the Airport facilities to recover the costs of maintaining, repairing
and operating the Airport. Virginia statute requires that the Commission annually submit a budget showing
estimated revenues and expenditures to the goveming bodies of the City of Richmond and the three counties
for their approval. After approval of the proposed budget by the governing bodies, if the Commission's budget
contains estimated expenditures which exceed estimated revenues, then the governing bodies are required to
fund the deficit in proportion to their financial interests in the Commission. If, however, actual revenues are
less than estimated revenues (resulting in a deficit), the City of Richmond and the three counties may, at their
discretion, appropriate funds necessary to fund the deficit. The County has agreed to fund its portion of the
deficit, if any.

The percentage shares of the jurisdictions involved include the following:

City of Richmond 29.27%
County of Henrico 31.44%
County of Chesterfield 30.17%
County of Hanover 9.12%

100.00%

This financial interest is determined by applying the percentage of the total approximate population of each
jurisdiction to the combined total population of all jurisdictions. The above percentages are based on the final
1990 census figures provided by the Richmond Regional Planning District Commission.

During fiscal year 2002, the Commission's budget was not formally approved by the County; the Commission
did not receive any significant subsidies from the County; and the County did not receive any funds from the
Commission for repayment of its contribution.

Complete financial statements for the Capital Region Airport Commission can be obtained from their
administrative office at South Airport Drive, Richmond, Virginia 23231.

The Greater Richmond Convention Center Authority (Convention Authority), a political subdivision of the
Commonwealth of Virginia, was created on January 9, 1998 pursuant to the Public Recreational Facilities
Authorities Act, Chapter 56 of Title 15.2, Code of Virginia (1950). The political subdivisions participating in
the incorporation of the Convention Authority are the City of Richmond and the Counties of Henrico,
Chesterfield and Hanover. The Convention Authority is governed by a five-member commission comprised of
the chief administrative officer of each of the four incorporating political subdivisions and the President/CEO
of the Retail Merchants Association of Greater Richmond.

The Convention Authority was created to acquire, finance, expand, renovate, construct, lease, operate and
maintain the facility and grounds of a visitors and convention center or centers including the facility and
grounds currently known as the Richmond Centre. The primary purpose of the Convention Authority is to
issue revenue bonds to finance the expansion of the Richmond Centre facility and to construct access,
streetscape, or other on-site/off-site improvements. Once the expansion is complete, the Convention Authority
will have responsibility for the operation and maintenance of the convention center.
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The Convention Authority has issued $158,415,000 in Hotel Tax Revenue Bonds, which are secured by an 8
percent transient occupancy tax imposed and collected by the localities. The County recorded an expenditure
of $6,599,200 for transient occupancy tax to the Convention Authority during the year ended June 30, 2002.

Complete financial statements for the Convention Authority can be obtained from Chesterfield County,
Accounting Department, P.O. Box 40, Chesterfield, VA 23832.

NOTE 18. LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POSTCLOSURE CARE LIABILITY

State and Federal laws and regulations require the County to place a final cover on each phase of its Springfield Road
landfill site when it stops accepting waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the
Springfield and Charles City Road Landfill site for thirty years after closure. In accordance with GASB Statement
No. 18, Accounting for Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Closure and Post-closure Care Costs, $6,223,041 has been
reported as landfill closure and post-closure care liability in the County’s financial statements at June 30, 2002. The
balance represents the cumulative amount reported to date based on the use of 100 percent of the estimated capacity
of the Eastern Phase and Phase I, 73.5 percent of Phase II's estimated capacity, and 10.57 percent of Phase III's
estimated capacity. The County will recognize the remaining estimated cost of closure and post-closure care of
$3,576,726 of Phase II and Phase III as the remaining capacity is filled. These amounts are based on what it would
cost to perform all closure and post-closure care in 2002. Actual costs may be higher due to inflation, changes in

technology, or changes in regulations.

The County plans to meet all Federal laws, regulations, and tests of financial assurance related to the financing of
closure and post-closure care. The County estimates that the remaining life of the landfill is approximately eight
years and will be closed in 2010.

NOTE 19. JOINTLY GOVERNED ORGANIZATIONS

A. Central Virginia Waste Management Authority

The Central Virginia Waste Management Authority (the “Waste Authority™) was established under the
provision of the Virginia Water and Sewer Authorities Act. The Waste Authority’s board is comprised of
representatives from the Counties of Charles City, Chesterfield, Goochland, Hanover, Henrico, New Kent,
Powhatan and Prince George, the Cities of Colonial Heights, Petersburg and Richmond, and the Town of
Ashland. The 20 member board is comprised of no less than one and up to no more than three members from
each of the participating jurisdictions, determined on a population basis. The County has three representatives
serving. The Waste Authority is responsible for creating and implementing recycling and solid waste
management programs for its local member jurisdictions in order to meet waste reduction mandates set by the
Virginia General Assembly. Except for contribution requirements and direct payments for special projects, no
participant has any ongoing financial interest or responsibility in the Waste Authority. The County’s
contribution and direct payments for special projects for the year ended June 30, 2002 were $1,690,814.

B. Greater Richmond Partnership

The Greater Richmond Partnership is comprised of members from the City of Richmond and the Counties of
Chesterfield, Hanover, and Henrico. Together in partnership with the business leadership of the area, the
Greater Richmond Partnership’s purpose is to further economic development of the metropolitan area.

The County has one representative serving on the Greater Richmond Partnership’s Board of Directors and the
County contributed $375,000 for the year ended June 30, 2002.

C. Metropolitan Richmond Convention and Visitors Bureau

The Metropolitan Richmond Convention and Visitors Bureau (MRCVB) serves the City of Richmond and the
Counties of Chesterfield, Hanover and Henrico by promoting conventions, tourism and development in the
metropolitan Richmond area in order to increase revenues, provide increased employment and improve the
economic health of all jurisdictions involved.

The County has six representatives serving on MRCVB’s Board of Directors and contributed $766,000 to

MRCVB for the year.
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D. Richmond Regional Planning District Commission

The Richmond Regional Planning District Commission (RRPDC) is comprised of members from the Counties
of Charles City, Chesterfield, Goochland, Hanover, Henrico, New Kent, Powhatan, the City of Richmond and
the Town of Ashland. The major functions of the RRPDC are to promote regional cooperation; coordinate the
activities and policies of member local governments; resolve service delivery problems involving more than
one government within the region and provide planning assistance to local govenments. In accordance with
its Charter, the RRPDC promotes the orderly physical, social and economic development of the region through
planning and encouraging local govemnments to plan for the future. The County has six representatives
serving on the RRPDC and paid total dues of $157,380 for the year ended June 30, 2002.

NOTE 20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On November 26, 2002, the County Board of Supervisors authorized the issuance of General Obligation Public
Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2003, of Henrico County, Virginia in an amount not to exceed $115,000,000
of principal. The purpose of these bonds is to provide funding for certain School capital improvements, fire stations,
recreation and parks facilities and road projects in the County, and the refunding in advance of maturity a portion of
the County’s outstanding Public Improvement Refunding Bond, Series 1993 and outstanding School bonds issued
through the Virginia Public School Authority, Series 1993 Bonds.
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[ Variance
Favorable
Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Sources Original Revised Actual (Unfavorabie)

Primary Government:
Geaeral Fund:
Revenue from local sources:
General property taxes:
Current real property taxes $167,449900 $ 167449900 § 175438867 $ 7988967
Current personal property taxes 48,015,529 48,015,529 49,463,962 1,448 433
Delinquent real property taxes 725,000 725,000 211,199 (513,801)
Delinquent personal property taxes 700,000 700,000 747,669 47,669
Interest 575,000 575,000 310,690 (264,310)
Land redemption 200,000 200,000 85,979 (114,021)
Total general property taxes 217,665,429 217,665,429 226,258,366 8,592,937
Other local taxes:
County recordation taxes 1,578,900 1,578,900 2,095,575 516,675
Local sales and use taxes 44,790,600 44,790,600 43,991,897 (798,703)
Consumer utility taxes 4,784,300 4,784,300 4,790,235 5,935
Business and professional license taxes 23,200,000 23,200,000 22,315,226 (884,774)
Franchise license private public utility 2,384,000 2,384,000 2,723,331 339,331
Motor vehicle license taxes 5,350,000 5,350,000 5,226,644 (123,356)
Hotel and motel taxes 6,634,200 6,634,200 6,624,432 (9,768)
Bank franchise taxes 7,300,000 7,300,000 8,611,762 1,311,762
Grantor's taxes 700,000 700,000 734,408 34,408
Daily rental tax 2,461,000 2,461,000 3,366,013 905,013
Consumption tax 950,000 950,000 988,422 38,422
Total other local taxes 100,133,000 100,133,000 101,467,945 1,334,945
Permits, privilege fees and regulatory licenses:
Municipal library court fees 120,000 120,000 138,427 18,427
Transfer fees 8,500 8,500 9,475 975
Zoning application fees 425,000 425,000 328,025 (96,975)
Structure and equipment permits 2,605,000 2,605,000 2,704,805 99,805
Septic tank permits 5,000 5,000 3,485 (1,515)
Taxi cab certificates 3,000 3,000 5,050 2,050
Permits to purchase precious metal 2,000 2,000 400 (1,600)
Dog licenses 140,000 140,000 113,380 (26,620)
Other 107,000 107,000 189,262 82,262
Total permits, privilege fees and regulatory licenses 3,415,500 3,415,500 3,492,309 76,809
Fines and forfeitures:
False alarm penalties 112,000 112,000 99,774 (12,226)
Traffic violations 1,625,000 1,625,000 1,690,032 65,032
Parking violations 110,000 110,000 86.089 (23,911)
Total fines and forfeitures 1,847,000 1,847,000 1,875,895 28,895
Revenue from use of money and property:
Sale of equipment and publications 111,500 111,500 66,188 (45,312)
Rented county property 167,000 167,000 316,551 149,551
Use of money 10,373,000 10,373,000 8948090 _  (1.424910)
Total revenue from use of money and property 10,651,500 10,651,500 9,330,829 (1,320,671)
Charges for services:
Public works 120,000 120,000 163,198 43,198
Library 216,500 216,500 258,547 42,047
SherifT fees 217,300 217,300 376,053 158,753
Commonwealth's attorney fees 8,000 8,000 11,174 3,174
Public safety 2,309,500 2,309,500 2,866,795 557,295
Finance charges 4,116,300 4,116,300 4,201,643 85,343
Recreation 508,400 508,400 515,859 7,459
Information technology 600,000 600,000 738,262 138,262
Total charges for services 8,096,000 8,096,000 9,131,531 1,035,531
continued
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Variance
Favorable
IFln(_l, Major and Minor Revenue Sources Original Revised Actusl (Unfavorable
Primary Government:
General Fund, continued:
Miscellaneous $ 2,095,100 $ 2,117,084 $ 1,804,142 S 312,942
Total miscellaneous 2,095,100 2,117,084 1.804,142 (312,942)
Recovered costs:
Finance 1,381,100 1,381,100 1,461,849 80,749
General services 80,000 80,000 271,194 191,194
Public heaith 60,000 60,000 44,636 (15,364)
Public works 237,000 237,000 282,869 45,869
Juvenile detention - - 1,183 1,183
Sheriff 475,000 475,000 883,794 408,794
Public safety 18,500 18,500 22,152 3,652
Social services - - 43,223 43,223
Total recovered costs 2,251,600 2,251,600 3,010,000 759,300
Total revenue from local sources 346,155,129 346,177,113 356,371,917 10,194,804
Intergovernmental:
Revenue from the Commonwealth:
Non-categorical aid:
ABC profits 550,000 550,000 696,325 146,325
Wine tax 325,000 325,000 370,240 45,240
Rolling stock 135,000 135,000 137,520 2,520
Recovery of central costs 396,000 396.000 517,979 121,979
Mobile home sales and use tax 15,000 15,000 28,435 13,435
Motor vehicle rental tax 1,975,000 1,975,000 2,499,288 524,288
PPTRA revenue 33,890,771 33,890,771 33,890,771 -
Overweight truck citations 7,000 7,000 64,015 57,015
Total non-categorical aid 37,293,771 37,293,771 38,204,573 910,802
Shared expenses:
Sheriff 9,319,000 9,319,000 9,469,073 150,073
Commonwealth's attomey 1,338,400 1,368,270 1,365,938 (2,332)
Election commission 80,000 80,000 80,848 848
Finance 761,500 761,500 848,863 87,363
Circuit court 3,386,800 3,949,328 3,719,226 (230,102)
Total shared expenses 14,885,700 15,478,098 15,483,948 5.850
Categorical aid:
Library 315,000 315,000 310,598 (4,402)
Public safety 10,464,500 10,464,500 10,344,943 (119,557)
Social services 3,763,000 4,214,004 4,036,967 (177,037)
Public works 20,796,100 20,796,100 24,880,207 4,084,107
Juvenile and domestic relations 648,500 648,500 826,818 178,318
Miscellaneous state grants - - 4,295 4,295
Total categorical aid 35,987,100 36,438,104 40,403,828 3,965,724
Total revenue from the Commonwealth 88,166,571 89,209,973 94,092,349 4,882,376
Revenue from the Federal Government:
Social services 8,614,000 9,158,704 8,930,063 (228,641)
Public safety 19,500 19,500 42,884 23,384
Total revenue from the Federal Govemment 3,633,500 9,178,204 8972947 (205,257)
Total intergovernmental 96,800,071 98,388,177 103,065,296 4,677,119
Total Generat Fund $ 442,955,200 $ 444,565,290 $ 459,437,213 $ 14,871,923

continued
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Variance
Favorable
Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Sources Original Revised Actual (Unfavorable)
Primary Government:
Special Revenue Fund:
Revenue from local sources:
Charges for services:
Miscellaneous charges for services $ 4390693 5 4461541 § 4979787 § 518246
Refuse collection billing 3,276,000 3,276,000 3,305,129 29,129
Landfill weighing fees 850,000 850,000 743,732 (106,268)
Recycle fees 60,000 60,000 73,238 13,238
Bulky waste collection fees 647,500 647,500 696,822 49,322
Leaf Collection 1,731,759 1,731,759 1,731,759 -
Charges for street lights 93,993 93,993 101,325 7,332
Total charges for services 11,049,945 11,120,793 11,631,792 510,999
Revenue from use of money and property 101,677 101,677 46,890 (54,787)
Miscellaneous revenue:
Recovered costs 371,104 381,890 359,732 (22,158)
Miscellaneous 415,753 1,315,085 415,545 (899,510)
Recoveries and rebates 1,300 1,300 720 580
Total miscellaneous revenue 788,157 1,698,245 715,997 (922,248)
Total revenue from local sources 11,939,779 12,920,715 12,454,679 (466,036}
Intergovernmental:
Revenue from the Commonwealth:
Division of Litter Control 17,000 17,000 31,027 14,027
Social services 4,092,225 4,225,639 2,304,070 (1,921,569)
Mental health and retardation 4,858,822 5,562,555 5240413 (322,142)
Virginia department of corrections 1,972,836 1,972,489 1,967,557 (4,932)
Commonwealth's attorney 395,813 249,192 270,916 21,724
Miscellaneous state grants 383,613 493415 303,594 189,821
Total revenue from the Commonwealth 11,720,309 12,520,290 10,117,577 (2,402,713)
Revenue from the Federal Government:
Jobs training partership act 1,004,251 1,978,296 1,400,228 (578,068) .
Community development block grants - 1,907,000 1,765,792 (141,208)
Public safety 198,725 565,185 497,158 (68,027)
Mental health and retardation 1,918,077 2,217,404 2,243,461 26,057
Miscellaneous federal grants 20,000 445,260 787,113 341,853
Total revenue from the Federal Government 3,141,053 7,113,145 6,693,752 (419,393)
Total intergovernmental 14,861,362 19,633,435 16,811,329 (2.822,106)
Total Special Revenue Fund $ 26,801,141 $ 32,554,150 $ 29,266,008 $ (3.288.142)
Debt Service Fund:
Revenue from local sources:
Miscellaneous S - $ - 3 40,463 $ 40,463
Total revenue from local sources - - 40,463 40,463
Grand Total Revenues - Primary Government $ 469,756,341 $ 477,119,440 $ 488,743,684 $ 11,624,244
Component Unit - School Board:
Operating Fund:
Revenue from local sources:
Permits, privilege fees and regulatory licenses:
High school parking fees S 25000 % 25,000 $ 21,536 $ (3.464)
Facilities rental 400,000 400,000 368,395 (31,605)
Total permits, privilege fees and regulatory licenses 425,000 425,000 389,931 (35,069)
continued
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Variance
Favorable
ll-‘-gg, Major and Minor Revenue Sources Original Revised Actual (Unfavorable)
Componeat Unit - School Board: o
Operating Fund, continued
Charges for services:
School fees and tuitions S 145000 $ 145,000 $ 127,506 $ % 17.494)
Total charges for services 145,000 145,000 27, 17,494)
Recovered cost:
Sale of vehicles, textbooks and equipment 93,000 93,000 85,036 (7.964)
Lost/damaged textbook payments 35,000 35,000 30,301 (4,699)
Payment for services - parks and recreation 165,000 165,000 158,225 (6,775)
Recovered cost - student activities 145,000 145,000 115,959 (29,041)
Total recovered cost 438, 438,000 389,521 (48,479)
Total revenue from local sources 1,008,000 1,008,000 906,958 (101,042)
Intergovernmental:
Revenue from the Commonwealth:
Categorical aid:
Talented and gified program 731,400 731,400 729,381 (2,019)
English as a second language 196,101 196,101 266,837 70,736
General appropriation - basic aid 62,392,400 62,392,400 63,131,234 738,834
Foster child reimbursement 152,000 152,000 103,033 (48,967)
Textbooks 1,244,400 1,244,400 1,240,960 (3,440)
Social security reimbursement 3,743,800 3,743,800 3,685,671 (58,129)
Retirement reimbursement 2,736,000 2,736,000 1,976,470 (759,530)
State lottery proceeds 3,840,499 5,070,005 5,187,876 117,871
Remedial education 873,600 873,600 850,944 (22,656)
Share of State sales tax - schools 30,625,300 30,625,300 28,683,101 (1,942,199)
SOQ - basic special education 7,131,100 7,131,100 7,111,461 (19,639)
Special education - homebound 157,000 157,000 138,908 (18,092)
Vocational education - local administrative and supervisory 413,400 413,400 363,007 (50,393)
Vocational education - equipment 55,000 55,000 23,507 (31,493)
Vocational education - SOQ occupational 1,076,800 1,076,800 1,117,823 41,023
Handicapped - foster home 375,000 375,000 343,711 (31,289)
Salary incentive K-3 1,488,000 1,488,000 1,348,324 (139,676)
RO.T.C. 245,000 245,000 226,458 (18,542)
Adult basic aid 40,300 40,300 53,728 13,428
Maintenance reserve 304,700 304,700 303,909 (791)
At risk 739,100 739,100 735,813 (3.287)
Other categorical aid 899,000 899,000 12,822 886,178
Total categorical aid 119,459,900 120,689,406 117,634,978 (3,054,428)
Total revenue from the Commonwealth 119,459,900 120,689,406 117,634,978 (3,054,428)
Revenue from the Federal Government:
Adult education - Federal funds 125,000 125,000 260,621 135,621
Total revenue from the Federal Government 125,000 125,000 260,621 135,621
Total intergovernmental 119,584,900 120,814,406 117,895,599 (2,918,807)
Total Component Unit - Operating Fund $ 120,592.900 $ 121822406  § 118,802,557 § (3.019,849)
Special Revenue Fund:
Revenue from local sources:
Charges for services:
Cafeteria receipts $  8,093.483 $ 8093483 S 8,041,166 _S____g%%_g}
Total charges for services 3,093 483 93, D41, .
Miscellaneous:
Miscellaneous 195,997 806,977 369,959 (437,018)
Recoveries and rebates 253,000 253,000 242219 (10,781)
Total miscellaneous 448,997 1,059,977 612,178 (447,799)

Total revenue from local sources

continued
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EXHIBIT OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL PageSof §
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002
_
Variance
Favorable
Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Sources Original Revised Actusl (Unfavorable)
Component Unit - School Board:
Special Revenue Fuad, continued
Intergovernmental:
Revenue from the Commonwealth:
Juvenile detention center s 636,867 H 636,867 s 624,812 $ (12,055)
Technology 1,714,000 1,771,695 1,642,816 (128,879)
Summer school 1,307,494 1,307,494 759,280 (548,214)
General adult education 938,300 938,300 693,103 (245,197)
Electronic classroom 456,221 425,360 427,834 2,474
Project "YES" 311,703 301,219 301,217 @)
State SOL 1,201,079 1,391,382 1,813,076 421,694
School lunch grant 166,522 166,522 161,751 4,771)
Other state educational grants 1,058,755 1,644,457 2,044,928 400,471
Total revenue from the Commonwealth 7,790,941 8,583,296 8.468.817 (113.479)
Revenue from the Federal Government:
Title 1 2,048,414 2,613,906 2,074,896 (539,010)
Title VI-B 3,733,693 3,733,693 3,911,434 177,741
Vocational federal act 1,108,720 1,345,100 1,043,776 (301,324)
Head stant 947,991 1,335,251 1,200,183 (135,068)
Pre-school 191,320 218,321 209,413 (8,908)
Title [ 135,000 178,303 112,945 (65,358)
School lunch program 2,679,312 2,679,312 2,419,382 (259,930)
School breakfast program 406,845 406,845 350,827 (56,018)
Other Federal educational grants 5,474,875 2,812,104 2,428,975 (383,129)
Total revenue from the Federal Government 16,726,170 15,322,835 13,751,831 (1,571,004)
Total intergovernmental 24,517,111 23,906,131 22,220,648 (1,685,483)
Total Component Unit - Special Revenue Fund $ 33,059,591 $ 33,059,591 S 30.873.992 $ (2,185,599)
Grand Total Revenues - Component Unit - School Board  § 153,652,491 $ 154,881,997 $ 149,676,549 $ (5,205,448)
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EXHIBIT OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL Page 1 of 4
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002
Variance
Favorable
Function, Activity, Element Original Revised Actual _(Unfavorable)
Primary Goverament:
General Fund:
General government administration:
Legislative:
Board of supervisors s 868822 § 890,495 875,265 S 15230
Total legislative §68.822 890,495 875,265 15,230
General and financial administration:
County manager 2,236,790 2,427,228 2,215,360 211,868
County attorney 1,354,938 1,543,832 1,525,958 17,874
Human resources 5,034,564 5,269,519 3,137,100 2,132,419
Finance 9,540,113 9,914,469 9,139,391 775,078
General services 16,139,593 17,241,491 16,803,250 438241
Internal audit 268,772 268,772 254,820 13,952
Real property agent 438411 438411 436,102 2,309
Information technology 11,676,795 12,287,215 11,508,119 779,096
Total general and financial administration 46,689,976 49,390,937 45,020,100 4,370,837
Board of elections:
Election commission 930,441 1,059,248 850,069 209,179
Total board of elections 930,441 1,059,248 850,069 200,179
Total general government administration 48,489,239 51,340,680 46,745,434 4,595,246
Judicial administration:
Courts:
Circuit Court 2,207,001 2,846,728 2,148,766 697,962
General District Court 154,356 54,379 53,600 779
Juvenile and Domestic Relations Court 67,631 70,631 60,035 10,596
Total Courts 2428988 2,971,738 2,262,401 709,337
Commonwealth's Attorney:
Commonwealth's attormney 2,630,834 2,660,704 2,637,425 23,279
Total commonwealth's attoney 2,630,834 2,660,704 2,637,425 23,279
Total judicial administration 5,059,822 5,632,442 4,899,826 732,616
Public safety:
Law enforcement:
Police department 44,036,873 45,178,908 42,427,106 2,751,802
Total law enforcement 44,036,873 45,178,908 42,427,106 2,751,802
Fire services:
Fire department 28,381,021 30,768,317 30,286,804 481,513
Total fire services 28,381,021 30,768,317 30,286,804 481,513
Correction and detention:
ShenfT 22,156,722 22,260,135 22,145,685 114,450
Juvenile and Domestic Relations District Court 3,444,217 3,456,730 3,374,584 82,146
Total correction and detention 25,600,939 25,716,865 25,520,269 196,596
Inspections:
Building 3,173,762 3,229,799 2,934.286 295,513
Total inspections 3,173,762 3,229,799 2,934,286 295,513
Other protection:
Office of emergency scrvices 240,303 624,424 385,077 239,347
Animal protection 853,594 866,404 819,307 47,097
Building security 1,003,264 1,048477 1,007,731 40,746
Total other protection 2,097,161 2,539,305 2212115 327,190
Total public safety 103,289,756 107,433,194 103,380,580 4,052,614
Public works:
Maintenance of highways and streets:
General administration 879,802 938,302 909,999 28,303
Mass transit 2,220,537 2,598,667 2,519,371 79,296
Design 1,842,258 1,966,258 1,756,168 210,090
Construction and maintenance 12,519,582 18,831,423 16,184,191 2,647,232
Miscellaneous 1,017,184 1,030,542 2,497,103 1,466,561
Total maintenance of highways and streets 21,028,317 28,546,941 26,717,690 1,829,251
continued
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EXHIBIT OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL Page 2 of 4
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2002
Variance
Favorable
Function, Activity, Element Original Revised Actual {Unfavorable)
ry Governmeat:
General Fund, contiaued:
Sanitation and waste removal:
Leaf collection $ 2315185 $ 2,240,259 $ 2240259 S -
Total sanitation and waste removal 2,315,185 2,240,259 2,240,259 -
Total public works 23,343,502 30,787,200 28,957,949 1,829,251
Health and social services:
Health:
Public health department 1,326,711 1,374,550 1,355,227 19,323
Total health 1,326,711 1,374,550 1,355,227 19,323
Social services:
Fuel assistance 34,454 34,454 21,522 12,932
Service/Eligibility Administration 6,752,901 6,839,220 6,570,165 269,055
Welfare programs 1,154,897 1,381,850 1,194,690 187,160
Public assistance 7,085,014 8,068,895 7,454,932 613,963
Total social services 15,027,266 16,324,419 15,241,309 1,083,110
Total health and social services 16,353,977 17,698,969 16,596,536 1,102,433
Parks, recreation and cultural:
Parks and recreation:
Department of recreation and parks 10,411,177 10,538,662 10,307,494 231,168
Sandston Community House 14,000 14,000 12,776 1,224
Total parks and recreation 10,425,177 10,552,662 10,320,270 232,392
Library:
Library administration 8,266,550 8,330,066 8,101,807 228,259
Branch library 227,725 229,187 227,034 2,153
Total library 8,494 275 8,559,253 §328,841 230,412
Total parks, recreation and cultural 18,919,452 19,111,915 18,649,111 462,804
Community development:
Planning and community development:
Economic development 10,366,959 11,212,509 10,803,549 408,960
Planning and rezoning 2,782,509 2,814,264 2,704,673 109,591
Total planning and community development 13,149,468 14,026,773 13,508,222 518,551
Cooperative extension program:
Agriculture 339,445 367,903 305,230 62,673
Total cooperative extension program 339,445 367,903 305,230 62,673
Total community development 13,488913 14,394,676 13,813,452 581,224
Miscellaneous:
Cooperative projects 8.060,427 6.331,882 5,882,900 448,982
Total miscellaneous 8.060,427 6,331,882 5,882,900 448,982
Debt service:
Capital lease principal 615,787 615,787 615,787 -
Capital lease interest 183.490 183,490 183,490 -
Total debt service 799,277 799,277 799,277 -
Total General Fund $ 237.804,365 $ 253,530,235 $ 239,725,065 $ 13,805,170
continued
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GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
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Variance
Favorable
Function, A Element Original Revised Actual (Unfavorable)
rimary Governmeat:
Special Reveaue Fund:
General government administration:
General and financial administration:
Jobs Training Partnership Act $ 1685538 $ 3340,195 § 1626481 s 1,713,714
Total general government administration 1,685,538 3,340,195 1,626,481 1,713,714
Judicial administration:
Commonwealth's attomey:
Commonwezlth's attomey 461,413 719,324 584,730 134,594
Total judicial administration 141 719,324 584,730 134,594
Public safety:
Law enforcement:
Traffic accident investigation 1,039,085 1,599,178 1,631,961 32,783
Total law enforcement 1,039,085 1,599,178 1,631,961 (32,783)
Fire - 253,479 81,520 171,959
Correction and detention:
Community Diversion Program 938,989 960,509 934,941 25,568
Juvenile and Domestic Relations District Court 1,338,545 1 631.216 1,489,101 142,115
Total correction and detention 2,277,534 25917 2,591,725 _ 5454&2 167,683
Total public safety 3316,619 444382 3,137,523 Rﬁ 9
Public works:
General administration 100,000 982,416 28,722 953,694
Maintenance of highways and streets 65,600 65,600 58,198 7,402
Solid waste collection and disposal 7415616 7,742,535 6,236,594 1,505,941
Total public works 7,581,216 8,790,551 6,323,514 2,467,037
Health and social services:
Social services 6,636,402 9,531,434 4,438,634 5,092,800
Mental health and mental retardation:
Related services 6,547,875 7,147,458 6,514,086 633,372
Mental Health 5,364,293 6,019,818 5,698,893 320,925
Mental retardation 6,246,938 6,608,723 6,347,880 260,843
Substance abuse 2,318,661 2,406,586 2,167,049 239,537
Sheltered employment 287,200 332,762 250,204 82,558
Total mental heaith and mental retardation 20,764,967 22,515,347 20,978,112 1.537.235
Total health and social services 27,401,369 32,046,781 25,416,746 6,630,035
Parks, recreation and cuiture:
Library grants - 6,779 5,000 1,779
Parks and recreation grants - 51,753 218,177 166,424)
Total parks, recreation and culture - 58,532 223,177 (164,645)
Community development:
Planning and community development - 2,783,549 1,766,578 1,016,971
Economic development 205,000 236,256 200,000 36,256
Total community development 205,000 3.019.805 1,966.578 1,053.227
Total Special Revenue Fund 40,651,155 52,419,570 40,278,749 10,627,478
Debt Service Fund:
Principal retirement $ 19630000 § 19630000 $ 19,630,000 § -
Interest 14,031,688 14,031,688 12,961,088 1,070,600
Other 50,000 50,000 13,805 36,195
Total Debt Service Fund $ 33711688 § 33711688 § 32,604,893 $ 1106795
Grand Total Expenditures - Primary Government $ 312,167,208 § 339,661,493 $ 312,608,707 § 25,539,443

continued
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Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable

Original Revised Actual
Operating Fund:
Education:
Administration of schools:
Administration $ 20,771,661 $ 23383927 $ 21,775984 § 1,607,943
Instructional 213,181,521 211,083,012 208,983,988 2,099,024
Educational programs and services 3,704,543 3,916,396 3,848,974 67,422
Transportation 16,277,665 16,165,783 15,307,122 858,661
Operation and maintenance 28,849,688 30,253,732 28,812,552 1,441,180
Total administration of schools 282,785,078 284,802,830 278,728,620 6,074,230
Debt Service:
Principal retirement 3,396,044 3,396,044 3,396,044 -
Interest 114,138 114,138 114,138 -
Total debt service 3,510,182 3510,182 3,510,182 -
Total education 286,295,260 288,313,032 282,238,802 6,074,230
Total Component Unit - Operating Fund S 286,295,260 S 288,313,032 § 282238802 § 6,074,230
Special Revenue Fund:
Education:
Instruction $ 19890623 § 25945544 § 17575547 S 8369,997
Other educational programs 1,569,806 2,346,073 2,082,223 263,850
Total education 21,460,429 8,291,617 19,657,770 8,633,847
School food service 11,842,742 11,886,517 11,244,894 641,623
Total Componeat Unit - Special Revenue Fund $ 33,303,171 $ 40,178,134  § 30902664 § 9275470
Debt Service Fund:
Principal retirement s 356,792 § 356,792 § 356,792 s -
Interest 72,444 72,444 72,444 -
Total Debt Service Fund S 429236  § 429,236 $ 429,236 § -
Grand Total Expenditures - Component Unit - School Board $ 320,027,667 $ 328,920,402 § 313,570,702 $ 15,349,700
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APPENDIX B
FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION

Board of Supervisors
of Henrico County
Richmond, Virginia

Lady and Gentlemen:

HENRICO COUNTY, VIRGINIA,
GENERAL OBLIGATION PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT AND
GENERAL OBLIGATION PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2003
$107,545,000

At your request we have examined into the validity of $107,545,000 General Obligation Public
Improvement and General Obligation Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2003 (the “Bonds™) of Henrico
County, Virginia (the “County™). The Bonds are dated January 15, 2003, are in fully registered form, payable in
semi annual installments on January 15 and July 15 in each of the years 2004 through 2013, both inclusive, and in
annual installments on January 15 in each of the years 2014 through 2023, both inclusive, and in such amounts as set
forth below, and bear interest from their date at the rates per annum set forth below payable on July 15, 2003, and
semiannually on each January 15 and July 15 thereafter:

Principal Interest Principal Interest
Date Amount Rate Date Amount Rate

January 15, 2004 $8,245,000 3.000% July 15, 2011 $1,660,000 3.500%
July 15, 2004 1,075,000 2.000 January 15, 2012 2,510,000 5.000
January 15, 2005 8,335,000 3.000 July 15, 2012 1,635,000 3.500
July 15, 2005 1,875,000 2.000 January 15, 2013 2,510,000 5.000
January 15, 2006 9,250,000 4.500 July 15, 2013 1,610,000 3.750
July 15, 2006 1,835,000 2.500 January 15, 2014 2,510,000 4.000
January 15, 2007 7,985,000 2.625 January 15, 2015 2,510,000 4.000
July 15, 2007 1,795,000 2.500 January 15, 2016 2,510,000 4.000
January 15, 2008 7,765,000 5.000 January 15, 2017 2,510,000 4.250
July 15, 2008 1,775,000 2.500 January 15, 2018 2,510,000 4.250
January 15, 2009 7,675,000 5.000 January 15, 2019 2,510,000 4.375
July 15, 2009 1,720,000 3.000 January 15, 2020 2,510,000 4.500
January 15, 2010 5,790,000 5.000 January 15, 2021 2,510,000 4.500
July 15, 2010 1,690,000 3.250 January 15, 2022 2,510,000 4.700
January 15, 2011 5,730,000 5.000 January 15, 2023 2,510,000 4.750

The Bonds are subject to redemption upon the terms and at the prices set forth therein.

The Bonds recite that they are issued by the County in compliance with and pursuant to the
Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including the Public Finance Act of 1991, Chapter 26 of
Title 15.2, Code of Virginia 1950, as amended, certain of the Bonds being approved by the voters of the County at
an election held on November 7, 2000 and pursuant to resolutions duly adopted by the Board of Supervisors of the
County to provide funds for school capital projects, library facilities, fire stations, recreation and parks facilities
improvements and various road projects in the County and to provide for the refunding of certain outstanding public
improvement bonds and school bonds of the County.

We have examined (i) the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia; (ii) certified
copies and proceedings of the Board of Supervisors of the County with respect to the issuance, sale and delivery of
the Bonds; (iii) certified copies of election proceedings, (iv) such other papers, instruments, documents and
proceedings as we have deemed necessary or advisable; and (v) a specimen Bond.
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In our opinion, the Bonds have been duly authorized and issued in accordance with the
Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia and constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the
County, and the County has power and is obligated to levy ad valorem taxes upon all property subject to taxation by
the County, without limitation as to rate or amount, sufficient to provide for the payment of the principal of and
interest on the Bonds as the same respectively become due and payable.

It is to be understood that the rights of the holders of the Bonds and the enforceability thereof may
be subject to judicial discretion, to the exercise of the sovereign police powers of the Commonwealth of Virginia
and to valid bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws affecting the relief of debtors.

It is also our opinion that, under existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing
compliance with certain covenants referred to below, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for
Federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code™), and such interest is not treated as a preference item in calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on
individuals and corporations under the Code; such interest, however, is included in the adjusted current earnings of
certain corporations for purposes of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations. In
rendering this opinion, we have relied on certain representations, certifications of fact, and statements of reasonable
expectations made by the County and others in connection with the Bonds, and we have assumed compliance by the
County with certain ongoing covenants to comply with applicable requirements of the Code to assure the exclusion
of interest on the Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code.

It is also our opinion that under the existing laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, such interest
is not includable in computing the Virginia income tax.

We express no opinion regarding any other Federal or state tax consequences with respect to the
Bonds. We have rendered this opinion under existing statutes and court decisions as of the issue date, and assume no
obligation to update this opinion after the issue date to reflect any future action, fact or circumstance, or change in
law or interpretation, or otherwise. We express no opinion on the effect of any action taken in reliance upon an
opinion of other counsel on the exclusion from gross income for Federal income tax purposes of interest on the
Bonds.

We undertake no responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or faimess of any official statement
or other offering materials relating to the Bonds and express herein no opinion relating thereto.

Very truly yours,



APPENDIX C

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the “Certificate™) dated as of February 6, 2003 is executed and
delivered in connection with the issuance of $107,545,000 principal amount of General Obligation Public
Improvement and General Obligation Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2003 (the “Bonds”™) of Henrico
County, Virginia (the “County”) and pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board of Supervisors of the
County on November 26, 2002 (the “Resolution™). Capitalized terms used in this Certificate shall have the
Tespective meanings specified above or in Article I hereof. Pursuant to the Resolution, the County agrees as
follows:

ARTICLE
Definitions

Section 1.1. Definitions. The following terms used in this Certificate shall have the following
respective meanings:

@))] “Annual Financial Information” means, collectively, (i) the financial information and
operating data with respect to the County for each fiscal year included in the County’s Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report and included in certain tables in the Official Statement relating to General Fund
Revenues, Tax Base Data, Debt Administration and Debt Ratios and Appendix A to the Official Statement,
and (ii) information regarding amendments to this Certificate required pursuant to Sections 4.2(c) and (d)
of this Certificate. Annual Financial Information shall include Audited Financial Statements, if available,
or Unaudited Financial Statements.

The descriptions contained in clause (i) above of financial information and operating data
constituting Annual Financial Information are of general categories of financial information and operating
data. Where such descriptions include information that no longer can be generated because the operations
to which it related have been materially changed or discontinued, a statement to that effect shall be
provided in lieu of such information.

2 “Audited Financial Statements” means the annual financial statements, if any, of the
County, audited by such auditor as shall then be required or permitted by State law or the Resolution.
Audited Financial Statements shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP for governmental units as
prescribed by GASB; provided, however, that the County may from time to time, if required by federal or
State legal requirements, modify the basis upon which its financial statements are prepared. Notice of any
such modification shall be provided to each NRMSIR and the SID, and shall include a reference to the
specific federal or State law or regulation describing such accounting basis.

3) “Counsel” means Hawkins, Delafield & Wood or other nationally recognized bond
counsel or counsel expert in federal securities laws, in each case acceptable to the County.

4) “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles for governmental units as
prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.

(5) “Material Event” means any of the following events with respect to the Bonds, whether
relating to the County or otherwise, if material:

(1)  principal and interest payment delinquencies;
(i) non-payment related defaults;
(ii1)  unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
(iv)  unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
(v)  substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
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(vi)  adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the security;
(vii) modifications to rights of securityholders;
(viii)  bond calls;
(ix)  defeasances;
(x) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities;
and
(xi) rating changes.

(6) “Material Event Notice” means notice of a Material Event.

€)) “MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established pursuant to the
provisions of Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

(8) “NRMSIR” means, at any time, a then-existing nationally recognized municipal
securities information repository, as recognized from time to time by the SEC for the purposes referred to
in the Rule. The NRMSIRs as of the date of this Certificate are Bloomberg Municipal Repository, DPC
Data Inc., FT Interactive Data and Standard & Poor’s J.J. Kenny Repository. Filing information relating to
such NRMSIRs is set forth in Exhibit A hereto.

9 “Official Statement” means the “final official statement” as defined in paragraph (f)(3) of
the Rule.

(10) “Rule” means Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the SEC under the Securities and Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (17 CFR Part 240, §240.15¢c2-12), as in effect on the date of this Certificate,
including any official interpretations thereof issued either before or after the effective date of this
Certificate which are applicable to this Certificate.

an “SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

(12) “SID” means, at any time, a then-existing state information depository, if any, as
operated or designated as such by or on behalf of the State for the purposes referred to in the Rule. As of
the date of this Certificate, there is no SID.

(13 “State” means the Commonwealth of Virginia.

(14) “Unaudited Financial Statements” means the same as Audited Financial Statements,
except the same shall not have been audited.

(15) “Underwriters” means Salomon Smith Barney, Inc.
ARTICLE II

The Undertaking

Section 2.1. Purpose. This Certificate shall constitute a written undertaking for the benefit of the

holders of the Bonds, and is being executed and delivered solely to assist the Underwriters in complying with
subsection (b)(5) of the Rule.

Section 2.2. Annual Financial Information.

(a) The County shall provide Annual Financial Information for the County with respect to

each fiscal year of the County, commencing with fiscal year beginning July 1, 2002, by no later than six months
after the end of the respective fiscal year, to each NRMSIR and the SID.
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(b) The County shall provide, in a timely manner, notice of any failure of the County to
provide the Annual Financial Information by the date specified in subsection (a) above to (i) either the MSRB or
each NRMSIR, and (ii) the SID.

Section 2.3. Audited Financial Statements. If not provided as part of Annual Financial
Information by the dates required by Section 2.2(a) hereof, the County shall provide Audited Financial Statements,
when and if available, to each NRMSIR and the SID.

Section 2.4. Notices of Material Events.

(a) If a Material Event occurs, the County shall provide, in a timely manner, a Material Event
Notice to (i) either the MSRB or each NRMSIR and (ii) the SID.

(b) Upon any legal defeasance of the Bonds, the County shall provide notice of such defeasance to
(1) each NRMSIR or the MSRB and (ii) the SID, which notice shall state whether the Bonds to be defeased have
been defeased to maturity or to redemption and the timing of such maturity or redemption.

Section 2.5. Additional Disclosure Obligations. The County acknowledges and understands that
other state and federal laws, including but not limited to the Securities Act of 1933 and SEC Rule 10b-5
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, may apply to the County, and that under some
circumstance compliance with this Certificate, without additional disclosures or other action, may not fully
discharge all duties and obligations of the County under such laws.

Section 2.6. Additional Information. Nothing in this Certificate shall be deemed to prevent the
County from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Certificate or
any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Financial Information or
Material Event Notice, in addition to that which is required by this Certificate. If the County chooses to include any
information in any Annual Financial Information or Material Event Notice in addition to that which is specifically
required by this Certificate, the County shall have no obligation under this Certificate to update such information or
include it in any future Annual Financial Information or Material Event Notice.

Section 2.7. No Previous Non-Compliance. The County represents that since July 3, 1995, it has
not failed to comply in any material respect with any previous undertaking in a written contract or agreement
specified in paragraph (b)(5)(i) of the Rule.

ARTICLE I

Operating Rules

Section 3.1. Reference to Other Documents. It shall be sufficient for purposes of Section 2.2
hereof if the County provides Annual Financial Information by specific reference to documents (i) either
(1) provided to each NRMSIR existing at the time of such reference and the SID, or (2) filed with the SEC, or (i) if
such a document is an Official Statement, available from the MSRB.

Section 3.2. Submission of Information. Annual Financial Information may be provided in one
document or multiple documents, and at one time or in part from time to time.

Section 3.3. Material Event Notices. Each Material Event Notice shall be so captioned and shall
prominently state the title, date and CUSIP numbers of the Bonds.

Section 3.4. Transmission of Information and Notices. Unless otherwise required by law and, in
the County’s sole determination, subject to technical and economic feasibility, the County shall employ such
methods of information and notice transmission as shall be requested or recommended by the herein-designated
recipients of the County’s information and notices.



ARTICLE IV

Termination, Amendment and Enforcement

Section 4.1. Termination.

(a) The County’s obligations under this Certificate shall terminate upon legal defeasance,
prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds.

(b) This Certificate or any provision hereof, shall be null and void in the event that the
County (1) receives an opinion of Counsel, addressed to the County, to the effect that those portions of the Rule
which require the provisions of this Certificate or any of such provisions, do not or no longer apply to the Bonds,
whether because such portions of the Rule are invalid, have been repealed, or otherwise, as shall be specified in such
opinion, and (2) delivers copies of such opinion to each NRMSIR and the SID.

Section 4.2. Amendment.

(a) This Certificate may be amended, by written certificate of the Director of Finance,
without the consent of the holders of the Bonds if all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) such amendment
is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal (including regulatory)
requirements, a change in law (including rules or regulations) or in interpretations thereof, or a change in the
identity, nature or status of the County or the type of business conducted thereby, (2) this Certificate as so amended
would have complied with the requirements of the Rule as of the date of this Certificate, after taking into account
any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances, (3) the County shall have
received an opinion of Counsel addressed to the County, to the same effect as set forth in clause (2) above and
further to the effect that the amendment does not materially impair the interests of the holders of the Bonds and (4)
the County delivers copies of such opinion and amendment to each NRMSIR and the SID.

(b) In addition to subsection (a) above, this Certificate may be amended and any provision of
this Certificate may be waived, without the consent of the holders of the Bonds, if all of the following conditions are
satisfied: (1) an amendment to the Rule is adopted, or a new or modified official interpretation of the Rule is issued,
after the effective date hereof which is applicable to this Certificate; (2) the County shall have recetved an opinion of
Counsel to the effect that performance by the County under this Certificate as so amended or giving effect to such
waiver, as the case may be, will not result in a violation of the Rule; and (3) the County shall have delivered copies
of such opinion and amendment to each NRMSIR and the SID.

(©) To the extent any amendment to this Certificate results in a change in the types of
financial information or operating data provided pursuant to this Certificate, the first Annual Financial Information
provided thereafter shall include a narrative explanation of the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the
change.

(d If an amendment is made to the accounting principles to be followed in preparing
financial statements, the Annual Financial Information for the year in which the change is made shall present a
comparison between the financial statements or information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles
and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles. Such comparison shall include a qualitative
and, to the extent reasonably feasible, quantitative discussion of the differences in the accounting principles and the
impact of the change in the accounting principles on the presentation of the financial information. Notice of any
such amendment shall be provided by the County to (i) either the MSRB or each NRMSIR and (ii) the SID.

Section 4.3. Benefit; Third-Party Beneficiaries; Enforcement.

(a) The provisions of this Certificate shall constitute a contract with and inure solely to the
benefit of the holders from time to time of the Bonds. Beneficial owners of Bonds shall be third-party beneficiaries
of this Certificate.
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(b) Except as provided in this subparagraph (b), the provisions of this Certificate shall create
no rights in any person or entity. The obligations of the County to comply with the provisions of this Certificate
shall be enforceable by the holders of the Bonds, including beneficial owners thereof. The Bond holders’ rights to
enforce the provisions of this Certificate shall be limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for specific
performance, to compel performance of the County’s obligations under this Certificate and the Resolution. In
consideration of the third-party beneficiary status of beneficial owners of Bonds pursuant to subsection (a) of this
Section, beneficial owners shall be deemed to be holders of Bonds for purposes of this subsection (b).

() Any failure by the County to perform in accordance with this Certificate shall not
constitute a default under the Resolution and any rights and remedies provided by the Resolution upon the
occurrence of a default shall not apply to any such failure.

(d) This Certificate shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the
State, and any suits and actions arising out of this Certificate shall be instituted and tried only in the Circuit Court of
Henrico County, Virginia or the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, Richmond
Division; provided, however, that to the extent this Certificate addresses matters of federal securities laws, including
the Rule, this Certificate shall be construed in accordance with such federal securities laws and official
interpretations thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto executed this Certificate this 6th day of February,
2003.

HENRICO COUNTY, VIRGINIA

By:

Director of Finance
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EXHIBIT A
to Continuing Disclosure Certificate

Filing information relating to the Nationally Recognized Municipal Securities Information Repositories approved by
the Securities and Exchange Commission (subject to change):

Bloomberg Municipal Repository FT Interactive Data

100 Business Park Drive Attention: NRMSIR

Skillman, New Jersey 08558 100 Williams Street

Telephone: (609) 279-3225 New York, New York 10038

Facsimile: (609) 279-5962 Telephone: (212) 771-6899

E-mail: Munis @Bloomberg.com Facsimile: (212) 771-7390 (secondary market information)
(212) 771-7391 (primary market information)

DPC Data Inc. E-mail: NRMSIR@FTID.com

One Executive Drive

Fort Lee, New Jersey 07024 Standard & Poor’s J.J. Kenny Repository

Telephone: (201) 346-0701 55 Water Street, 45™ Floor

Facsimile: (201) 947-0107 New York, New York 10041

E-mail: nrmsir@dpcdata.com Telephone: (212) 438-4595

Facsimile: (212) 438-3975
E-mail: nrmsir_repository @sandp.com
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APPENDIX D
BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM

The description that follows is based solely on information furnished by DTC.

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository
for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s
partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-
registered certificate for the Bonds will be issued for each maturity as set forth on the inside cover of this Official
Statement, each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New
York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code,
and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 2 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues,
corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments from over 85 countries that DTC’s participants
(“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade-settlement among Direct Participants
of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry
transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of
securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC, in turn, is owned by a number of Direct Participants
of DTC and Members of the National Securities Clearing Corporation, Government Securities Clearing Corporation,
MBS Clearing Corporation, and Emerging Markets Clearing Corporation (NSCC, GSCC, MBSCC, and EMCC, also
subsidiaries of DTCC), as well as the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange, LLC, and the
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect
Participants”). DTC has Standard & Poor’s highest rating: AAA. The DTC rules applicable to its Direct and
Indirect Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be
found at www.dtcc.com.

Purchases of the Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants,
which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each
Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial
Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however,
expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their
holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.
Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and
Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates
representing their ownership interests in the Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the
Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their
registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial
ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the
identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the
Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their
holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be
governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from
time to time.












